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Our Vision  
Creating healthier communities.  

Our Mission  
To support our community’s physical, mental and social wellbeing by:
• Providing safe, high quality and innovative services
• Building enduring partnerships; and
• Delivering customer service excellence.  

Our Values  

Integrity  
We will be open and honest and will do the right thing for the right 
reason.  

Innovation  
We will be an industry leader by breaking new ground and improving 
the way things are done. 

Collaboration  
We will actively work together in teams and partnerships.  

Accountability  
We will take personal responsibility for our decisions and actions.  

Respect  
We will value all people’s opinions and contributions.  

Empathy  
We will endeavour to understand other peoples’ feelings and perspectives.  

About This Report  
Western District Health Service (WDHS) follows the Victorian State 
Government Department of Treasury and Finance FRD30 guidelines 
for its Annual Report, as a public entity under Section 3 of the 
Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA).

This annual report outlines the operational and financial performance 
of Western District Health Service (WDHS) from 1 July 2018 to 30 
June 2019. The relevant ministers for the period were:
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WDHS is a leading rural and 
regional healthcare provider, 
recognised for delivering a range 
of quality services, Australian firsts 
and internationally recognised 
programs.

OVERVIEW

Hamilton:
 y Hamilton Base Hospital (HBH) - the location 

of a 75 bed acute hospital, allied health and 
education facilities.

 y The Birches - a 46 bed facility providing 
residential aged care, care for people with 
special needs and palliative care. 

 y The Grange Residential Care Service - 
providing 50 residential aged care beds.

 y Frances Hewett Community Centre (FHCC) - 
delivering a broad range of primary care and 
community based services.

 y National Centre for Farmer Health (NCFH) - 
established in 2008 in partnership with Deakin 
University to provide leadership to improve the 
health, wellbeing and safety of farmers, farm 
workers and their families, across Australia.

Coleraine / Merino: 
 y Provides acute, community and aged care 

services for the Coleraine and district 
community. 

 y Thomas Hodgetts Primary Care Centre 
accommodates the Coleraine / Casterton 
Medical Clinic, dental, child and maternal 
health and visiting allied health teams.

 y Wannon Hostel provides permanent and 
respite accommodation for 39 residents, 
offering care for the elderly and people with a 
disability. 

 y Valley View provides accommodation for 12 
residents and nursing care for the frail, elderly 
and people with a disability.

 y 25 independent living units

 y Merino Community Health Centre delivers 
primary nursing, district nursing, visiting 
podiatry, dietetics and diabetes education 
services to the Merino community.

Penshurst
 y Provides acute and community services for 

the Penshurst and district community.

 y Kolor Lodge offers permanent and respite 
accommodation for up to 10 residents.

 y Penshurst Nursing Home provides permanent 
accommodation for 19 residents. 

 y 10 independent living units in Penshurst and 
Dunkeld.

About WDHS
Hamilton Base Hospital & Benevolent 
Asylum established to provide care for 
people suffering from illness and accidents 
and for victims of personal tragedy and 
social distress

Amalgamation of Hamilton Base Hospital, 
Southern Grampians Community Health 
Services and Penshurst and District War 
Memorial Hospital to create WDHS

Aged Care redevelopment at Hamilton 
campus, including construction of the 
Birches Residential Care facility

Coleraine District Health Service 
amalgamates with WDHS

National Centre for Farmer Health 
established in partnership with Deakin 
University

Grange redevelopment works carried out, 
including construction of new wing

Coleraine and District Health Service $27 
million ‘one stop shop’ health precinct 
completed and Hamilton Base Hospital 
Rehabilitation Wing opened

Cancer & Dialysis Centre constructed to 
support local cancer & dialysis patients

Refurbishment of the Birches Aged Care 
Facility
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OUR REGION
Located in Victoria’s Western District, WDHS 
serves the Southern Grampians Shire, with a 
population of 16,510 and covering an area of 
6,652 square kilometres. Hamilton is the main 
retail centre, supported by nine surrounding 
townships of Balmoral, Branxholme, 

Byaduk, Cavendish, Coleraine, Dunkeld, 
Glenthompson, Penshurst and Tarrington. 

WDHS also serves 
the community 

of Merino in 
the Glenelg 
Shire.
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2018/19
Highlights 

Flu Vax Uptake
WDHS achieved staff 

vaccination rates among 
the highest in the State

Holi Festival
Hundreds of students 
attended the first ever 

WDHS Community 4 Youth 
Board 'Holi Festival'

NDIS Services
WDHS continued to grow 

its NDIS program, with 
100 participants accessing 
services across 11 areas

Walk in Her Shoes
WDHS partnered with SGSC 

and the Pocket Garden 
Committee to organise a 

'Walk in Her Shoes' event on 
White Ribbon Day

NCFH 10 Years
The National Centre for 

Farmer Health celebrated 
10 years of operations at its 

third conference

COPD Project
Safer Care Victoria funded a 
regional project to improve 

care for people suffering 
Chronic Obstructive 
Pulmonary Disease

#EndPJParalysis
We joined healthcare 

providers across the globe 
in delivering this initiative 

to get patients up, dressed 
and moving

Door Knock
A record appeal raised 

$90k for a 'Gorilla' Theatre 
steriliser and equipment for 

Coleraine and Penshurst 
campuses

GenR8 Change
GenR8 Change was the 
winner of a state-wide 
Supporting Healthy 
Populations award

Cancer and Dialysis
The $1.96 million, 

community funded Cancer 
and Dialysis Centre officially 

opened on November 1

Op Shop 80th
The Hospital Op Shop 

celebrated its 80th 
birthday, with a move to 

new premises

Solar Installation
1,900 solar panels were 
fitted at our campuses 
to reduce costs and 

improve sustainability

Cycling Without Age
A new trishaw program 
is providing aged care 

residents with opportunities 
to experience the joy of 

outings on a bicycle

Healthy Leg Club
WDHS is one of three 'Leg 
Clubs' in Victoria, offering 
weekly catch ups to assist 
clients to manage wounds 
and other leg conditions

Going 'GREEN'
Our Food Services team 
introduced a pioneering 
'GREEN' only Cafeteria 

menu - an Australian first

 R White Ribbon Guest Speakers Ella Lithgow, 
Police Inspector, Nick Finnegan and CE Rohan 
Fitzgerald.
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Our Year in Numbers
OUR CARE

WDHS cares for:

16,500 Southern 
Grampians / Glenelg residents

Across an area of 6,652 
square kilometres

The service manages:

89 acute and subacute beds

175 residential aged care beds,

35 independent living units

82 Home Care Packages    
(up 74% this year)

100 NDIS clients

OUR PERFORMANCE

7,417 inpatients treated

48,669 outpatient services 
delivered

7,926 Emergency 
Department presentations (7% 
increase on the previous year)

2,982 operating procedures

FINANCE
Total operating revenue

$76.635 million

Total operating expenses 

$76.571 million

Surplus

$64k
Total Equity 

$160.014 million

Inpatient activity (WIES) 

4.89% higher than 2017/18

OUR COMMUNITY

$508k community 
donations and fundraising

300 volunteers contributed 

21,616 hours to WDHS

250,000 km was 
travelled by volunteers 
transporting patients to 
medical appointments

STAFF

773 people (regions largest 
employer) 

7% of the Southern 
Grampians workforce

570.8 full time equivalent

 R Staff 'step out' to launch the Hamilton Healthy Leg Club initiative.
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Supporting people to be well for longer is a 
large par t of our philosophy and is reflected 
in many of the programs rolled out this year 
at WDHS. 

Renewal took shape in many forms, from 
the opening of new buildings, to changing 
models of care and working with state-wide 
par tners on disease prevention. 

We supported staff with the introduction 
of a new wellbeing program and secured 
funds for a new communications system. 
The business of healthcare continues to be 
challenging, but despite this, we generated 
an operating surplus of $64k and continued 
to deliver and expand vital health services 
for our community.

We take our environmental responsibility 
seriously and took steps to reduce our 
reliance on fossil fuels. 

Transforming Rural Health
With chronic disease and preventable 
hospitalisations continuing to rise, it is 
critical that we invest in programs that are 
likely to reduce chronic disease. This year 
we redesigned our cafeteria menu to meet 
the highest of healthy food standards and 
surveyed our staff to assist with monitoring 
and supporting them on the path to better 
health. We continued to invest in reducing 
youth obesity through GenR8 Change, 
which was the winner of the Supporting 
Healthy Populations category at the 2018 
Victorian Public Healthcare Awards.

We continued to broaden our horizons 
nationally and internationally by delivering 
health and lifestyle assessments in India 
and at field days throughout Australia. The 
NCFH were well placed to provide drought 
support initiatives through the Agriculture 
Victoria Drought Preparedness and 
Response Funding program.

Work star ted with Quit, Alfred Health and a 
number of par tners to develop a system-
wide approach to smoking cessation care, 
as a means of strengthening tobacco control 
effor ts in Victoria and across Australia.

WDHS was funded by Safer Care Victoria 
to develop a chronic obstructive pulmonary 
disease program, to improve the outcomes 
and experience for people living with the 
disease within a 60km radius of Hamilton.

The Cycling Without Age Program was 
introduced at the Grange, giving residents 
an opportunity to experience the joy of 
an outing on a bicycle. We established a 
Healthy Leg Club and since inception it 
has gone from strength to strength. The 
Club provides a platform for community 
treatment, health promotion and ongoing 
care for people of all age groups who are 
experiencing leg-related problems.

Our Community 4 Youth Board 
recommended we increase the mental 
health knowledge of young people, 
teachers, parents and community members’ 
and we entered into a par tnership with 
Youth Live 4 Life to deliver mental health 
first aid training to secondary school 
students across our region.

Enhancing People’s Lives
We’re proud of our reputation in our 
community. To achieve this standing, the 
entire clinical, support and medical team 
work tirelessly across all of our campuses 
to deliver high quality services close to 
home.  

This year in Aged Care, the Grange, Birches 
and Penshurst were all re-accredited. 
With the number of people living with 
dementia in Australia continuing to rise, 
we developed an action plan with our 
clinical teams to implement best practice 
cognitive impairment dementia and delirium 
strategies at WDHS.

A new Cancer Wellness and Exercise 
Program was established to provide quality 
information and education materials 
for those with cancer who are moving 
from active treatment to recovery and 
survivorship.

We encourage people with disabilities to live 
their own lifestyle and to support this aim 
we updated our Disability Inclusion Plan. 

Similarly our consumer par ticipation plan 
was also reviewed.

The End PJ Paralysis Project was 
implemented in acute services to get 
patients out of their pyjamas and out of 
bed, to speed recovery and help minimise 
the risks of prolonged immobility.  

This year we saw the number of 
presentations to our Emergency Depar tment 
reach a record high of 7,926. We recruited 
a new Nurse Unit Manager for ED and the 
Intensive Care Unit and increased nursing 
staff levels significantly.  

We continue to see high growth in the 
number of Home Care Packages being 
provided locally to older people who want 
to stay at home and expect this trend to 
continue into the future.  

A collaborative approach for the 
management and early detection of skin 
conditions including skin cancers was 
established between WDHS’s Men’s Nurse 
Practitioner and a specialist dermatologist.

Enriching our team
WDHS recognises its social responsibility 
to lead from the front by supporting 
innovative health and wellbeing ideas. We 
are delighted that our team is coming on 
board with many of these initiatives. 

We are now the first public hospital in 
Australia to provide Cafeteria food that 
meets the Victorian Government’s Healthy 
Choices Framework ‘green’ food guidelines. 
In the interests of taking a more scientific 
approach to staff health, roughly a quar ter 
of our staff par ticipated in a research 
project we are under taking with the help of 
Deakin University that we are hoping will 
show a measurable improvement in our 
staff health and wellbeing over time.

WDHS also joined forces with Health 
Services from the Barwon South West 
Region to form a collaborative Clinical 
Governance Regional Par tnership Model. 

The par tnership supports the delivery of 
safe care through greater involvement from 
clinicians in organisational and regional 
decision making.  

From the President 
& Chief Executive

 R CE Rohan Fitzgerald and Board Chair, Ian Whiting in the 
new Cancer and Dialysis Centre at WDHS

Creating healthier communities is an 
ambitious vision and we are continually 
striving to achieve this goal in all that we do.
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We trained over 500 staff to deliver 
customer service excellence and South 
West Region hospitals collaborated to roll 
out the Strengthening Hospital Responses 
to Family Violence program. 

Student par ticipation in CQUniversity’s 
Bachelor of Nursing continued to grow 
and we offered a Masters of Nursing to 
Graduate Nurses. The 7 Habits of Highly 
Effective People Leadership program was 
once again highly successful. 

An in-house Employee Assistance Program 
was introduced following an organisational 
consultation process and we were re-
accredited as a secondment site of University 
Hospital Geelong, to train medical registrars 
by the Royal Australian College of Physicians.

Investing in our Future
Work toward the redevelopment of the HBH 
Emergency, Intensive Care and Radiology 
Depar tments continued, with a business 
case developed in collaboration with the 
Depar tment of Health and Human Services.  

We are incredibly grateful to the local 
community for contributing the total 
contract sum of $1.9 million for the 
construction of the new Cancer and 
Dialysis Centre. The purpose built Centre 
has significantly improved the comfor t and 
physical environment for both our patients 
and staff.

The Birches redevelopment is nearing 
completion and features a unique Hamilton 
street-scape design and significant 
refurbishment of dining and living areas. We 
look forward to the opening later this year.

WDHS is leading a Barwon South West 
tender for a substantial upgrade of our IT 
infrastructure and we have also appointed 
a contractor to install a new swipe card 
system and security camera enhancement 
at Hamilton and Penshurst.

We are working to reduce our environmental 
footprint by installing solar systems and LED 
lighting across our campuses. 

The solar initiative is expected to generate 
savings of 20% each year and reduce our 
carbon emissions by 834 tonnes. New 
chillers were installed at HBH and The 
Birches and our hospital boilers were 
replaced by new energy efficient models. 

A new Nurse Call System was also 
commissioned and the café refurbished at 
Hamilton Hospital. 

The Birches Auxiliary set an ambitious 
target a few years ago to raise over $60k 
to purchase a new bus, and this year they 
achieved their goal. The Hospital Op Shop 
celebrated its 80th Bir thday and moved into 
new premises in Brown Street, Hamilton, 
where business has never been better.

Community Engagement
WDHS is well known for its work in the 
community and this year was no different. 
We hosted the inaugural Youth Holi Festival 
and the joint NCFH & Western Alliance 
Symposium. We continued to campaign 
against family violence and promoted 
equality for all at our International Women’s 
Day lunch. We also invited the community 
to attend forums to learn more about our 
programs.

The Health Service enjoys tremendous 
support from the many volunteers who 
work in almost every facet of our business. 
We also benefit from the fundraising 
activities of the many auxiliaries, Aged 
Care Trust and community groups who so 
generously give to equipment, infrastructure 
or program delivery at WDHS. We thank 
our community for the countless hours 
dedicated so freely and for generous 
donations that are directed to improving the 
quality of care we provide. 

Delivering the diverse range of services and 
programs at WDHS would not be possible 
without the substantial effor ts of a highly 
effective and professional team. 

We would like to thank each and every 
member of our support services, clinical 
and medical team for enabling the Health 
Service to achieve its vision of ‘creating 
healthier communities’.

WDHS sets a progressive agenda and has 
developed a reputation for introducing a 
number of Australian healthcare firsts. We 
appreciate the support of our community, 
as we put these programs into place. 
Our approach requires patience and an 
understanding that gains will be made over 
the longer term. We look forward in the 
coming years to repor ting our progress 
to improve our community’s health and 
wellbeing.

Ian Whiting 

Board President 

Rohan Fitzgerald 

Chief Executive 

Responsible Bodies Declaration 
In accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 1994, I am pleased to 
present the Report of Operations for the 
Western District Health Service for the year 
ending 30 June 2019. 

Ian Whiting 
Board President 
6 September 2019

From the President & Chief Executive

 R CE Rohan Fitzgerald and NCFH Director, Professor 
Susan Brumby visited India in January to carry out 
farmer health checks with Centurion University
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Financial Overview

2019

$000

2018

$000

2017

$000

2016

$000

2015

$000

Net operating result * 64 108 12 15 601

Capital and specific items

Capital purpose income 2,301 2,689 4,729 4,436 2,209

Specific income

Assets provided free of charge

Assets received free of charge

Expenditure for capital purpose (143) (224) (37) (103) (105)

Depreciation and amortisation (7,066) (6,668) (7,020) (6,951) (6,924)

Impairment of non-financial assets (5)

Finance costs (49) (20) (108) (44) (42)

Other (449) 91 (41) (3) (23)

Net result from transactions (5,342) (4,024) (2,470) (2,650) (4,284)

* The Net operating result is the result for which the Health Service is monitored against in its Statement of Priorities

Reconciliation between the Net result from transactions reported in the model to the Operating result as 
agreed in the Statement of Priorities

Our operating result in 2018/19 
was a $64k surplus, exceeding 
the expected 2018/19 Statement 
of Priorities outcome by $873k.

The Financial Statements have been prepared 
in accordance with Standing Direction 4.2 
of the Financial Management Act 1994, 
applicable Financial Reporting Directions, 
Australian Accounting Standards and 
Australian Accounting Interpretations and other 
mandatory professional reporting requirements 
for the year ended 30 June 2019.

The key financial performance measure 
monitored by the DHHS and WDHS is the 
'net result before capital and specific items', 
referred to as the operating result.

In 2018/19 the operating result was a surplus 
of $64k ($108k in 2018), which represents 
0.08% of operating revenue. Operating revenue 
increased by 5.18% compared to the prior 
year, while expenditure increased by 5.42% 
compared to 2017/18. This result exceeds the 
outcome the Board of Directors and Minister 
for Health signed off on in the 2018/19 
Statement of Priorities by $873k.

Complexity adjusted (WIES25) inpatient activity 
was 4.89% higher than the previous year. 
The Health Service WIES target for 2018/19 
increased by an additional 108 WIES (2%) and 
the Health Service achieved 100% of the overall 
target for the financial year. 

Residential aged care activity was consistent 
with the prior year and all other activity targets 
across the Health Service were achieved.

The net result for the year (a deficit of 
$5.342m) factors in capital purpose income 
$2.301m, finance costs $49k, depreciation 
charges of $7.066m, net gain on sale of non-
financial assets $138k, other loss from other 
economic flows $586k and share of other 
economic flows from joint operations $4k.

WDHS's total comprehensive result 
for 2018/19 is a $14m surplus, which 
consolidates the operating result, net result, 
land and building revaluations and changes 
to value of financial assets classified through 
other comprehensive income. This significant 
result is largely attributable to the Health 
Service realising an increase in the value of 
the organisation's land and building assets 
of $19.3m based on the Valuer-General 
revaluation undertaken. 

2019

$000

2018

$000

2017

$000

2016

$000

2015

$000

Operating Result 64 108 12 15 601

Total revenue 78,952 75,469 74,531 71,574 68,318

Total expenses (83,829) (79,645) (76,960) (74,221) (72,599)

Net result from transactions (4,877) (4,176) (2,429) (2,647) (4,261)

Total other economic flows (465) 152 (41) (3) (23)

Net result (5,342) (4,024) (2,470) (2,650) (4,284)

Total assets 195,833 175,844 167,861 169,361 167,842

Total liabilities (35,819) (29,815) (28,697) (27,698) (23,439)

Net assets / Total equity 160,014 146,029 139,164 141,663 144,403
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Acute/Sub-acute
•  Anaesthetics
• Bariatrics
•  Chemotherapy
•  Contracted Services - Pathology, 

Radiology and Sleep Clinic
•  Coronary Care
•  Day Procedure
• Dialysis
•  Ear, Nose and Throat
•  Emergency
•  Endocrinology
•  Endoscopy
•  General Medicine
•  General Surgery
•  Geriatric Evaluation Management
•  Gynaecology
•  Haemodialysis
•  High Dependency Care
•  Hospital in the Home
•  Infection Control
•  Intensive Care
•  Maxillofacial Surgery
•  Nephrology
•  Obstetrics
•  Oncology
•  Operating Suite
•  Ophthalmology
•  Oral Surgery
•  Orthopaedics
•  Paediatrics
•  Pharmacy
•  Preadmission Service
•  Psychiatry
•  Rehabilitation Medicine

• Sleep Clinic
•  Specialist Adult Medicine
•  Specialist Nursing
•  Stroke Medicine
•  Transition Care
•  Urology
•  Wound Care

Primary & Preventative 
Health
•  Audiology
•  Balance Clinic
•  Breast Cancer Support Group
•  Cancer Care Coordinator
•  Cancer Support Group
•  Cancer Support Services
•  Cardiac Rehabilitation
•  Cardiac Support Group
•  Carer’s Support Group
•  Chronic Disease Management 

Program
•  Chronic Pain Service
•  Complex Care
•  Continence Service
•  Counselling
•  Diabetes Education
•  Discharge Support Service
•  District Nursing Service
•  Domiciliary Midwifery
• Employee Assistance Program
•  Exercise Physiology
•  Family Planning
•  Hamilton Community Transport
• Healthy Leg Club
•  Hospital in the Home

•  Lymphoedema Management
•  Men’s Health
• NDIS
•  Nutrition and Dietetics
•  Occupational Therapy
•  Palliative Care
•  Physical Activity Programs
•  Physiotherapy
•  Podiatry
•  Short Term Support
•  Public Health Medicine
•  Rehabilitation in the Home
•  Respiratory Education
•  Respiratory Support Group
•  Sexual and Reproductive Health
•  Smoking Cessation
•  Social Support Group
•  Social Work
•  Speech Pathology
•  Stomal Therapy
•  Telehealth
•  Women’s Health
•  Workplace Health Programs
•  Youth Programs 

Aged Care
•  Dementia Specific Residential 

Aged Care
•  Geriatric Medicine
•  Home Care Packages
•  Leisure and Lifestyle
•  Women & Men’s Out & About 

Activities
•  Palliative Care
•  Private Respite Care
•  Psycho Geriatric Care

•  Residential Aged Care
•  Respite Care

National Centre for 
Farmer Health
•  AgriSafeTM

•  Health and Lifestyle Assessments
• www.farmerhealth.org.au
•  Research and Development
•  Sustainable Farm FamiliesTM

•  Education and Training

Administrative
•  Auxiliaries
•  Community Liaison
•  Finance
•  Health Information
•  Improvement and Innovation
• Education
•  Library
• Maintenance
• Meals on Wheels
•  Medical Administration
•  Occupational Health and Safety
•  People, Culture and Development
• Quality and Risk
•  Reception
•  Security
•  Sub Regional Corporate Services
• Support Services
•  Volunteer Program

Liquidity Position
During 2018/19 the Health Service generated 
positive cash flows from operations of $2.9m 
($3m in 2017/18), including $2.3m in capital 
purpose income of which $4.7m of capital 
funds was used to purchase property, plant 
and equipment. In total the Health Service's 
available cash increased by $19.8m to $32.5m 
at year end. The increase in available cash 
reserves is due to accounting reclassification 
of accommodation bond investments into cash.

The ratio of current assets to current liabilities 
(excluding patient trust funds) at the end of 
the year was 1.52:1 compared to 1.47:1 in the 
previous year. This remains considerably in 
excess of the 0.7 target ratio.

Asset Management
$4.7m was invested during the year in building 
works, plant, equipment and infrastructure 
upgrades, in accordance with the capital works 
budget adopted in September by the Board. 

Significant items included in the $4.7m 
investment were the completion of the Cancer 
and Dialysis Centre $1.9m, purchase and 
installation of three new steam boilers for 
Hamilton Base Hospital, totalling $559k, 
vehicle replacement program $361k, various 
asset purchases for the Coleraine & Penshurst 
Campuses totalling $40k and $1.83m for 
assets under construction including the Birches 
Redevelopment, solar panel project and nurse 
call system at Hamilton Base Hospital.

Community Support
The support of the community, as indicated by 
the outstanding $508k received from donations 
and bequests, allows WDHS to continue to 
invest in buildings, medical equipment and 
technology.

It is important to maintain the level of 
investment to provide a strong base for the 
Health Service to improve service delivery 
and efficiency and comply with increasingly 
rigorous service standards.

The Future
With sound governance in place WDHS is 
committed to managing resources effectively 
and efficiently by delivering services within 
allocated budget, ensuring value for money and 
achieving financial sustainability.

Services & Programs

Financial Overview / Services and Programs
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Service Performance at a Glance
8

INPATIENT STATISTICS (ACUTE PROGRAM)

Inpatients Treated 7,417 7,159 7,161 6,967 7,026

Average Complexity (DRG Weight) 0.75 0.77 0.74 0.75 0.74

Complexity adjusted inpatients (WIES 25)* 5,561 5,497 5,303 5,213 5,142

Inpatient Bed Days 18,677 17,803 17,773 18,201 18,758

Average Length of Stay ( days ) 2.52 2.49 2.48 2.61 2.67

HITH bed days 838 787 420 816 671

Nursing Home Type Bed Days 712 412 604 637 1,091

Operations 2,982 2,911 3,138 2,911 3,127

Births 130 172 162 193 191

Available Bed Days 30,058 28,389 27,877 27,954 27,654

Occupancy Rate 67.3% 66.9% 67.4% 70.3% 71.8%

Average Cost per inpatient $5,294 $5,226 $5,147 $4,909 $4,608

AGED CARE STATISTICS - (AGED PROGRAM)

High Care

Residents Accommodated 170 185 189 220 207

Resident Bed Days 44,968 45,557 50,297 52,790 51,021

Low Care

Residents Accommodated 28 23 24 24 29

Resident Bed Days 4,238 5,121 4,405 3,100 5,665

Respite

Residents Accommodated 177 169 182 214 133

Resident Bed Days 6,184 4,948 3,414 2,764 2,049

Occupancy Rate 86.57% 88.50% 91.26% 92.10% 92.48%

Home Care Package (HCPs) clients 82 47 40 36 38

HCPs occasions of service 20,893 15,128 10,294 9,608 9,843

ACCIDENT/EMERGENCY OCCASIONS OF SERVICE 7,926 7,497 6,960 7,018 6,984

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

* WIES (Weighted Inlier Equivalent Separations) are based on the Australian Refined - Diagnostic Groups (AR-DRG) further refined in Victoria by the addition of a few additional DRGs by the Vic-DRG
 version 9.* Our Target WIES for 2018/19 (excluding those funded under the Small Rural Health Services Program) was 5,486. The Health Service exceeded target by 2% this year.

Outpatient (Non-admitted) Occasions of Service

Physiotherapy 9,269 7,394 8,047 6,855 4,114

Planned Activity Group 6,815 7,435 6,626 5,941 5,743

Speech Pathology 903 745 925 810 762

Podiatry 2,672 2,736 3,056 2,993 2,617

Occupational Therapy 1,638 1,787 1,952 1,920 1,753

Palliative Care 1,377 1,842 1,143 2,309 1,428

District Nursing Service 23,404 22,623 23,597 22,123 21,973

Other (Continence, Diabetes, Dietetics) 3,968 4,640 4,285 4,022 3,479

Total Non-admitted Occasions of Service 48,669 49,202 49,631 46,973 41,869

Cost Per Non-admitted Occasion of Service $304 $243 $219 $191 $171

Meals on Wheels 18,630 19,554 21,006 20,382 23,078
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IMPROVING CANCER CARE

Cancer and Dialysis Centre
Our new Cancer and Dialysis Centre opened its 
doors in November 2018, providing patients 
and their families with a modern, well equipped 
facility, delivering the latest treatments and 
specialist care. The relocation of the Specialist 
Consulting Suites to the Centre has greatly 
improved care coordination and the number 
of patients seeking treatment is increasing. 
Additional clinics will be offered by our Ballarat 
Regional Integrated Cancer Centre (BRICC) 
oncologists in 2020. 

Cancer Wellness Program
To further support our cancer patients, a 
survivorship and wellness program is being 
introduced; facilitated by a multidisciplinary 
team of nursing, exercise physiology, dietetics 
and counselling staff. The multi-disciplinary 
Oncology Rehabilitation Program, is based on 
the Cancer Council's Survivorship Program. 
Exercise Physiology clinicians have attended 
training to facilitate the delivery of this 
important new initiative. 

EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT 
IMPROVEMENTS

ED Staffing Model
A new Emergency Department (ED) nursing 
structure was introduced at Hamilton Base 
Hospital, in response to a significant increase 
in presentations. Additional nurses are now 
rostered across all shifts to manage the 
increasing demand, improving the level of 
clinical and customer service provided. 

ED Falls Screening 
Staff reviewed the management of ED patients 
presenting with fractures and are providing 
additional discharge support for those who 
have had a fall at home. The Physiotherapy 
team developed a model of screening and 
assessment and guidelines were updated. An 
ED representative has joined the Falls Working 
Party to keep up-to-date with changes and 
provide feedback, to ensure a coordinated and 
integrated model of care is delivered and to 
improve the quality and consistency of service 
for customers presenting to ED post falls.

NEW PROJECTS
Clinical Handover 
The Clinical Handover Project aims to improve 
staff and consumer experiences during shift 
changes. Key focus areas include gathering 
consumer and staff feedback and implementing 
change ideas to improve communication 
and the transfer of vital information and 
responsibility to oncoming staff, to ensure safe 
continuity of care. 

Regional COPD Project
In 2019, WDHS worked with Safer Care 
Victoria to improve the prevention and 
management of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 
Disease (COPD). The program involves training 
six separate local General Practices, Manse 
Medical and teams at WDHS in the use of 
spirometry. The aims of the program are to 
improve the health outcomes and experience of 
care for people living with COPD and to reduce 
admissions and readmissions.

Ending PJ Paralysis
WDHS successfully applied through Safer 
Care Victoria to be part of the worldwide 
#EndPJparalysis movement, which 
encourages inpatients to 'get up, get dressed 
and get moving' to aid recovery and help 
minimise the risks associated with prolonged 
immobility. 

The nine month project was launched at 
WDHS in February 2019 and encourages the 
implementation of grass-roots initiatives such 
as team ‘huddles’, links with the WDHS Op 
Shop (to provide clothing) and other strategies 
to help patients get mobile. WDHS was also 
nominated to participate in the research 
element of the #EndPJparalysis project. The 
initial goals were to facilitate 80% of patients in 
the Medical / Rehabilitation Unit to be (a) sitting 
out of bed; (b) dressed; and (c) mobilised, by 
2pm each day. Staff have achieved these goals 
in all of the three areas tracked, with the most 
significant improvement being the percentage 
of patients dressed each day, where we have 
seen a shift of 20% and are now averaging 
90% of patients dressed daily. 

Lymphoedema Early Detection
A SOZO Bioimpedance spectroscopy device 
was purchased with funds from Peter's Project, 
to enhance our Lymphoedema Service. 

The device, is the only one currently available 
in our region and assists staff to monitor the 
early signs of Lymphoedema following cancer 
surgery. It allows for earlier interventions, 
reducing the impact on quality of life and 
delaying the progression of the condition.

CARING FOR OUR COMMUNITY

Enhancing 
People’s Lives
We support the prevention of illness and promote 
the health and wellbeing of people in our community. 
We strive to deliver customer service excellence and 
continuously innovate to adapt to the needs of our 
community. We deliver quality services as close to 
home as possible.

 R Clinical Nurse Specialist Carol Scherek caring 
for a patient on dialysis in the new Cancer and 
Dialysis Centre.

Operations

2,982

Aged Care 
Bed Days

55,390

ED 
Presentations

7,926

ED Admitted 
to Hospital

2,179

Inpatient Days

18,677

Outpatient 
Services

48,669
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Enhancing People’s Lives
Paediatric Allied Health Services
With a focus on building our capacity to 
provide Paediatric Allied Health Services, the 
Primary and Preventative Health (PPH) team 
established a multidisciplinary paediatric 
service. A team of paediatric clinicians 
was formed and a co-located therapy area 
established. Work is underway to create 
multidisciplinary screening and assessment 
pathways into the organisation.

Staff Flu Vaccination Project
In 2019 the Health Service increased its 
desired benchmark for staff vaccination uptake 
to 97%. To achieve the benchmark a number of 
new strategies were implemented. The project 
was a resounding success, with each campus 
exceeding the VICNISS state benchmark (80%) 
and staff uptake figures from previous years. 
Hamilton and Penshurst campuses both topped 
the State, with the highest Influenza vaccination 
uptake for like sized hospitals in Victoria. 

SPECIALIST RECRUITMENT
Dr Eve Shepherd moved to Hamilton to take 
up her role as WDHS Director of Anaesthetics 
in July. Dr Shepherd's career as a Clinical 
Anaesthetist spans over 17 years, where 
she has largely worked in the UK and Czech 
Republic. 

Dr Claire Myers commenced her role at 
WDHS in July 2018, partnering with Hamilton 
Medical Group as a Specialist Obstetrician 
and Gynaecologist, with a keen interest in 
Laparoscopic Gynaecology.

NDIS
WDHS has maintained its commitment to 
delivering NDIS services to the community. 
Over 100 participants are currently utilising 
services across 11 areas. WDHS is the largest 
public provider of NDIS services in the region 
and is continually monitoring consumer needs 
and developing strategies to meet growing 
demand. In October, WDHS achieved Human 
Service Standards Accreditation for the Social 
Support Group program provided for NDIS 
participants, with all four Standards met.

Specialist Dietary Requirements
Patient and resident specialist dietary 
requirements are increasing and a publicised 
75% rise in anaphylactic presentations to 
Victorian hospitals over four years has lead 
to the implementation of an allergen matrix to 
support our WDHS menu. Allergen training has 
been conducted and a food allergy and texture 
modified diet communication form introduced. 
These extra precautions are reducing the risk of 
food related illnesses and reactions.

Menu Review 
Our Dietetics team, working with Food Services 
completed a thorough review of all WDHS aged 
care and acute menus. The review analysed 
the current menu, with a view to improving 
the quality and nutritional value of hospital and 
aged care meals. 

AGED CARE

Aged Care Governance 
WDHS identified the need for a robust 
governance structure to oversee accountability 
and performance in aged care and has 
established an Aged Care Governance Board 
Subcommittee. This is in response to an 
increased focus on improving performance 
in aged care through the Royal Commission 
into Aged Care Quality and Safety and the new 
Aged Care Quality Standards. 

As part of the Royal Commission into Aged 
Care Quality and Safety, WDHS was required to 
provide a response to specific questions from 
the Commission. All incidents and complaints 
from July 2013 to June 2018 were reviewed 
and themes from this analysis will form quality 
improvement actions at our aged care facilities.

Aged Care Services
In response to consumer feedback, we 
established an aged care hub, providing a 'one 
stop shop' for information and support services 
for aged care customers. An Aged Care 
Services Manager was recruited to manage 
and work with the Aged Care Services team, 
consisting of Home Care Packages, Aged Care 
Placement and Aged Care Finance. The team is 
assisting customers to navigate and use aged 
care services and will market WDHS Aged Care 
facilities and services throughout the region.

Home Care Packages
The number of Home Care Package clients 
continues to rise each month, with a 72% 
increase from 50 to 86 packages in the last 
year. To manage the increase, WDHS has 
recruited additional case manager resources. 

Supporting People with Dementia 
Best practice cognitive impairment (dementia 
and delirium) continues to be a focus across 
WDHS. Quality improvement activities included 
a WDHS hospital wide delirium survey in 
partnership with Safer Care Victoria, which 
provided baseline audit results and identified 
areas for improvement. Best practice cognitive 
impairment guidelines and a screening tool 
were developed and staff education provided. 
WDHS is participating in the IHI Delirium 
Collaborative with Barwon Health to share 
resources and best practice.

Improving Resident Wellbeing
WDHS is working with aged care residents 
to deliver a consumer directed service that is 
responsive to the diverse range of services 
and activities requested. Recent accreditation 
audits focussed on the delivery of care, where 
residents have choice, dignity of risk and 
maintain their identity. Staff are currently having 
conversations with residents and their relatives 
to better support them to live their lives as they 
choose. The Cycling without Age Program was 
launched at the Grange and has been extremely 
successful with most residents signed up to 
enjoy the benefits of the program. 

Plans are in progress to rotate the trishaw 
through all WDHS aged care facilities, so that 
all residents have an opportunity to take part. 
The Birches residents were the recipients of 
a mini bus specific for their use and made 
possible thanks to the Birches Auxiliary 
and other local donors. This has allowed 
for spontaneity of activities and outings, 
enhancing resident choice, decision making 
and wellbeing.

Mobility Training in Aged Care 

The Physiotherapy Department has been 
delivering Mobility Trained Nurse education to 
acute areas at WDHS for two years. Following 
a request from staff, the scope of this program 
was extended to include Aged Care. In April 
2019, a modified Mobility Trained Nurse 
Program was rolled out to include nursing staff 
from regional aged care facilities. To date, this 
program has been delivered to 21 nurses, with 
great success in reducing risk and harm to 
residents, as well as ensuring a reduction in 
walking aid equipment losses.

QUALITY & SAFETY
WDHS quality and safety initiatives ensure the 
community receives safe, appropriate and high 
quality care and services.

Accreditation
On a three year cycle WDHS is assessed 
against the National Safety and Quality Health 
Service (NSQHS) Standards. Accreditation is a 
mandatory process for all public acute health 
services, providers of residential aged care and 
community services. WDHS will be assessed 
for its compliance with the NSQHS Standards 
in October 2019. In January 2019 version 2 of 
the Standards was released, with new criteria 
including mental health, cognitive impairment 
and care at the end of life. 

WDHS is required to comply with the Aged 
Care Quality Standards. This is achieved 
through unannounced assessment visits. All 
WDHS aged care facilities were accredited in 
2019.

Consumer Participation
WDHS engages with consumers in the planning 
and evaluation of all aspects of healthcare 
delivery and quality improvement projects. 
Consumer representatives are involved in 
several work groups including the Community 
Advisory Committee and the Diversity & 
Equality Committee.

Customer Feedback
Feedback allows WDHS to monitor the 
safety and quality of the care provided 
across its service. It assists in identifying 
improvements to practice, facilities, systems 
and equipment. During 2018/19, 638 items 
of formal feedback were received. Of these 
521 were compliments, 117 were complaints 
or suggestions for improvement. Of the 117 
complaints 89 were closed within 30 days and 
28 within 30-60 days.
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COMMUNITY HEALTH & WELLBEING
NATIONAL CENTRE FOR 
FARMER HEALTH

10 Year Celebration
2018 marked the 10th anniversary of the 
establishment of the National Centre for Farmer 
Health (NCFH), as it continues to ‘make a 
difference to farmers’ lives’ across Victoria.

In September, the NCFH celebrated this 
important milestone at its third conference, 
held in conjunction with the Western Alliance 
Symposium in Hamilton.

The NCFH has built strong partnerships with 
health services, government departments, 
universities, farmer organisations, private 
agricultural and rural industries and the 
community. In the last two years, new 
partnerships have been formed with corporate 
partners including Rural Bank and Metalcorp. 

Our collaborations are growing and now reach 
globally, with active research partnerships in 
Canada, Germany, India, Indonesia, Ireland and 
Ghana.

During 2018/19, the NCFH attended 49 
community events, delivered keynote 
presentations to 3,174 people and sent 
e-newsletters out to over 4,000 people each 
month.

Gear Up
The work of the NCFH extends into educating 
the future farming workforce through the Gear 
Up program. This educational program focuses 
on the next generation by interacting with 
agricultural students at schools, colleges and 
universities. The clear message for students in 
the program is that sustainable farming must 
now include an environment that connects 
health, wellbeing and safety as an integral part 
of everyday culture. The Gear Up program, was 
delivered in Victoria and supported by Rural 
Bank into New South Wales. 

The students covered topics including personal 
safety, improving health and safety awareness. 

A focus of this educational offering was to 
provide practical health and safety strategies 
that students can apply immediately as they 
venture into the agricultural workforce.

Health and Lifestyle Assessments
Health and Lifestyle Assessments were offered 
at 18 events throughout Australia and were 
made possible by partnerships with corporate 
and industry partners. Almost 670 people 
participated in the assessments and this 
offering continues to be a key component of 
our service delivery. A combination of survey 
and clinical data is captured at these events 
and is used to shape our future work in the 
farmer health promotion and prevention area. 

This work is now being extended in 
collaboration with our international partners 
and 150 were conducted through Centurion 
University in India in January 2019.

The Centre’s reach was further extended 
through drought funding received from the 
Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions. 
This was used to deliver services to drought 
affected communities in Victoria. Programs 
included AgriSafe Clinics, Health and Lifestyle 
Assessments, and a series of community 
presentations and workshops.

Suicide Prevention
The NCFH is currently working with the 
Coroners Court of Victoria to improve 
understanding of suicide in farming and rural 
communities. Through in-depth analysis of 
coronial evidence, the team will develop more 
targeted and effective suicide prevention 
measures for farmers, farming families and 
agricultural workers.

AgriSafe Clinics
The Centre continues to deliver AgriSafe clinics 
at locations throughout Victoria, including 
Hamilton, Penshurst and Coleraine locally, and 
to the north (in collaboration with Shepparton 
Primary Care Connect), Numurkah, and 
Nathalia. 

The AgriSafe clinics provide farmers with a 
comprehensive health check from a trained 
agricultural health clinician. The AgriSafe 
program welcomes anyone working in the 
agricultural sector and extends beyond clinical 
measures into education about farm hazards, 
specific occupational risks, and personal 
protective equipment selection and fitting.

Farmer Research
Conducting and disseminating research 
relevant to farmers and farming communities 
is core business for the Centre. It hosted 
the third National Centre for Farmer Health 
Conference in partnership with the Western 
Alliance Academic Health Science Centre. This 
event attracted in excess of 100 delegates and 
provided a vibrant forum to share the latest 
rural research across a range of disciplines. 

A Deakin School of Medicine Selective student 
undertook a study of the existing research, 
exploring links between agrichemical exposure 
and mental health. This literature review was 
published in a peer-review journal. The findings 
from the study will help to shape future NCFH 
research in an area of particular relevance to 
the health of our farming communities.

SGGPCP
Awards, Awards, Awards
WDHS and the Southern Grampians and 
Glenelg Primary Care Partnership (SGGPCP) 
won the Supporting Healthy Populations 
category at the Victorian Healthcare Awards 
in late 2018. This was a joint application 
capturing the journeys of both the GenR8 
Change and SEA Change Portland 
communities. 

Both communities were thrilled to be one of 
five state finalists in the Promoting Healthy 
Eating VicHealth award in December. 

The SGGPCP led Balmoral Fire Connect project 
was also the Victorian Winner of the Resilient 
Australia Community Award. 

Transforming 
Rural Health
We encourage the development and design of 
new and innovative practices and processes 
that lead to system change. We promote an 
environment that inspires learning, thought 
leadership and enables staff to actively 
participate in contributing to change.

 R Food Services team members, Nicole Adamson and 
John Hedley showcase the Australian first 'Green' 
cafeteria options for a Herald Sun photo.
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ALLReady Animation
The ALLReady one-minute animation was 
developed to complement the award-winning 
Balmoral Fire Connect Project, which 
highlights the value of the trusted relationships 
community service and health sector workers 
have with vulnerable community members. 
Simple conversations and trusted connections 
have the power to enhance resilience.

LANCET Contribution
Southern Grampians and Portland community’s 
efforts have been included as an exemplar in a 
report released by leading international science 
and health publication – The Lancet. The report 
focused on the issues of obesity, malnutrition 
and climate change, and has made headlines 
across Australia and internationally, calling 
obesity, malnutrition and climate change the 
three biggest threats to humanity. Panel 15 
in the report section entitled Mobilizing Civil 
Society, provides the story of the community 
based approach to obesity prevention being 
undertaken in the Southern Grampians and 
Glenelg Shire authored by SGGPCP. The case 
study describes how the changes made by 
community members through GenR8 Change 
and SEA Change are having positive impacts 
on communities. 

GenR8 Data Collection 2019
WDHS and SGGPCP staff, along with partners 
across the region, are working with GLOBE @ 
Deakin to measure the health of local school 
children. This monitoring program has resulted 
in data being collected from nearly 300 children 
in Southern Grampians in 2015, 2017 and 
now 2019. This series of data will provide 
our community with valuable information on 
trends related to children’s eating and activity 
behaviours, weight status and wellbeing. It 
will support the GenR8 Change community to 
continue its efforts to make 'the healthy choice 
the easy choice', especially for children.  

GenR8 Change – Active Transport
Local children have shown getting to school 
is a walk in the park, with more than 1,100 
students walking, riding and scooting an 
impressive 9,600 kms as part of VicHealth’s 
Walk to School program. 

In Southern Grampians, Penshurst Primary 
School had an impressive 85% of students 
walking and riding to school every day. 
Following a community Active Transport Forum 
facilitated by GenR8 Change in late November, 
local working groups are now implementing 
strategies to further increase the number of 
children walking.

Australian First 'GREEN' Menu
In November 2018 the WDHS Cafeteria was the 
first in Australia to adopt a ‘GREEN’ only menu, 
using the Victorian Healthy Eating Advisory 
Service (HEAS) Traffic Light Guidelines. 
Research indicates that over two thirds of 
Australian adults are overweight, leading to 
an increased risk of Type-2 diabetes, cancer, 
cardiovascular disease and stroke. 
WDHS is playing its part in 'creating healthier 
communities', and its Food Services team are 
proud to be supporting this vision by delivering 
a nutritious and healthy menu to staff and 
visitors.
Staff are currently producing a package that 
includes 'GREEN' recipes, cost analysis 
and a strategic overview of going ‘GREEN’ 
in anticipation that it can assist other 
organisations and inspire the community to 
'make the healthy choice the easy choice'. 

Healthy Leg Club
The Hamilton Healthy Leg Club, launched in 
October and is based on a social model of 
care, encouraging people who have actual 
or potential chronic leg wounds to attend for 
dressings, education and a social outing.

Experienced wound care nurses are available 
to bathe and dress legs to prevent or treat 
wounds. The Club currently has 34 members, 
with staff seeing an average eight per week. 
The emphasis is on a fun and friendly non-
clinical atmosphere where people can meet, 
talk and receive advice from wound care 
nurses, allied health staff and regular guest 
speakers. Hamilton is the third 'Leg Club' to be 
established in Victoria. The benefits of these 
clubs is well researched and staff are seeing 
many positive outcomes for clients.

Holi Festival
In November 2018 the WDHS Community 4 
Youth Board (C4YB) delivered an event to bring 
young people from local secondary schools 
together. The 'Holi Festival' was a celebration 
of our 'one colourful community' and featured 
Triple J 'Unearthed' Winner, Gretta Ray and 
one of Australia's top DJ's, C Barts. The event 
was funded by the state governement FReeZA 
program. Several hundred students attended 
the event.

Diabetes Education
Over the past year, the WDHS diabetes team 
has provided locally-based 'Diabetes At School' 
professional development days for teachers 
and early childhood staff, to ensure they feel 
confident and provide a safe and supportive 
learning environment for children and students 
with Type 1 Diabetes.

The Royal Children’s Hospital (RCH) Outreach 
Paediatric Endocrinology Clinic, now in its 
twentieth year is a wonderful asset for the 
South West and continues to grow. 

Every three months, a team of specialists 
from RCH work with diabetes educators 
to review and monitor diabetes (and other 
endocrinological / hormone / growth 
conditions) management for young people in 
the South West region. Clinic numbers have 
almost doubled over the last 12 months.
Our Diabetes specialists also worked with local 
Lions Club members at the National Conference 
in November 2018 to improve diabetes 
awareness and conduct screening checks for 
conference delegates and organisers. New 
partnerships continue to grow our reach, and 
our Diabetes team are now also conducting 
monthly diabetes clinics at Riverview Family 
Health in Casterton.

Transforming Rural Health

 R HMF701 students on a tour of the Hamilton 
Rural Livestock Exchange with NCFH 
Research Assistant, Jessie Adams
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PEOPLE CULTURE & DEVELOPMENT

Workforce Profile 2019 June
Current Month FTE

June
YTD FTE

Labour Category 2019 2018 2019 2018

Nursing  249.75  232.14  239.06  231.56 

Administration and Clerical  87.72  84.60  87.78  86.79 

Medical Support  30.51  27.93  28.24  26.87 

Hotel and Allied Services  130.33  126.51  131.86  129.08 

Medical Officers  1.13  0.18  1.15  0.83 

Hospital Medical Officers  21.27  21.47  20.66  18.59 

Ancillary Staff (Allied Health)  50.09  45.67  47.02  47.27 

Total  570.80  538.50  555.77  540.99 

 570.80 

Re-branding
In 2019 our Human Resources Department 
re-branded to People Culture and Development, 
to better reflect the important role it plays in 
supporting our workforce.

Workforce Diversity 
WDHS is an equal opportunity employer. All 
appointments are merit based and in pursuit 
of customer service excellence. Recruitment 
must align with our vision, mission, values and 
strategic direction. 

The organisation is ethnically diverse and 
celebrates multiculturalism at its annual Festi 
Kultura dinner and monthly Friends Meet 
and Greet dinners. The WDHS Aboriginal 
Employment Plan and Disability Inclusion 
Plan continue to promote and support a safe, 
accessible and inclusive environment for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and 
people with a disability. 

Our People Matter 
WDHS participated in the state-wide People 
Matter Survey (PMS) in May / June 2019. 
The VPSC conducts the PMS to improve 
the working lives of employees and deliver 
outcomes consistent with the objectives of the 
Public Administration Act 2004. The 2018/19 
survey highlighted employee engagement and 
job related wellbeing.

Wellbeing 
Ongoing online and face to face health and 
wellbeing programs assist our employees 
to cope with and manage matters that could 
potentially adversely impact their emotional, 
psychological and social wellbeing. 

WDHS empowers staff by providing ongoing 
training on family violence, elder abuse, 
bullying, harassment and sexual harassment, 
occupational violence, stress management, 
values and occupational health and safety. 
Staff are also supported by counsellors, social 
workers and psychologists as part of our 
organisational Employee Assistance Package.

Enriching Our 
Team
We recognise our staff are our 
most valuable asset and that we 
have an obligation to support their 
emotional, physical and spiritual 
health.

 R Participants of the latest 7 
Habits Leadership Program 
facilitated by CE Rohan 
Fitzgerald and Innovation and 
Improvement Leader, Neil 
O'Donnell

FULL TIME 
Permanent

152

FULL TIME 
Temporary

22

PART TIME

523

CASUAL

64

SESSIONAL 
Permanent

773

TOTAL STAFF

12
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Enriching Our Team

Credentialing
WDHS is working with South West Healthcare, 
Portland and Colac Health to streamline 
credentialing services in the region. The 
organisation is also working with regional 
health services and Deakin University to 
develop a 'Rural Generalist Program' and with 
the Royal Australian College of Physicians 
to develop an 'Advanced Physician Trainee' 
placement.

LEARNING & DEVELOPMENT 
WDHS continues to deliver high quality 
educational and professional development 
opportunities, including support and promotion 
of conference attendance, skill updates and 
academic study at certificate, undergraduate 
and graduate degree levels. In 2018/19, over 
800 hours of face to face training was provided 
for all levels of staff. In addition to the face 
to face training, there are many more hours 
of online education undertaken by staff to 
maintain and improve their knowledge.

The following programs and services were 
delivered this year:

• Orientation Training

• Graduate Nursing Program

• Undergraduate Workplace Placement 
Training

• Sue Hindson Education Scholarship Fund 

• Regional Continuing Nurse and Midwifery 
Education

• CQU Registered Nurse Program

• Staff Development Grants

• Leadership Training 

• No-Lift Education and Safety Support

• Best Practice Clinical Learning 
Environments (BPCLE) 

• Other face to face / online training through 
our Learning Management System.

Graduate Nurse Program 
In 2018, 19 graduates participated in the WDHS 
Graduate Nurse Program. Of these participants, 
14 have continued to work at WDHS following 
completion of their program and another is in 
the nurse relievers group.

Undergraduate Student Clinical 
Placement 
WDHS continues to be a destination of choice 
for students on placement in nursing and allied 
health disciplines and for secondary school 
students participating in health industry related 
TAFE courses. Approximately 160 students 
have completed their clinical placements at 
WDHS, totalling 2,585 student days. 

This year we also strengthened our partnerships 
with local, metropolitan and interstate education 
providers and created partnerships with another 
three tertiary institutions.

It has been encouraging to see so many of our 
students who have completed their Clinical 
Placements at WDHS choose our Health 
Service as their employer of choice. This is 
evidenced by the number of past students 
participating in our Graduate programs in 
Nursing and Allied Health in 2019. 

CQU Transition to Registered 
Nurse Program
With anticipated skill shortages across the 
health sector WDHS continues to work in 
partnership with CQUniversity to support staff 
to achieve Registered Nursing qualifications. 
This program allows students to complete a 
tertiary qualification without having to leave 
our local community. Students can study 
online and complete their clinical placements at 
WDHS campuses.

This year we have a total of 13 students 
enrolled, with four participants due to complete 
the course at the end of 2019. 

Sue Hindson Fund 
The Sue Hindson Memorial Scholarship Fund 
supports professional development for staff in 
Intensive Care or Emergency. WDHS sincerely 
thanks the Hindson family for their continued 
and generous support.  

Nurse and Midwifery Education 
The Subregional Continuing Nurse and 
Midwifery Education (CNME) fund allows 
nurses to attend study days in the local region, 
with guest speakers delivering education on a 
range of topics. 

In 2018/19, ten study days were delivered on 
priority topics, with an average of 30 people 
attending each topic. Attendees come from 
across the region and are from both nursing 
and medical backgrounds.

Best Practice Clinical Learning 
Environments (BPCLE) 
WDHS adheres to, and regularly monitors 
its performance against the standards of 
the BPCLE program. While the Learning and 
Development area meets the defined standards, 
improvements were identified and introduced 
to help ensure that it not only meets best 
practice in learning initiatives and outcomes but 
continuously strives to improve.

Effective Leadership Training
In 2018/19 two leadership programs were 
delivered to 40 current and emerging leaders 
at WDHS. The six week program is based on 
Stephen Covey’s 7 Habits of Highly Effective 
People and incorporates concepts and practical 
exercises of effective leadership tailored 
specifically to the WDHS values, mission and 
work environment. 

PSA and Environmental Staff 
Training 
WDHS continues to achieve cleaning results 
higher than the state average through the 
Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey.  

WDHS Infection Control, Quality and Hotel 
Services departments combined this year to 
deliver a mandatory training session for all 
PSA and Environmental staff to standardise, 
improve and maintain high cleaning standards.

 R 2018/19 EN RN Nursing Graduates
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Code of Conduct
All staff must abide by the Victorian Public 
Sector Commission (VPSC) Code of Conduct 
and WDHS Values, policies and procedures.

Industrial Relations
No industrial action occurred and no work 
hours were lost during 2018/19.

Statutory Compliance
No reports were made under the Protected 
Disclosures Act. One mandatory report was made 
to the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation 
Agency (AHPRA), regarding a health professional. 

Risk Management
The identification, assessment and 
management of risk is critical to the safety of 
patients, visitors & staff. Risks are monitored 
by the Quality Department and are regularly 
reviewed by the Executive Team. 

The WDHS risk management framework 
has been developed in accordance with the 
Risk Management Standard AS/NZS ISO 
31000:2009.

OH&S
WDHS continued its commitment to 
Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S) 
obligations by improving compliance, 
management strategies and staff training 
The organisation also invested $80,000 in 
equipment and minor capital works during 
2018/19. Staff training on occupational 
violence and de-escalation skills was delivered 
through Switch training. 

Workcover
The total premium for 2018/19 was 
$503,046.17 (Exc GST). Our employer 
performance rating for this period was 0.87 
(12.43% better than the industry average).

Over the past 12 months our employer 
performance rating has improved from 0.87 to 
0.56 (41% better than the industry average) and 
resulting in a subsequent reduction in premium 
for 2019/20 to $296,618.11 (exc GST).

Number of Workcover claims: 

Claims     4 

Per 100 EFT 0.7198

Hazards / Incidents
Hazards / Incidents 145 

Per 100 EFT  26.09 

Worksafe Visits
WDHS had three Worksafe visits in 2018/19.

Chemical, Biological, Radiological  
Incidents
There were no Chemical, Biological or 
radiological incidents during the past year.

July - Michelle McErvale, Birches Ward Clerk
August - Cecilia Fitzgerald, NCFH Executive and Administrative Assistant
September - Nyrie Adams, Associate Nurse Unit Manager, Theatre
October - Shane Benge, Personal Care Worker, PDHS
November - John Hedley, Group Manager Support Services
December - Fenella Campbell, Executive Assistant 

January - Jack Parfrey, Gardener / Handyman 
February - Monique Sobey, Wellbeing Officer 
March - Claire Hawker, Executive Assistant to Chief Executive
April - Amy Holmes, Clinical Nurse Specialist / Stomal Nurse Coordinator
May - Julianne Thomson, Pharmacist
June - Jenny Kenny, Food and Domestic Services Assistant

COMPLIANCE & SAFETY

RECOGNISING EXCELLENCE & SERVICE

10 Year Service Badges 
Joanne Brown
Brianna Deutscher 
Debra Fitzgerald
Megan Gleeson
Sarah Haggett
Donna Hobbs
Robyn Holcombe
Carol Holmes
Lea Hudson 
Jennifer Kenny
Veronica Layson
Lauren Lenehan
Leslie Rose
Rosemary Lewis 
Janette Lowe
Lucinda Malseed
Mandy McAdam
Abby-Jean McKerlie
Amanda Nagorcka
Jeanne Pollock
Sheree Robinson
Marie Shaw
Louise Starkie

15 Year Service Badges 
Mary Boney
Michelle Maslen
Kylie Pearce
Joanne Ross
Sonia Shaw
Susan Watt

20 Year Service Badges 
Anne Marie Bowman
Marilyn Callaby
Debra Clugston
Robert Cook
Rowena Farquharson
Tim Hall
Brian Hearn
Phuong Huynh
Susan Patterson
Gwenda Rentsch
Julianne Schultz
Janene Taylor

25 Year Service Badges 
Jennifer Fitzgerald
Rhonda Hamilton
Raelene Koenig
Marlene Lee
Rosemary Rowland
Geoffrey Winnell

30 Year Service Badges 
Kathleen Baugh
Cheryle Casey
John Kearney
Richard Trigger

35 Year Service Badges 
Leanne Deutscher
Kaye Roberts-Rundell
Lesley Stewart

40 Year Service Badges
Timothy Hicks
Graham Marnell 

STAFF SERVICE MILESTONES

AGM Award Recipients
Staff Above and Beyond

Carol Scherek

Community Award

Festi Kultura Event Team

Clinical Excellence Award

20 Minute Rounding Team

Non-Clinical Excellence Award

Maintenance Team

Employees of the Month
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INFRASTRUCTURE & SUSTAINABILITY

 R Facility Manager, Trevor Wathen inspecting solar 
panels installed at the Hamilton Campus

MAJOR PROJECTS
Cancer and Dialysis
The new Cancer and Dialysis Centre was 
completed in October 2018. The $1.9 million, 
450 square metre, purpose built facility 
is designed to deliver clinical, outpatient 
consulting and hospital admissions services.

Birches Refurbishment 
A local contractor was engaged in late 2018 
to undertake a significant refurbishment of 
the Birches Residential Aged Care facility. The 
$1.2 million refurbishment includes upgrades 
to resident dining rooms, new therapy and 
hairdressing pods, covered walkways and 
improvements to external courtyards. The 
project also includes a front foyer streetscape 
featuring a historical representation of 
Hamilton's Gray Street. Works are expected to 
be completed in July 2019.

Cafeteria Refurbishment
The Lakeside Cafeteria was refurbished to 
support the introduction of our new 'GREEN' 
menu. The area was renamed the ‘Green Bean 
Café’ and staff and visitors are enjoying the 
new contemporary café environment.

Op Shop Relocation
The WDHS Op Shop relocated to its new home 
at 59 Brown Street in February 2019. The 
new premises was refurbished by the WDHS 
Maintenance team to provide a functional, 
welcoming retail space. 

Penshurst Significant Refurb
A Significant Refurbishment Grant application 
for the Penshurst Nursing Home was 
successful, with the facility receiving 
$500,000. The project will provide more single 
accommodation options with ensuite facilities 
and improve the financial sustainability of the 
service. A tender process for architectural 
services will commence in the coming months.

Penshurst Fire Ring Main
As a priority the fire ring main at Penshurst 
will be upgraded in late 2019 at a cost of 
approximately $250,000.

SUSTAINABILITY
Environment Workgroup
In 2018 WDHS established a workgroup 
to improve wellbeing and environmental 
sustainability. WDHS is committed to 
implementing sound environmental practices in 
all areas of its operations and has committed 
to a number of focus areas for improvement 
over the next 12 months.

LED Lighting
WDHS participated in the Victorian Energy 
Upgrade Program by installing LED lighting 
across all campuses. The LEDs will replace 
all fluorescent lighting and are not only more 
efficient, but typically have longer lifespans and 
reduce overall energy costs. 

Solar Project 
WDHS has installed over 1,900 solar panels 
as part of a regional project to reduce 
greenhouse emissions and save on power 
costs. The panels will supply around 20% of 
current electricity needs, saving an estimated 
$200,000 on annual electricity bills. A small 
percentage of the electricity generated will 
also be returned to the grid. With energy 
bills on the rise and a desire to improve 
sustainability, Health Services across the 
southwest developed a plan to fit solar panels 
to 21 facilities in 2017. The project is being 
funded thanks to an interest-free loan package 
from the Government’s ‘Greener Government 
Buildings Program’. 

Steam Boiler Replacement 
Maintaining a high standard of essential 
infrastructure is a key element of our Strategic 
Plan. A steam boiler upgrade completed in 
December included three new 500kw energy 
efficient boilers, providing a more efficient 
system for steam services and sized for 
appropriate steam load.

SYSTEMS UPGRADES
Nurse call system HBH 
A new nurse call system installation at 
Hamilton Base Hospital will improve patient 
nurse communications, emergency response, 
workflow and staff safety. The $400,000 
upgrade across all hospital wards is due for 
completion in August 2019.

Electronic Menu System 
WDHS is implementing an Electronic Menu 
System (EMS) to improve Food Services 
processes and efficiencies, reduce risk to 
patients with food intolerances and allergies, 
improve diet monitoring in our aged-care 
facilities and to automate the service for all 
patients and residents. 

Security
A swipe card system was installed in the 
Cancer and Dialysis Centre, to enhance overall 
security and limit access to restricted areas. 
The Health Service will extend this system 
at the Hamilton campus in July 2019, with 
a further 52 doors programmed for swipe 
access. These works have been funded 
through a DHHS preventative violence funding 
submission. 
A camera upgrade will increase the number of 
surveillance cameras across the Health Service 
from 31 to 61, improving staff and client safety 
and protecting key assets. 

We will invest in systems, infrastructure and 
equipment to provide an environment that supports 
the safe delivery of state of the art services to our 
community.

Investing In 
Our Future

 R Winda-mara Elder, Uncle Johnny Lovett, with CE Rohan 
Fitzgerald, Board Chair Ian Whiting, Guest Speaker, Gerard 
Lucas and Mayor, Mary-Ann Brown at the Official Opening 
of the Cancer and Dialysis Centre
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In accordance with the DHHS, 
Environmental Sustainability Strategy 
2018/19 to 2022/23 and the Global Green 
and Healthy Hospitals Framework, WDHS 
is committed to reducing its environmental 
footprint and is actively working to achieve 
environmental principles and outcomes.

Our Environmental Management Plan aligns 
with the Global Green and Healthy Hospitals 
Agenda, which provides a comprehensive 
framework for hospitals and health services 
to achieve greater sustainability and 
contribute to improved public environmental 
health.

This framework consists of ten 
interconnected goals that are also referred 
to in the DHHS, Environmental Sustainability 
Strategy. 

Each goal contains a series of action items that hospital and health services can implement. The ten goals include:

1. Leadership – Prioritise environmental health

2. Chemicals – Substitute harmful chemicals with safer alternatives

3. Waste – Reduce, treat and safely dispose of healthcare waste

4. Energy – Implement energy efficiency and clean, renewable energy generation

5. Water – Reduce hospital consumption and supply potable water

6. Transportation – Improve transportation strategies for patients and staff

7. Food – Purchase and serve sustainably grown, healthy food

8. Pharmaceuticals – Safely manage and dispose of pharmaceuticals

9. Building – Support green and healthy hospital design and construction

10. Purchasing – buy safer and more sustainable products and materials

Our achievements in 2018/19 include:

Introduced biodegradable paper 
pill cups to replace plastic cups

Fitted energy efficient glazing in 
new Cancer and Dialysis Centre

Installed Energy efficient chillers

Fitted 1,900 solar panels across 
all campuses

Installed 1,700 energy efficient 
lights (LED)  

Introduced battery bins for 
recycling

Offered reuseable KeepCups for 
purchase in the Cafeteria

Sourced more environmentally 
sustainable Cafeteria packaging

Par ticipated in Paintback scheme 
for responsible disposal and 

innovative reuse of unwanted paint 
and packaging

SUSTAINABILITY HIGHLIGHTS
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Each year our community generously supports 
our work through volunteer activities, program 
and event support and many individual 
donations. This year $508,000 was raised to 
complete our new Cancer Centre, purchase 
a new bus for Birches residents and fund 
equipment and redevelopments across a range 
of Departments and facilities (see chart below 
for further details).
We sincerely thank all those who contributed, 
financially or in-kind during the year. 
Major event sponsors are listed on page 19 
and donors contributing $100 or more are 
recognised on page 21.

EVENTS AND APPEALS:
Christmas Appeal 2019  $9,478 
Cocktails in the Courtyard 2019  $22,867 
Door Knock Appeal 2019  $83,163 
Fun Run 2018  $10,893 
Golf Tournament 2018  $17,165 
International Women's Day 2019  $2,945 
Murray to Moyne 2019  $9,928 
Carol Scherek Art Exhibition  $2,614 

OUR AUXILIARIES
Birches Auxiliary Bus Fundraiser  $29,299
Coleraine Opportunity Shop  $9,500
Hamilton & District Aged Care Trust  $25,000
Hamilton Hospital Ladies Auxiliary  $7,500 
Hospital Op Shop  $5,000
North Hamilton Ladies Auxiliary  $4,000
Fundraising was also conducted by the 
Penshurst & District Ladies Auxiliary, 
Coleraine Hospital Ladies Auxiliary, Coleraine 
Homes for the Aged and the Coleraine 
Bookshop. 

Investing In Our Future

Advantage Feeders

Birches Auxiliary

Ken & Maryanne Campbell

Stephen & Annie Clifforth

Coles Supermarket

Collier Charitable Fund

CWA of Victoria Inc

Dunkeld & District Community Bank

Geoff And Helen Handbury Foundation

GMHBA Healthier Together Team

Good Shepherd College

Hamilton & District Aged Care Trust

Hamilton & District Stock Agents 
Association

Hamilton Base Hospital Ladies Auxiliary

Hospital Opportunity Shop

Humpty Dumpty Foundation

Michael Kerr & Family

Margaret McLeod Memorial Fund

Mellow In The Yellow

Midfield Meats

North Hamilton Base Hospital Ladies 
Auxiliary

Estate of Diana Silvester

Pat & Nanette Stanes

Michael Stewart

Harry & Min Youngman

OUR FUNDRAISING AT WORK

DONATIONS & BEQUESTS OVER $3,000

Areas Supported 2018/19 Fundraising Sources

Events 19%

Appeals 18%

Philanthropics  24%

Donations 21%

Bequests 4%

Auxiliaries  14%

Youth$40k

Operating Theatres$71k

NCFH$45k

Midwifery$85k

HBH Wards$31k

CDHS & PDHS$21k

Other$13k

Cancer Centre$139k

Birches$63k

COMMUNITY SUPPORT
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Aarons, B OAM
Aarons, F
Beggs HN
Boyle J
Broers M
Brumby A
Bunge B
Burgin E
Brown MA
Clifforth S
Coggins G
Dean J
Duff S
Eales M
Edmonds J
Fleming JD
Fletcher J

Ford D
Fraser T
Gaussen D
Gardiner PD
Grant M
Gubbins J
Gumley F PSM
Gurry AJ
Kelsh J
Handbury G AO
Heazlewood P
Hickleton E
Holmes ES
Hope M OAM
Hutton J
Hutton T
Kanoniuk M

Kruger N
Langley C
Lawson V
Linke N
Lyon E
Macdonald H
McLean M
Milton, S
Morrison HM
Murray EM
Northcott J
O’Beirne P
Rabone M
Rentsch T
Robertson M
Runciman P
Ryan D

Scaife C
Scullion E
Templeton H
Thornton A
Tully R
Turnbull P
Turner J
Walker O
Wallis V
Walter R AM
Wettenhall HM
Wettenhall M
Wombwell T
Wraith L

LIFE GOVERNORS

MAJOR EVENT SPONSORS

Stock Agents Golf Tournament
Elders
JM Ellis & Co
Kerr & Co Livestock
KP Lanyon
Landmark
LMB Livestock
Southern Grampians Livestock and Real Estate
The Hamilton & District Stock Agents 
Association
The Hamilton Golf Club 

Op Shop Golf Day
Hospital Opportunity Shop
Dorevitch Pathology
Elliots Fire & Safety
Anne Cass
Confas

Cocktails in the Courtyard
Michael Kerr & Family
Harry & Min Youngman

Hamilton Medical Group 

Fun Run
Ace Radio
Australian Bluegum Plantations
Fox & Lillie Rural
PJ Balderstone
Glenelg Hopkins CMA
ILUKA Resources Ltd

International Women's Day
Sinclair Wilson
Melville Orton & Lewis
Ace Radio

 R The Stock Agents Golf Day was held in October 2018 in memory of several local identities 
who battled cancer and raised over $20,000 for the Cancer and Dialysis Centre
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OUR VOLUNTEERS

WDHS has 300 registered volunteers, 
including auxiliary members, who donate 
their time and skills to support patients, 
residents and clients.

Our volunteers greatly enhance the customer 
experience and support the organisation in 
delivering on its vision of ‘creating healthier 
communities’.
Our Community Transport Service continues 
to be in great demand, with volunteer drivers 
travelling over 250,000 kms across the state 
and into South Australia transporting clients to 
medical appointments. 
The Hospital Op Shop is a wonderful asset 
and this year it not only celebrated its 80th 
birthday, but also the opening of new premises 
at 59 Brown Street. The Op Shop has raised 
over $900,000 since it began operating as the 
'Community Hospital Jumble Shop' in 1938.
A number of ‘riders’ joined the volunteer team 
this year to assist with a new ‘Cycling Without 
Age' initiative. This popular program allows 
aged care residents to experience the thrill 
of venturing outdoors on a trishaw bicycle 
purchased with funds donated by the Op Shop.

 R Our hard working Opportunity Shop Volunteers - in April, the Op Shop celebrated it's 80th 
Birthday at new premises in Brown Street

COMMUNITY 
TRANSPORT

OPPORTUNITY 
SHOP

HOSPITAL / 
WARD

EVENTS OTHERAGED CARE

6,387 5036,732 1,603 4,340 2,051

2018/19 Volunteer Program Hours

July 

Rose Howard - HBH Ward, Birches, 
Social Support Group, Community 
Transport

August 

Judith Collier - Palliative Care, HBH 
Ward

September 

Dianne Price - Op Shop

October

Helen Walker - Community Transport,  
Op Shop

November 

Kay Hadden - HBH Ward, Hospital 
Harmonies

December 

Peter Moore - Community Transport

January

Ian McIntyre - Social Support Group, 
Op Shop, Consumer Working Groups

February 

Margaret Burgin - Op Shop, 
Community Transport

March 

Joshua Stephens - Social Support 
Group, Op Shop, Grange

April 

Fran Barber - HBH Ward

May 

Alex McErvale - Community Transport

June 

Helen Powell - Grange

Charlie Watt Volunteer of the Month Recipients:
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GIFTS OVER $100
Ms S Adams
Advantage Feeders
Mrs J Aitken
Mr J Allen
Mr & Mrs P & A Anderson
Mr & MrsM & A Archer
Mr T Auden
Mr G Aydon
Mr & Mrs A & J Bagnall
Mr P Baker
Balmoral Bowls Club
Mr & Mrs D & M Barber
Mr & Mrs B & I Basham
Mr & Mrs CJ & K Baulch
Mr J Bensch
Mr & Mrs P & J Besgrove
Bethlehem Lutheran Tabor
Ms L Birbeck
Birches Auxiliary
Ms L Blake
Mr & Mrs G & B Botterill
Mr & Mrs A & I Boyd
Mr J Bragg
Mr & Mrs K & E Brennan
Brewis & Co
Mr & Mrs C & C Brinkmann
Ms E Britten
Mr & Mrs T & B Brooks
Mr & Mrs R & J Brown
Mrs A Brumby
Dr S Brumby
Mr & Mrs P and B Bunney
Mr S Burnell
Mr & Mrs A & B Burrowes
Byaduk CWA
Ms L Cameron
Ms M Campbell
Mr & Mrs K & M Campbell
Mr & Mrs J & G Cayley
Mr & Mrs S & A Clifforth
Coast To Country Building Approvals
Cogger Gurry
Ms C Coggins
Mr & Mrs I & S Colclough
Coleraine & District Community Bank
Coleraine Football Netball Club
Coleraine Opportunity Shop
Coles Supermarket
Collier Charitable Fund
Commonwealth Bank of Australia 
(Hamilton)
Rev P Cook
Mr D Coote
Mr & Mrs K & D Coote
Mr B Cordy
Mr M Coustley
Mr & Mrs RB & JC Cowland
Mr & Mrs M & M Cox
CQUni - School of Nursing, Midwifery 
& Social Sciences
CQUniversity
Dr & Mrs L & E Cummins
CWA - Stawell Branch
CWA Victorian Branch
Ms A De Vries
Mr & Mrs J & L Dean
Mr J Dempster
Ms G Dent

Mrs D Douglas
Mr & Mrs K & M Doyle
Dunkeld & District Community Bank, 
Branch Of Bendigo Bank
Mr J Duyvestyn
Mr P Dwight
Mr & Mrs D & M Dyer
Mr S Eats
Mrs E Elliott
Elliotts Fire & Safety
Mr & Mrs R & L Emsley
Equity Trustees Ltd
Mr & Mrs T & J Evans
Mr M Ferguson
Ms I Field
Ms B Finlay
Mr P Fitzgerald
Mr & Mrs R & K Fitzgerald
Ms P Foley
Mr & Mrs G & B Fry
Ms G Fry
MrE Gaio
Mr & Mrs D & H Garfoot
Mr & Mrs A & R Gebert
Geoff And Helen Handbury Foundation
GMHBA
Good Shepherd College
Mrs H Gough
Mrs A Gough
Grampians Golf Club - Ladies
Grand Central Hotel
Mr G Greaves
Mr J Greed
Mr & Mrs I & A Grey
Mr & Mrs M & J Grimwade
Mr & Mrs B & P Groves
Mrs F Gumley
Mr & Mrs K & E Haines
Hamilton & District Aged Care Trust
Hamilton & District Stock Agents 
Association
Hamilton Base Hospital Ladies 
Auxiliary
Hamilton Quilters Inc
Mr & Mrs V & T Handreck
Mr R Hatherell
Ms C Hawker
Ms L Hedley
Mrs J Hedley
Ms I Hill
Mr & Mrs M & P Hill
Ms E Hill
Mrs S Hillier
Ms A Hindson
Mr & Mrs C & S Hines
Mr & Mrs J & B Hope
Hospital Opportunity Shop
Mr & Mrs N & R Howard
Ms L Hudson
Mr & Mrs R & B Hunter
Hunts Auto Spares
Ivory Print
Mr & Mrs D & R Jaeschke
Mr A Jensen
Mrs A Johnston
JRT Partnership Trust Account
Mrs J Keen
Mr & Mrs M & B Kelly

Mrs M Kelsall
Ms A Kenneally
Kerr & Co Livestock
Mr & Mrs B & J King
Ms D Lanyon
Ms G Lee
Mr G Leech
Ms P Leech
Ms P Lewis
Mrs J Lewis
Ms G Leyonhjelm
Mr I Lindsey
Mr & Mrs G & A Linke
Ms G Linke
Mr & Mrs A & S Linke
Mr N Linke
Lions Club of Hamilton Inc.
LMB Linke Livestock P/L
Ms C Loria
Mrs K Lyons
Ms L Lyons
Mr & Mrs C R & M Lyons
Mr J Macauslan
Mr & Mrs H & J Macdonald
Mr & Mrs A & J MacGillivray
Mackkcon Homes
Mr & Mrs E & M MacLean
Mr & Mrs N & H MacLean
Mrs R Malseed
Mr R Mann
Margaret McLeod Memorial Fund
Ms E Mathews
Ms C Mayfield
Ms E Mayfield
Mr C McAllister
Mr K McArthur
Mr K McCaskill
Ms A McClure
Mr A McConachie
Mr W McDonald
Mr & Mrs D & S McFarlane
Mellow In The Yellow
Mrs R Mercer
Merino/Digby Lions Club
Midfield Meats
Mr & Mrs P & S Millear
Mooralla Uniting Fellowship
Ms A Moore
Moore Family
Mr I Morris
Mr & Mrs D & H Morrison
Mrs H Morton
Ms G Muir
Mr R Napier
Mrs M Nolte
North Hamilton Base Hospital Ladies 
Auxiliary
Mr & Mrs M & P O'Beirne
Mrs K O'Connell
Mr G O'leary
Ms P Oliver Snell
Mr & Mrs F & V Onnen
Mrs R Paton
Mr & Mrs K & D Pelchen
Penshurst & Dist Health Service Ladies 
Auxiliary
Penshurst Combined Churches
Penshurst Uniting Church

Mr & Mrs T & B Pepper
Mr M Philip
Pigeon Ponds Sports Social Club
Mr M Poels
Mr J Prust
Ms A Purcell
Mr M Rees
Mr M Rentsch
Mrs G Rentsch
Mr C Richardson
Mr C Richardson
R & A Robinson
Ms A Rogers
Ms C Scherek
Mr & Mrs G & M Scholfield
Mr & Mrs M & R Schultz
Mr & Mrs I & J Schurmann
Mr B Schurmann
Ms L Sharrock
Mrs E Smith
Mrs N Smooker
Mr & Mrs R & F Soulsby
South West Tafe
Southern Soils
Mr D Spring
Mr & Mrs P & N Stanes
Mr N Starkie
Mr & Mrs W & A Steele
Mr & Mrs M & S Stevenson
Mr R Stevenson
Mr & Mrs R & L Stewart
Mr M Stewart
Mr & Mrs R & J Street
Tarrington Senior Citizens Centre Inc
Ms M Templeton
Thank-a-Farmer For Your Next Meal
This Farm Needs A Farmer
Mrs R Thompson
Mrs R Tonissen
Tops n Tails
Ms L Toyer
Mr & Mrs N Van Der Breggen
Ms A Virtue
Mr & Mrs G & H Walcott
Mr N Walkenhorst
Mr & Mrs A & R Walkom
Mr C Wallis
Mr A Walsh
Mrs D Walter
Mr L Walter
Mrs J Warne
Ms J Waters
Mr & Mrs J & H Watt
WDHS Social Club
Ms M Whale
Mr & Mrs C & V Whitehead
Mr & Mrs I & S Whiting
Mr & Mrs J & J Whiting
Ms H Willis
Mr & Mrs I & M Willsher
Mr J Young
Mr P & L Young
Mr & Mrs H & M Youngman
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Organisational Chart

Chief Executive

Director of Nursing
Hamilton Base Hospital

Board of Directors

Director of 
Corporate Services Chief Medical Officer Director of Primary

& Preventative Health

• Penshurst District Health Service
• Coleraine District Health Service
• Merino Community Health Centre

DON/Manager Coleraine 
& Director of Aged Care  
Services (Coleraine & 

Penshurst)

Sub Committees

Director
National Centre for 

Farmer Health

• Budget & Finance
• Maintenance

• Support Services
• Health Information
• Improvement & Innovation

• Medical / Rehab / Cancer & Dialysis Services
• ED / ICU 
• Surgical / Maternity / Paediatrics
• Theatre / CSSD
• Infection Control 
• Regional Wound Care 

• Senior Medical Staff
• Hospital Medical Officers
• Pharmacy
• Quality & Risk

• Complex Care
• Cancer
• Continence
• Diabetes Education
• District Nursing
• Palliative Care
• Discharge Support 

Services
• Men's Health
• Women's Health
• Stomal
• Workplace Health

• People, Culture & Development
• Community Liaison

Director of Aged & Home 
Care Services (Hamilton)

Primary Care Partnership

Community Nursing 
Services

• Allied Health
• Preventative Health
• Community Health

• Aged Care Services
• The Birches Residential Care
• Grange Residential Care 

Service

 R Nursing staff in the newly created Emergency / Intensive 
Care Department at Hamilton Base Hospital
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• People, Culture & Development
• Community Liaison

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Ian Whiting 
(President)
Ian is Managing Director of 
Bassett Estate Pty Ltd and 
is a Founder and Director 
of Club Solutions Australia 
Pty Ltd, Charity Bid Pty Ltd 
and Oxil.io Holdings Pty 

Ltd. Ian is President of the Branxholme Progress 
Association and was Deputy Chair of the South 
West Academy of Sport, VCFL Regional Manager 
South West Border and Chair of the VCFL South 
West Border Regional Board. He is a past President 
of the Hamilton Junior Football League and College 
Magpies Junior Football Club, a past Founding 
President of the Smokey River Land Management 
Group, President and past Captain of the Morven 
CFA RFB and past Chair of the 2010 Top of the Town  
Ball. Ian was appointed to the WDHS Board in July 
2011 and his current term expires 30 June, 2020.  

Darren Barber 
Master HRM CSU (in 
progress)
Cert IV Training & 
Assessment 
Darren is Manager 
Organisational Development 
at Southern Grampians Shire 

Council. Prior to this, he was Manager Organisation 
Development at Warrnambool City Council. Darren 
was a partner at SED Advisory, a regional Victorian 
professional services firm before joining local 
government. He has over 20 years’ experience in 
organisation development and human resource 
management, specialising in regional workforce 
development. Darren was born in Hamilton and 
has been actively involved in the community, with 
roles on the Gray Street Primary School Council, 
Show Us Your Toys Committee, South West TAFE 
Hamilton Campus Advisory Committee and Mitchell 
Park Kindergarten Committee. He has also acted 
as a regional delegate for the VECCI Business and 
Employment Forum. Appointed to the Board in July 
2013, Darren’s current term expires 30 June, 2019.

Megan Kruger
BA, LLB, GDLP
Megan has qualifications in 
Criminology and Law. She has 
worked in local government 
for several years and currently 
works at Central Goldfields 
Shire Council as the Manager 

Governance Property and Risk. She is currently the 
Deputy Chair and Chair of the Finance, Audit and Risk 
Committee of Women's Health and Wellbeing Barwon 
South West. Appointed to the WDHS Board in July 
2017, Megan’s current term expires 30 June 2020. 

Caroline Coggins
B App Sci (Ag), Dip Ed
Caroline has qualifications in 
Applied Science in Agriculture 
and Education. She is a 
past President of the Young 
Members of the Melbourne 

Cricket Club and has held positions including 
General Manager of a Cooperative, Consultant and 
Business Advisor, as well as various secondary 
teaching positions. She is currently the Learning 
Support Coordinator at Monivae College and also 
runs a mixed farming enterprise with her partner 
David. Appointed to the WDHS Board in July 2014, 
Caroline’s current term expires 30 June, 2020.

Peter Besgrove 
BCom, MIR
In an extensive Human 
Resources career with large 
global organisations, Peter 
held senior executive positions 
based in Australia and 
overseas, as a HR Business 

Partner and Remuneration Specialist. Peter lived and 
worked in the UK and China and managed teams 
of HR professionals across a number of countries, 
with diverse social, industrial and legal environments. 
Having retired from corporate life, he is now a 
resident of Dunkeld and is also currently a member of 
the Grampians Tourism Board. Peter was appointed 
to the WDHS Board in July 2014 and his current term 
expires 30 June, 2019.

Nishant Hurria
BDS MCP MCSE MIT FICCDE 
FICOI MIPS FAAIP MAAIP 
FPFA FADI MRACDS FICD 
MBA 
Nishant has over thirteen 
years’ experience as a Dental 

Surgeon and Business Manager and has achieved 
both a Master of IT and a Senior Executive MBA. 
Nishant is an Australian Dental Board Certified Dental 
Practitioner and also has clinical administration and 
business management training. Nishant is currently 
enrolled in postgraduate studies in Sedation 
at the University of Sydney and Law at Deakin 
University. Nishant is the principal dentist and owner 
of Warrnambool Dental and is shareholder and 
director of various dental practices in South West 
Victoria. He has been involved in teaching clinical 
dentistry and mentoring technology start-ups. He is 
Founder and Director of Technology at Isense Smart 
Technologies Pty Ltd and has previously held several 
leadership and senior executive roles. Appointed to 
the WDHS Board in July 2017, Nishant’s current 
term expires 30 June, 2020.

Adele Kenneally 
PhD, MEd, G Dip Bus, Dip Lib 
Adele has worked in senior 
management roles in South 
West Victoria over the past 
20 years and now runs her 
own consulting business, 
ASK Consulting Victoria. She 

is currently the Deputy Chair of the PHN Western 
Victoria Great South Coast Regional Integrated 
Council, is a past member of the Women’s Health 
and Wellbeing Barwon South West Board, and 
was Chair of the Glenelg Southern Grampians 
Primary Care Partnership 2010-2014. Appointed 
to the WDHS Board in July 2015, Adele’s current 
term expires 30 June, 2021.

Greg Walcott
JP 
Currently Managing Director 
of a consulting business 
specialising in stakeholder 
engagement, community 
relations, landowner liaison, 
government relations and 

communication. After thirty years in agriculture at 
Balmoral Greg took on stakeholder management 
roles with major Western Victorian projects including 
Iluka's Douglas Project, AGL's Oaklands Hill and 
Macarthur wind farms, BCD Resources, Stavely 
Minerals and Australian Zircon. A current Board 
member of Volunteer Fire Brigades Victoria and 
the National Centre for Farmer Health Greg also 
has experience in community leadership roles with 
other volunteer organisations including CFA, Apex, 
VFF, Rural Fire Brigades Victoria, Balmoral P&A 
Society, National Party, SW TAFE, school councils 
and sporting clubs. Appointed to the WDHS Board 
in July 2017, Greg’s current term expires 30 June 
2020.

Ashlyn Hiscock
Ashlyn has more than twenty-
five years of experience in 
business, marketing, event 
management, customer and 
public relations in Melbourne. 
She now resides with her 
family at Mt Napier and holds 
the position of Director of 

Communications at The Hamilton and Alexandra 
College and works in Marketing for the Hamilton 
Gallery. Ashlyn is enthusiastic about community 
relations and has played an active part within the 
Australian Music industry, Ashlyn has served as 
treasurer of the Hamilton Pony Club since 2017. 
Appointed to the WDHS Board in July 2018, 
Ashlyn's current term expires 30 June, 2021.

BOARD STRUCTURE, ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES  
WDHS was incorporated in July 1998 under The Health Services Act 1988 and is governed by a nine member Board of Directors (BOD), appointed by the 
Governor in Council upon the recommendation of the Minister for Health. Directors of health services are appointed to health service boards for up to a period of 
3 years. After a director serves their respective term (and they have not reached a maximum tenure of 9 years), they become eligible for reappointment and can 
reapply. However, there is no right to reappointment. The balance of skills and experience within the BOD is kept under continual review. The BOD is responsible 
for the governance and strategic direction of WDHS and is committed to ensuring that the services it provides comply with their legislative requirements and the 
Objectives, Mission and Vision of the Service, within the resources provided. In the course of their duties, the BOD and Executive may seek independent advice 
from a range of sources. The BOD reviews operating information monthly in order to continually assess the performance of WDHS against its objectives and is 
also responsible for appointing and evaluating the performance of the Chief Executive. 

Corporate Governance
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Governance Statement
The Board is a strong advocate of corporate and 
clinical governance and seeks to ensure that the 
Health Service fulfils its governance obligations 
and responsibilities to stakeholders.

The Board is committed to:
 y Sound, transparent corporate governance 

and accountable management
 y Provision of high quality and innovative 

care, reflective of its Mission and Vision
 y Conduct that is ethical and consistent with 

the Health Service values and community 
values and standards

 y Management of risk and protection of Health 
Service staff, clients and assets

 y Due diligence in complying with statutory 
requirements, acts, regulations and codes 
of practice

 y Continuous quality improvement, innovation 
and research.

Ethics
Board members are required by the Health Services 
Act, 1988 to act with integrity and objectivity at all 
times. They are required to declare any pecuniary 
interest or conflict of interest during Board debate and 
to withdraw from proceedings if necessary. There 
were no instances requiring declaration this year.

Risk Management
Risk management is an all of organisation 
activity, requiring appropriate action to be taken 
to minimise or eliminate risk that could result in 
personal injury, damage to, or loss of assets.

BOARD COMMITTEES 
In order to ensure the effective operation of 
the BOD, the Board has membership on 13 
committees, which meet as required and report 
back to the BOD. 
Finance and Audit 
Advises the BOD on all aspects of internal and 
external audits, financial and asset risk, accounting 
procedures, financial reporting, and compliance 
with statutory requirements. Jim Bailey and Jason 
Bourke were the external Committee representatives 
in 2018/19. The Committee received internal 
audit reports regarding compliance with Financial 
Management Compliance Framework and the share 
portfolio treatment of equity investments under 
AASB 9. It reviewed the status of recommendations 
from audits conducted of the processes and 
procedures of Western District Health Service, 
along with Victorian Auditor General’s Office reports 
and recommendations. The Committee was kept 
informed of the progress of the revaluation of all 
non-current physical assets conducted in 2019 
along with any accounting standard updates 
and the progress of compliance with standards, 
including Leases, Revenue and Service Concession 
Arrangements, along with all other legislative 
requirements. Notification was presented of the 
compliance with the Standing Directions of the 
Minister for Finance particularly relating to the 
Centralised Banking System. Five meetings were 
held during the year. 

Clinical Appointments Advisory 
Advises the BOD on appointments, reappointments, 
suspensions and terminations of visiting medical 
practitioners and hospital medical officers and 
issues related to the credentialing and scope of 
practice of nurses and allied health workers. Two 
meetings were held during the year.

Medical Consultative 
Makes recommendations on matters relating to 
medical staff and clinical services provided and to 
ensure effective interaction and communication 
between members of the Senior Medical staff, the 
Board, senior management and the Medical Staff 
Association on all medical aspects of healthcare 
and other relevant matters. Four meetings were held 
during the year.

Quality and Safety
Provides support and direction for continuous quality 
improvement and performance monitoring. Ensures 
systems are in place for internal / external review. 
Topsy Baulch was the community representative. Six 
meetings were held during the year. 

Development Council 
Oversees and guides the WDHS fundraising 
strategy. The Council operates in compliance with 
the Fundraising Appeals Act 1998. Community 
representatives for 2018/19 were Carly Behncke, 
Megan Campbell, Leesa Iredell, Elizabeth Macgugan 
(Resigned October 2018), and Vicki Whyte. New 
members Anna Robertson and Coby Brewis joined in 
December 2018 and Michael King in April 2019. Six 
meetings were held during the year. 

Penshurst (PDHS) Advisory 
Reviews the operation, performance and strategic 
planning of the Penshurst campus. Community 
representatives were Don Adamson, Lucy Cameron, 
Tom Nieuwveld, Wendy Williams, Anna Watson and 
Trevor Godenzi. Six meetings were held during the 
year. 

NCFH Board of Management 
The NCFH Board of Management reviews the 
operation, performance, and strategic planning of 
the Centre. Deakin University representatives in 
2018/19 were Professor Catherine Bennett and 
Professor Jon Watson. With continuing funding 
guaranteed for the NCFH, the NCFH Board of 
Management and Advisory Groups have been 
working to develop the 2019-2023 Strategic Plan. 
Four meetings were held during the year.  

Remuneration 
Oversees and sets remuneration policy and practice 
for Executive staff, under the principles of the 
Government Sector Executive Remuneration Panel. 
One meeting was held during the year. 

Community Advisory 
Provides consumer views and advice to the Board 
on planning, implementation and evaluation of 
health services. Community representatives were 
Skye Grigg, Pastor Rick Penny, Topsy Baulch, Ian 
McIntyre (from Sept 2018) and Pam McLeod (from 
May 2019). Six meetings were held during the year. 

Coleraine (CDHS) Management
Reviews operations, performance and strategic 
planning for the Coleraine campus. Community 
representatives were Kim Chintock, Alan Millard, 
Catherine Novikov, Sharon Mowatt (from October 
2018), Narelle Ness, Shannon Raymond. Youth 
Board Observer, Tayla Ness (until December 2018). 
WDHS BOD representatives were Greg Walcott (until 
October 2018), Ian Whiting (from November 2018). 
Five meetings were held during the year. 

Project Control Group 
The function of the Project Control Group is to 
oversee and monitor the progress of specific capital 
projects, with particular emphasis on the scope of 
works, the works program, quality, cost, expenditure 
and completion of projects to meet service needs of 
consumers. Ten meetings were held during the year. 

Aged Care Governance
Aged Care Governance was established as a 
Board Sub-Committee in March 2019. The primary 
function is to assist the Board to lead and assure 
high quality, safe and innovative aged care services 
across WDHS. Health Service leaders have a 
responsibility to the community for the continuous 
improvement of their services, ensuring they are 
customer centred, safe, high quality and innovative. 

Two meetings were held since March 2019.  

Community 4 Youth Board (C4YB) 
The purpose of the Community 4 Youth Board is to 
address the needs of young people in the Southern 
Grampians region. The Board works collaboratively 
and in partnership to achieve outcomes and 
provides young people with valuable experience 
working in a formal board setting. The Board 
discusses improvements WDHS can make to ensure 
young people are accessing the services they need.

Community representatives: Ben Hunter, Emma 
Nicholas, Karen Walsh, Melanie Russell, Paul Walsh, 
Susan Kimber. 

Student representatives: 

Monivae College – Louis Beaton, Vania McCaskill, 
Bella Cutchie, Lily Annett

Good Shepherd College – Shannen Wedding, 
Jonathan Rentsch, Belle Stickland, Claire Schultz

Hamilton and Alexandra College (HAC) - Isabella 
Bradbeer, James Sutherland, Reagan Simons, Kate 
Millear, Claudia Roberts, Sami Zehir 

Baimbridge College – Daniel Battista, Harley 
Addinsall, Chandler Baker-Joseph, Leah Gardiner, 
Ksenija Gilchrsit, John Garland, Liam McCallum

Parklands - Bailey McGennisken, Brittney Bray

Four meetings were held during the year. 

The Executive
The members of the Executive are Chief Executive, 
Director of Corporate Services, Chief Medical 
Officer, Director of Nursing, Director of Primary 
and Preventative Health, Manager / DON Coleraine 
– Director of Aged Care Services Coleraine & 
Penshurst, Director of Aged and Home Care 
Services Hamilton, Director, National Centre for 
Farmer Health. The Executive met 22 times during 
the year, providing regular reports to the BOD.

Corporate Governance
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Chief Executive
ROHAN FITZGERALD BCom
Rohan commenced as the Chief Executive in 
August 2014. He was previously Chief Executive 
at Stawell Regional Health and has held senior 
management positions at Latrobe Regional 
Hospital and Central Gippsland Health Service. 
Rohan was a Health Purchasing Victoria Board 
Member and a Latrobe City Councillor. He is 
passionate about rural health and supporting 
communities to receive high quality services 
close to home. Prior to entering the health sector 
Rohan worked as an accountant.

Director of Corporate Services
NICHOLAS STARKIE BBus, MIPA DipTS 
(Bus),Grad Cert Bus Admin
Nick commenced his career at WDHS in the 
Finance Team at Coleraine in 1994 and held the 
position of Manager, Finance and Budget from 
2006 to 2016. Nick has extensive experience in 
the healthcare sector and brings a broad range of 
commercial, people and financial management 
skills to the role. Nick’s interests include improving 
procurement and supply chain management 
practices and supporting the delivery of a 
comprehensive range of high quality corporate and 
financial services across the organisation.

Chief Medical Officer
DR DALE FORD MBBS, FRACGP, FACRRM
Dr Ford has worked in Hamilton for over 30 
years. He graduated from Melbourne University 
in 1978 and trained at St Vincents, PANCH 
and Hamilton Hospital. Dr Ford is a health 
policy advocate and currently works with 
the AHPC to improve health outcomes for all 
Australians. He is Principal Clinical Advisor for 
the Improvement Foundation Australia, which 
runs the largest Practice Improvement Program 
in Australia. He has many other roles in health 
quality improvement, has a number of peer 
reviewed journal articles published and has 
presented on quality improvement in health 
throughout Australia and overseas.

Director of Nursing (Hamilton)
LORRAINE HEDLEY RN, BA Nursing (Post 
Registration), MACN

Lorraine commenced her career at WDHS as 
a nursing student in 1986 and has worked in 
a variety of clinical and senior management 
roles across the organisation. During her 
career Lorraine has established strong clinical 
governance and leadership capabilities, as 
well as highly developed business acumen 
and analytical skills. Lorraine has completed 
further training in oncology and emergency 
nursing and a Bachelor of Nursing - Post 
Registration through Monash University. Prior 
to her appointment, Lorraine was the Assistant 
Director of Nursing / Business Manager. 

Director of Primary and Preventative 
Health 
JAMES 'MAC' MCINNES BSW, DipSW, PCHSM
Mac commenced as PPH Director in 2017. 
He previously held a number of positions at 
South West Healthcare, working in Aboriginal 
Health, Social Work and Counselling and as the 
Manager of Community Adult Mental Health 
Services. Mac emigrated from Scotland in 
2011, where he held a number of managerial 
positions across the full spectrum of the Social 
Work field. Mac is passionate about improving 
health outcomes for people in regional areas.

Director of Aged and Home Care 
Services Hamilton
KATHERINE ARMSTRONG RN, BAppSci 
(Nursing), Grad Cert Bus Admin
Katherine has worked at WDHS for 27 years 
and in various roles in aged care since 1993. 
These include Nurse Unit Manager at the 
Grange, Aged Care Quality Coordinator, 
Assistant Director of Nursing, Aged Care 
(Hamilton) and Director of Nursing/Manager 
Penshurst. Katherine has a long standing 
commitment to improving the quality of aged 
care services for the local community.

DON / Manager Coleraine & 
Director of Aged Care Services 
(Coleraine & Penshurst)
BRONWYN ROBERTS RN, ICU Cert, Grad Cert
Bus Admin, MACN
Bronwyn has worked at WDHS and Ballarat 
Base Hospital for over 30 years and has held 
senior management positions in Acute Care 
/ ICU / Emergency and led many successful 
projects over the last 20 years. Bronwyn 
was Deputy Director of Nursing (Hamilton 
Base Hospital) from 2004 - 2013 and DON / 
Manager at Penshurst, before commencing her 
role at Coleraine in 2016.

Director of National Centre for 
Farmer Health
PROFESSOR SUSAN BRUMBY RN, RM, 
DipFMgt, MHM, PhD AFCHSE, MACN, GAICD, FARL
Sue is the founding Director of the National 
Centre for Farmer Health. She leads the 
implementation of key strategies to make 
a difference to farmers’ lives, blending a 
theoretical and practical understanding of 
agriculture, health and rural communities. 
Sue is Course Director of the award winning 
Graduate Certificate in Agricultural Health and 
Medicine, and has successfully led numerous 
research projects on farmer health, wellbeing 
and safety. She has been recognised for her 
contribution to rural health, undertaken overseas 
studies and presented and published nationally 
and internationally on farmer health. Sue is a 
Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors, Life Fellow of the Australian Rural 
Leadership Program and an appointed member 
of the Victorian Agricultural Advisory Council.

 R L-R: Executive team members, James 'Mac' McInnes, Bronwyn Roberts, 
Rohan Fitzgerald, Professor Susan Brumby, Katherine Armstrong, 
Lorraine Hedley, Dr Dale Ford and Nicholas Starkie.

Executive Team



 

26

Senior Staff

Chief Executive
Rohan Fitzgerald BCom

People, Culture & Development 
Manager
Ilze Keevy B.Iuris, LLB, LLD (Legum Doctor), 
Post Grad Dip in Health and Social Welfare 
Management

Education Manager
Dorothy McLaren BA, MA (to Feb 2019)
Neil O'Donnell Cert in Education; BIS; Cert 
Business Management; MBA (Technology) 
(Acting - Feb to May 2019)

Community Liaison Manager
Brigid Kelly BA Journalism

CORPORATE SERVICES
Director 
Nicholas Starkie BBus, MIPA DipTS (Bus),Grad 
Cert Bus Admin

Finance & Budget Manager
Nick Templeton BCom, CPA

Group Manager Support Services
John Hedley Dip VET, Cert IV Training & 
Assessment, Cert IV Commercial Cookery 

Facility Manager
Trevor Wathen Dip Frontline Mgt, MFAM

Subregional Collaboration Project 
Manager
Patrick Turnbull BBus, BHA, FCPA

Business Improvement Leader 
Neil O'Donnell Cert in Education; BIS; Cert 
Business Management; MBA (Technology)
Bianca Todd BA Sociology, Cert. Applied & 
Visual Arts (Acting - Feb to July 2019)

Chief Health Information Manager
Sally Graham BAppSci, HIM

NURSING & AGED CARE

Director of Nursing (Hamilton)
Lorraine Hedley RN, BA Nursing (Post 
Registration), MACN 

HBH After Hours Coordinators 
Leanne Deutscher RN 
Tonia Evans RN Grad Dip Critical Care 
Vipin Joseph RN 
Shamim Mahabeer RN, RM Grad Dip Critical 
Care, Grad Dip Midwifery 
Dianne Nagorcka RN, Peri-op Cert, BN
Dianne Raymond RN 
Kathryn Ross RN Grad Dip Critical Care 
Sonia Shaw RN, RM - BA Nursing, Grad Dip 
Midwifery 
Nurse Unit Manager Medical 

Aisling Cunningham RN (to Sept 2018 and 
from Dec 2018 to Feb 2019)
Shamim Mahabeer (From May to Nov 2018) 
RN, RM Grad Dip Critical Care, Grad Dip 
Midwifery 
Abbie Soawyer RN (Feb to May 2019)

Nurse Unit Manager Intensive Care / 
Emergency Department 
David Briggs BSc Nursing, MACN, Grad Cert 
Critical Care, Cert IV Work,Health & Safety, 
Cert IV Training & Assessment 

Nurse Unit Manager Surgical/ 
Obstetrics/ Paediatrics 
Vinu Karukapparambil Sebastian (Acting) RN 

Nurse Unit Manager Theatre/CSSD 
Mark Stevenson RN, PeriopCert, 
GradCertBusAdmin, Sterilisation & Infection 
Control Cert

Infection Control & Wound Care 
Clinical Nurse Consultant 
Lesley Stewart RN, Sterilisation & Infection 
Control Cert, Post Grad Cert Wound 
Management

Maternity Service Clinical Nurse 
Consultant 
Sonia Shaw RN, RM - BA Nursing, Grad Dip 
Midwifery 

Cancer Services Clinical Nurse 
Consultant 
Carmen Jacobs BA Nursing, Module 2 Cert 
Oncology Nursing

CDHS & PDHS
DON / Manager Coleraine & Director 
of Aged Care Services (Coleraine & 
Penshurst)
Bronwyn Roberts RN, ICU Cert, Grad Cert Bus 
Admin, MACN

Director of Nursing Penshurst
Catherine Loria RN (from Dec 2018)
Aisling Cunningham RN (from Sept to Nov 
2018)
Virginia Quirk RN, RM, Grad Dip Family and 
Child Health (to Sept 2018)

Nurse Unit Manager Penshurst
Julie Riches RN (from Jun 2019)
Penny Holmes RN (to Dec 2018)

Nurse Unit Manager Coleraine
Susan Jones  RN, Grad Cert (Infection 
Control), MA (Health Services Management) 
(from March 2019)
Andrew Dean, RN (from Dec 2018 to Mar 
2019)
Lorace Parsons RN (from Jun to Dec 2018)

Director of Aged & Home Care 
Services Hamilton
Katherine Armstrong RN, BAppSci (Nursing), 
Grad Cert Bus Admin

Nurse Unit Manager The Birches
Eryn Cottier RN BA Nursing, Cert IV in Training 
& Assessment, Accredited Nurse Immuniser

Nurse Unit Manager The Grange 
Erin Rhook, RN 

MEDICAL SERVICES
Chief Medical Officer
Dr Dale Ford MBBS, FRACGP, FACRRM

Quality Manager
Aisling Cunningham, RN (from Feb 2019)
Dr Susan Denney PhD (Environmental 
Chemistry), Bsc (Hons) (to Jan 2019)

Director of Pharmacy
Dayo Ayorinde B. Pharm (OAU) 
PGDipClinPharm (UTAS) (from Jan 2019)
John Okorah B. Pharm, MPS, Masters Health 
& Human Services Management, Adv Dip 
Management (to Oct 2018)

SENIOR MEDICAL STAFF
Anaesthetics (Director)
Evelina Shepherd MD (Czech Rep)

Anaesthetists in General Practice
Craig deKievit MBBS, DRANZCOG, FACRRM
Kim Fielke MBBS, DRANZCOG, DA (UK), 
FRACGP
Stephanie Giddy MBBS, BSc, JCCA

Anaesthesia and Pain Management 
Specialist
Associate Professor Malcolm Hogg, MBBS, 
Grad Dip (PM), FANZCA, FPMANZCA, FIPP

General Practitioners
John Craig deKievit MBBS (Adelaide), 
DRANZCOG, FACRRM
Dale Ford MBBS, FRACGP, FACRRM
Allan Mark Johnson MBBS(HON) (Sydney) 
Grad Dip Counselling and Psychotherapy 
(Essex)
Robey Joyce MB, ChB (Pretoria)
Andrew McAllan MBBS, MMed (Ophth) 
FRACGP
Alan Reid MBBS FRACGP Dip RANZCOG (Adv)
Susan Robertson MBBS, FRACGP, Dip Obs 
RACOG DipPallCare
Jan Slabbert MB, ChB (Free State), FRACGP
Amy Tai MBBS B Med Sc DRANZCOG 
Advanced DCH FACRRM DipCH
Amanda Teo MBBS (Honours) FRACGP
Leesa Walker MBBS, FRACGP
Brian Coulson MBBS, FACRRM, Dip O&G
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Greta Prozesky MB, ChB, FRACGP 
Linda Thompson BMS, FRACGP 
Khaled Moussa BM 
Yong Yu MBBS
Gaya Ekanyake MBBS

General Practitioner Registrar
Stephanie Giddy MBBS, BSc, JCCA
Joanne Radcliffe MBBS
Kate Turnbull MBBS
Ei Thinzar Hlaing MBBS
Phyo Kyaw MBBS, Diploma in Child Health
Yota Yoshimitsu BMBS
Richard Lunz Bachelor of Medicine / Bachelor 
of Surgery

Endocrinologists
Fergus Cameron B Med Sci, MD, BS, Dip 
RACOG,FRACP
Peter Simm MBBS (Hons) MD FRACP 
(Paediatric)

General Surgeons
Stephen Clifforth MBBS, FRACS
Uvarasen Kumarswami Naidoo MBcHB, FCS, 
FRACS
Richard Moore MA(Contab) MB BChir, FRCS 
(England)

Hospital Medical Officers
Mohanad Abody, Bachelor of Medicine, 
Bachelor of Surgery (Iraq)
Rana Karakchi, Bachelor of Medicine, Bachelor 
of Surgery (Iraq)

Nephrologist
Professor Steven Holt BSc, BBS, PHD, FRCP, 
FRACP

Obstetrician / Gynaecologist 
Christopher Beaton MB.ChB, FRANZCOG 
Rosemary Buchanan MBBS, FRANZCOG
Clare Myers MBBS, FRANZCOG

Obstetricians in General Practice
Craig deKievit MBBS (Adelaide), DRANZCOG, 
FACRRM
Jan Slabbert MB, ChB, (Free State), FRACGP
Amy Tai MBBS B Med Sc DRANZCOG 
Advanced DCH FACRRM DipCH
Alan Reid MBBS FRACGP Dip RANZCOG (Adv)

Oncologist
David Campbell MBBS, FRACP 
Stephen Brown MBBS FRACP
Sharad Sharma MBBS FRACP

Ophthalmologist
Vincent Lee MBBS, MMed, FRACS, FRANZCO

Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons
Solanki Nishtha Sureshehandra BDSc 
Graeme Fowler LDS, BDSc, MDSc, FDSRCPS 

Orthopaedic Surgeons
Rick Cunningham MBBS, FRACS (Orth)
Alasdair Sutherland MB, ChB,FRCS 
Ed,MD(Hons) FRCSEd(Tr & Orth),GMC 
Registration,CCST,FRACS (Orth)
John Dillon MB, BAO, BCh, MD, FRCS Orth, 
FRACS Orth
Ulf Langraf MBBS, MD

Otolaryngologists
Anne Cass MBBS, FRACS

Paediatrician
Christian Fiedler MD, (KIEL), FRACP

Pathologist
David Clift MBBS, FRCPA 
David Blaxland MBBS, FRAPA

Physicians
Andrew Bowman MBChB 
(Zimb),LRCP(Edin),LR CS(Edin), 
LRCP&S(Glas), FRCP(UK),CCST(UK), FRACP
Andrew Bradbeer MBBS, FRACP
Trevor Branken MB. ChB (Birm) FCP (Sth 
Africa), FRACP
Win Win Myint MBBS, M Med.Sc (Int Med), 
MRCP (UK), FRCP (Edin), FRACP
Asma Albtoosh MBBS
Eduardo Gaio MD MSc PhD FRACP
Nader Fayazi MBBS (Iran)

Radiologists 
Damien Cleeve MBBS, FRACR 
John Eng MBBS, FRANZCR
Robert Jarvis MBBS, FRACR
Sarah Skinner BMBS, FRANZCR 
Julius Tamangani MBChB (Hons), MSc, FRCR 
Jill Wilkie BSc (Hons), MBBS, MRCP, FRCR Dr 
Rachel Battye MBBS, FRANZCR
Samuel Kruger MBBS FRANZCR

Urologists
Richard Grills MBBS, FRACS

Visiting Medical Officers 
Barwon Health – one general medicine intern, 
five emergency PGY3, two surgical registrars, 
three medical registrars
St Vincent’s Hospital – two general surgical 
interns, two general medicine interns

PRIMARY & PREVENTATIVE HEALTH
Director 
James ‘Mac’ McInnes BSW, DipSW, PCHSM

Manager Community Nursing Services
Sue Morrissey RN, Grad Dip Health Science 
(Management), Grad Cert Rehabilitation

Complex Care Team Leader, Cardiac 
Rehab / Cancer Care Coordinator
Robyn Beaton RN 

District Nursing Services Coordinator
Anne-Marree Simmonds RN

District Nursing Services Coordinator 
(TCP & HITH) 
Anne Pekin RN / Jen Membrey RN

Chief Dietitian
Jodie Nelson BHSc (Nutrition&Dietetics) 
Diploma of Management (2009)

Chief Occupational Therapist
Sarah Baker B.AppSci (OT) Hons

Chief Physiotherapist
Tatum Pretorius BSc (Physio)

Manager Speech Pathology
Karen Abdullah BA Speech Pathology

Chief Podiatrist
Phuong Huynh MSc, BAppSci(Pod), MAPodA, 
AAPSM

Men's Health Nurse Practitioner 
Stuart Willder MnSc (Nurse Practitioner) Grad 
Dip ICU, CCU
Grad Dip Men's Health

Women's Health Nurse Practitioner 
Susan Watt MnSc (Nurse Practitioner), Grd Dip 
Community Health and Development, RN, RM

Senior Counsellor
Frances Kelly BA Human Sciences & Social 
Work, Grad Cert in Case Management 

South West Community Transport 
Coordinator 
Jeanette Ryan Dip CS, Dip PM, EN

PRIMARY CARE PARTNERSHIP
Executive Officer SGGPCP
Janette Lowe MBA, BEng

NATIONAL CENTRE FARMER HEALTH
Director
Professor Susan Brumby RN, RM, DipFMgt, 
MHM, PhD AFCHSE, MACN, GAICD, FARL 

Senior Staff
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Domain Action Deliverable Outcomes

BETTER HEALTH 

A system geared to 
prevention as much as 
treatment. 

Everyone understands their 
own health and risks.

Illness is detected and 
managed early. 

Healthy neighbourhoods 
and communities encourage 
healthy lifestyles. 

 y Reduce statewide risks

 y Build healthy neighbourhoods

 y Help people to stay healthy 

 y Target health gaps

 y Introduce only green category best food choices 
in the cafeteria in accordance with the Victorian 
Government’s Healthy Choices guidelines.  Staff 
will be invited to participate in a voluntary survey 
to describe their diet and physical activity-
related behaviours to evaluate the effectiveness 
of workplace initiatives on improving staff 
members’ health and wellbeing.

Became first public hospital 
in Australia to introduce a 
green only menu. Surveyed 
180 staff with Deakin 
University and released the 
results. 

BETTER ACCESS

Care is always there when 
people need it.

More access to care in the 
home and community.

People are connected to the 
full range of care and support 
they need.

There is equal access to care.

 y Plan and invest  y Implement a new nursing staffing model 
for the Emergency Department to optimise 
patient workflow and experience, and to meet 
the requirements of the Safe Patient Care Act 
(2015).

New model of care was 
introduced and is fully 
operational.

 y Ensure fair access  y Partner with local specialists and the 
Department of Health and Human Services 
to further develop a day procedure centre 
proposal.

Advised by the DHHS that 
this was not a priority. Project 
on hold.

BETTER CARE

Target zero avoidable harm. 
Healthcare that focuses on 
outcomes.

Patients and carers are

active partners in care.

Care fits together around 
people’s needs.

 y Put quality first Join up care

 y Partner with patients Strengthen the workforce Embed evidence

 y Ensure equal care

 y Complete a gap analysis and action plan to 
implement best practice cognitive impairment 
(dementia and delirium) management across 
Western District Health Service.

Gap analysis is complete.

 y Develop and implement a supportive model 
of care for cancer patients including the 
development and delivery of a cancer 
survivorship program.

New cancer support model 
of care introduced and 
program commenced.

 y Embed the research findings of the 20 Minute 
Rounding research across Western District 
Health Service to prevent falls and fall related 
injuries.

Organisation 20 Minute 
Rounding project 
implemented and integrated 
into practice.

Specific 2018/19 priorities 
(mandatory)

 y Disability Action Plans

 y Draft disability action plans are completed in 2018/19.

 y Review and update Western District Health 
Service’s Disability Action Plan to comply with 
current guidelines.

Disability Plan has been 
updated and reviewed.

 y Volunteer engagement

 y Ensure that the health service executives have appropriate measures to 
engage and recognise volunteers.

 y Review organisational reward and recognition 
policies to include volunteers.  Actively celebrate 
volunteers’ contribution through a volunteer of 
the  month program and host biannual volunteer 
thank you events.

Policy has been updated and 
we continue to award and 
recognise volunteers.

Bullying and harassment

 y Actively promote positive workplace behaviours and encourage reporting. 
Utilise staff surveys, incident reporting data, outcomes of investigations 
and claims to regularly monitor and identify risks related to bullying and 
harassment, in particular include as a regular item in Board and Executive 
meetings. Appropriately investigate all reports of bullying and harassment 
and ensure there is a feedback mechanism to staff involved and the 
broader health service staff.

 y Leaders will actively work with staff to identify 
poor culture and workplace behaviours and 
create a culture that aligns with organisational 
values and policies with a focus on learning, 
improvement and prevention and supporting 
equity and diversity.

Bullying and harassment 
training provided to all staff 
and Leadership Program 
delivered to support and 
improve culture.

Occupational violence

 y Ensure all staff who have contact with patients and visitors have 
undertaken core occupational violence training, annually. Ensure the 
department’s occupational violence and aggression training principles are 
implemented.

 y Carry out the installation of a swipe card system 
and camera upgrade to the Hamilton and 
Penshurst campuses through a grant from the 
Health Service Violence Prevention Fund.

Tender completed and 
contract awarded. Installation 
will commence in 2020.

Environmental Sustainability

 y Actively contribute to the development of the Victorian Government’s 
policy to be net zero carbon by 2050 and improve environmental 
sustainability by identifying and implementing projects, including 
workforce education, to reduce material environmental impacts with 
particular consideration of procurement and waste management, and 
publicly reporting environmental performance data, including measurable 
targets related to reduction of clinical, sharps and landfill waste, water 
and energy use and improved recycling.

 y Improve environmental performance by 
integrating sustainability considerations into 
business, with the introduction of solar photo 
voltaic systems across five campuses and the 
installation of new more efficient steam boilers 
at Hamilton Base Hospital.

New boilers installed at 
Hamilton Base Hospital 
and solar panel installation 
completed.

LGBTI

 y Develop and promulgate service level policies and protocols, in 
partnership with LGBTI communities, to avoid discrimination against 
LGBTI patients, ensure appropriate data collection, and actively promote 
rights to free expression of gender and sexuality in healthcare settings. 
Where relevant, services should offer leading practice approaches to 
trans and intersex related interventions.

 y Undertake a  gap analysis against Rainbow 
eQuality guide and develop an action plan for 
implementation by 30 June 2019 in preparation 
for possible future accreditation.

Gap analysis complete.

Statement of Priorities Agreement
Strategic Priorities for 2018/19. In 2018/19 Western District Health Service will contribute to the achievement of the 
Victorian Government’s commitments by:
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Statement of Priorities Agreement

High Quality and Safe Care
Key Performance Indicator Target 2018/19 Actual
Accreditation
Accreditation against the National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards Accredited Accredited

Compliance with the Commonwealth’s Aged Care Accreditation Standards
Accredited Accredited*- full compliance 

not achieved across all 
standards

Infection Prevention and Control
Compliance with the Hand Hygiene Australia program 80% 87.8%
Percentage of healthcare workers immunised for influenza 80% 97.7%

Patient Experience

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey –  percentage of positive patient experience responses 95% 96.3%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey –  percentage of very positive responses to questions on discharge care 75% 85.4%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey –  patients perception of cleanliness 70% 83.8%

Healthcare Associated Infections (HAI's)

Number of patients with ICU central line associated bloodstream infection (CLABSI) Nil Nil

Adverse Events

Sentinel events – root cause analysis (RCA) reporting
All RCA reports submitted 

within 30 business days
Achieved

Maternity and Newborn

Rate of singleton term infants without birth anomalies with APGAR score <7 to 5 minutes ≤ 1.4% 0.7%

Rate of severe foetal growth restriction (FGR) in singleton pregnancy undelivered by 40 weeks ≤ 28.6% 0.0%

Continuing Care

Functional independence gain from an episode of rehabilitation admission to discharge relative to length of stay ≥ 0.645 1.783

Strong Governance, Leadership and Culture
Key Performance Indicator Target 2018/19 Actual
Organisational Culture

People matter survey - percentage of staff with an overall positive response to safety and culture questions 80% 92%

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, "I am encouraged by my colleagues to report any 
patient safety concerns I may have"

80% 98%

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, "Patient care errors are handled appropriately in my work area" 80% 97%

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, "My suggestions about patient safety would be acted 
upon if I expressed them to my manager"

80% 93%

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, "The culture in my work area makes it easy to learn 
from the errors of others"

80% 93%

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, "Management is driving us to be a safety-centred organisation" 80% 95%

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, "This health service does a good job of training new and 
existing staff"

80% 84%

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, "Trainees in my discipline are adequately supervised" 80% 85%

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, "I would recommend a friend or relative to be treated as 
a patient here"

80% 90%

Timely Access to Care
Key Performance Indicator Target 2018/19 Actual

Emergency Care

Percentage of patients transferred from ambulance to emergency department within 40 minutes 90% 99%

Percentage of Triage Category 1 emergency patients seen immediately 100% 100%

Percentage of Triage Category 1 to 5 emergency patients seen within clinically recommended time 80% 92%

Percentage of emergency patients with a length of stay in the emergency department of less than four hours 81% 81%

Number of patients with a length of stay in the emergency department greater than 24 hours 0 0

Percentage of urgent patients referred by a GP or external specialist who attended a first appointment within 30 days 100% Data not available

Percentage of routine patients referred by GP or external specialist who attended a first appointment within 365 days 90% Data not available

Effective Financial Management
Key Performance Indicator Target 2018/19 Actual
Finance

Operating result ($m) -0.80 0.06

Average number of days to paying trade creditors 60 days 37

Average number of days to receiving patient fee debtors 60 days 45

Public and Private WIES1 activity performance to target 100% 101%

Adjusted current asset ratio
0.7 or 3% improvement from 

health service base target
1.59

Forecast number of days a health service can maintain its operations with unrestricted available cash (based on end of year forecast) 14 days 120.5

Actual number of days a health service can maintain its operations with unrestricted available cash, measured on the last day of each month 14 days Achieved

Measures the accuracy of forecasting the Net result from transactions (NRFT) for the current financial year ending 30 June Variance ≤ $250,000 0.42

*An unannounced inspection of the Birches by the Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission in Quarter 4, found that 5 of 44 expected accreditation outcomes were 'not met'. A notification of 'serious risk' was also 
issued. A follow up visit found that all 44 outcomes were met. Over this time, the service retained its accreditation from the Commonwealth Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission.

(1) Diagnostic Related Group
(2) GEM is Geriatric Evaluation and Management

(3) Weighted Inlier Equivalent Separations
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Statement of Priorities Agreement

Funding Type 2018/19 Activity Achieved
ACUTE ADMITTED

WIES Public 4670

WIES Private 1014

WIES DVA 119

Other Admitted 27

ACUTE NON-ADMITTED

Emergency Services 7926

Home Enteral Nutrition 32

Specialist Clinics 6884

SUBACUTE & NON-ACUTE ADMITTED

Subacute WIES - Rehabilitation Public 93.21

Subacute WIES - Rehabilitation Private 10.43

Subacute WIES - GEM Public 22.65

Subacute WIES - GEM Private 2.06

Subacute WIES - Palliative Care Public 24.2

Subacute WIES - Palliative Care Private 6.48

Subacute WIES - DVA 8.28

Transition Care - Bed days 911

Transition Care - Home days 678

SUB ACUTE NON-ADMITTED

Palliative Care Non-admitted 687

Health Independence Program - Public 15002

AGED CARE

Residential Aged Care 54420

HACC

Aged Care Other 5969

MENTAL HEALTH & DRUG SERVICES

Mental Health Residential 970

PRIMARY HEALTH

Community Health / Primary Care Programs 2032

SMALL RURAL

Small Rural Acute 1408

Small Rural Primary Health & HACC 1970
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ICT Expenditure
The total ICT expenditure incurred during 2018/19 was $2,244,229 (excluding GST) with the details shown below:

Business As Usual (BAU) 
ICT Expenditure

Total 
(exc. GST)

Non-Business As Usual
(non-BAU) ICT Expenditure

Total = Operational Expenditure & 
Capital Expenditure (exc. GST)

Operational Expenditure
(exc. GST)

Capital Expenditure
(exc. GST)

$1,807,283 $436,946 $436,946 -

Financial Management Act (1994)
In accordance with the Direction of the Minister 
for Finance part 9.1.3 (IV), information 
requirements have been prepared and are 
available to the relevant Minister, Members of 
Parliament and the public on request.

Fees
WDHS charges fees in accordance with the 
Commonwealth Department of Health and 
Aged Care, the Commonwealth Department of 
Family Services and the Department of Health 
(Vic) directives, issued under Regulation 8 of 
the Hospital and Charities (Fees) Regulations 
1986, as amended.

Safe Patient Care Act (2015)
Western District Health Service has no matters to 
report in relation to its obligations under section 
40 of the Safe Patient Care Act 2015.

Local Jobs First Policy Act (2003) 
WDHS abides by the Local Jobs First Policy 
Act 2003. In 2018/19 there were no contracts 
requiring disclosure under the Local Jobs First 
Policy.

Carers Recognition Act (2012)
The Carers Recognition Act 2012 recognises, 
promotes and values the role of people in 
care relationships. WDHS understands the 
different needs of people in care relationships 
and that care relationships bring benefits to the 
patients, their carers and to the community. 
WDHS takes all practicable measures to ensure 
that its employees, agents and carers have 
an awareness and understanding of the care 
relationship principles and this is reflected in 
our commitment to a model of patient and 
family centred care and to involving carers in 
the development and delivery of our services.

Freedom of Information (FOI) Act 
(1982)
Access to documents and records held by 
WDHS may be requested under the Freedom 
of Information Act 1982. Consumers wishing 
to access documents should apply in writing 
to the FOI Officer at WDHS. This year 111 FOI 
requests were received and all were granted 
in full.

Protected Disclosure Act (2012)
WDHS has in place appropriate procedures for 
disclosure in accordance with the Protected 
Disclosure Act 2012. No protected disclosures 
were made under the Act in 2018/19.

Compliance with DataVic Access 
Policy 
Consistent with the DataVic Access Policy 
issued by the Victorian Government in 2012, all 
data tables included in this Annual Report will 
be available at http://www.data.vic. gov.au/ in 
machine readable format.

Competitive Neutrality
All competitive neutrality requirements were 
met in accordance with Government costing 
policies for public hospitals.

Declarations of Pecuniary Interest
All necessary declarations have been 
completed. Refer to Note 8.6 of the Financial 
Statements.

Legislative Compliance

Occupational Violence Statistics 2018/19

Workcover accepted claims with an occupational violence cause per 100 FTE Nil

Number of accepted Workcover claims with lost time injury with an occupational violence cause per 1,000,000 hours worked Nil

Number of occupational violence incidents reported 62

Number of occupational violence incidents reported per 100 FTE 11.1157

Percentage of occupational violence incidents resulting in a staff injury, illness or condition 0

  Consultancies > $10,000
Consultant Purpose of 

Consultancy

Start Date End Date Total Approved
Project Fee 
(exc GST)

Expenditure 
2018/19 

(exc GST)

Future Expenditure 
(exc GST)

Michael Rhook VCDC Costing 1/9/2017 30/9/2019  54,988  17,984 16,284

The Culture Group Leadership Development 1/6/2019 1/12/2019  39,420  39,420 

Elizabeth Rankin Day Surgery Business Case 1/7/2018 30/6/2019  96,000  25,112 

Lifemastery NCFH Strategic Planning 1/11/2018 31/12/2018  11,000  11,000 

Total 201,408 93,516 16,284

Consultancies
In 2018/19 Western District Health Service engaged three consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were less than $10,000. In 
2018/19 there were four consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were $10,000 or greater. The total expenditure incurred during 
2018/19 in relation to these consultancies is $93,516 (ex GST). For details of the consultancies greater than $10,000, refer to the table below:

Occupational Violence
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Building Act (1993)
All building works have been designed in 
accordance with DHHS Capital Development 
Guidelines and comply with the Building Act 
1993, Building Regulations 2006 and Building 
Code of Australia relevant at the time of the 
works.

Buildings Certified for Approval

Infrastructure Projects
Project Status:

• Cancer Dialysis Centre completed October 
2018

• Replacement of steam boilers completed 
December 2018 – 2 x 3mw replaced by 3 
x 500kw energy efficient boilers

• Birches Refurbishment for completion 
July 2019

• Nurse Call System HBH expected 
completion July 2019

• Solar Project expected completion July 
2019

• Swipe Card Stage 2 commences July 
2019, tender awarded to Warrnambool 
Locksmiths (52 doors)

• CCTV commencing tender - replacement 
of 61 cameras, this includes additional 30 
new camera locations

• Penshurst Fire Ring Main – tender to be 
approved at July 2019 Board Meeting

• Medical Unit Family Room Refurbishment 
expected completion July 2019

• Aged Care Hub refurbishment completed 
April 2019

• Op shop fit-out & relocation completed 
January 2019

Building Compliance
Occupancy permit issued for the Cancer and 
Dialysis Centre, October 2018.

Additional Information Available 
on Request
Consistent with FRD 22H (Section 6.19) 
the items listed below have been retained 
by WDHS and are available to the relevant 
Ministers, Members of Parliament and the 
public on request (subject to freedom of 
information requirements, if applicable):

(a) Declarations of pecuniary interests have 
been duly completed by all relevant officers;

(b) Details of shares held by senior officers as 
nominee or held beneficially;

(c) Details of publications produced by the entity 
about itself, and how these can be obtained;

(d) Details of changes in prices, fees, charges, 
rates and levies charged by the Health Service;

(e) Details of any major external reviews 
carried out on the Health Service;

(f) Details of major research and development 
activities undertaken by the Health Service that 
are not otherwise covered either in the Report 
of Operations or in a document that contains the 
financial statements and Report of Operations;

(g) Details of overseas visits undertaken 
including a summary of the objectives and 
outcomes of each visit;

(h) Details of major promotional, public relations 
and marketing activities undertaken by the 
Health Service to develop community awareness 
of the Health Service and its services;

(i) Details of assessments and measures 
undertaken to improve the occupational health 
and safety of employees;

(j) General statement on industrial relations within 
the Health Service and details of time lost through 
industrial accidents and disputes, which is not 
otherwise detailed in the Report of Operations;

(k) A list of major committees sponsored 
by the Health Service, the purposes of each 
committee and the extent to which those 
purposes have been achieved;

(l) Details of all consultancies and contractors 
including consultants/contractors engaged, 
services provided, and expenditure committed 
for each engagement.

Financial Management 
Compliance Attestation
I, Ian Whiting, on behalf of the Responsible 
Body, certify that Western District Health 
Service has complied with the applicable 
Standing Directions 2018 under the Financial 
Management Act 1994 and Instructions. 

Ian Whiting

BOARD PRESIDENT

6 September 2019

Integrity, fraud and corruption
I, Rohan Fitzgerald certify that Western District 
Health Service has put it place appropriate 
internal controls and processes to ensure that 
Integrity, fraud and corruption risks have been 
reviewed and addressed at Western District 
Health Service during the year. 

Rohan Fitzgerald

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

6 September 2019

Attestation for Conflict of Interest
I, Rohan Fitzgerald, certify that Western District 
Health Service has put in place appropriate 
internal controls and processes to ensure 
that it has complied with the requirements of 
hospital circular 07/2017 Compliance reporting 
in health portfolio entities (Revised) and has 
implemented a ‘Conflict of Interest’ policy 
consistent with the minimum accountabilities 
required by the VPSC. Declaration of private 
interest forms have been completed by all 
executive staff within Western District Health 
Service and members of the board, and all 
declared conflicts have been addressed and 
are being managed. Conflict of interest is 
a standard agenda item for declaration and 
documenting at each executive board meeting.

Rohan Fitzgerald

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

6 September 2019

Attestation on Data Integrity
I, Rohan Fitzgerald, certify that Western District 
Health Service has put in place appropriate 
internal controls and processes to ensure 
that reported data accurately reflects actual 
performance. Western District Health Service 
has critically reviewed these controls and 
processes during the year.

Rohan Fitzgerald

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

6 September 2019

Compliance with Health 
Purchasing Victoria (HPV) Health 
Purchasing Policies 
I, Rohan Fitzgerald certify that Western District 
Health Service has put in place appropriate 
internal controls and processes to ensure that 
it has complied with all requirements set out in 
the HPV Health Purchasing Policies including 
mandatory HPV collective agreements as 
required by the Health Services Act 1988 (Vic) 
and has critically reviewed these controls and 
processes during the year. 

Rohan Fitzgerald

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

6 September 2019

Legislative Compliance
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Disclosure Index

The annual report of the Western District Health Service is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislation. This index has been prepared 
to facilitate identification of the Department’s compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Legislation Requirement Page Ref

Ministerial Directions Report of 
Operations
Charter and Purpose

FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the relevant 
Ministers

Inside 
front 
cover, 1

FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and duties 1

FRD 22H Nature and range of services provided 1,7

FRD 22H Activities, programs and achievements for 
the reporting period

2,3,4,5,9-
20

FRD 22H Significant changes in key initiatives and 
expectations for the future

2,3,4,5,9-
20

Management and Structure

FRD 22H Organisational structure 22

FRD 22H Workforce data/ employment and conduct 
principles

13,15

FRD 22H Occupational Health and Safety 15

Financial and Other Information

FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for the year 6,7

FRD 22H Significant changes in financial position 
during the year

6,7

FRD 22H Operational and budgetary objectives and 
performance against objectives

6,7

FRD 22H Subsequent events 54

FRD 22H Details of consultancies under $10,000 31

FRD 22H Details of consultancies over $10,000 31

FRD 22H Disclosure of ICT expenditure 31

Legislation

FRD 22H Application and operation of Freedom of 
Information Act 1982

31

FRD 22H Compliance with building and maintenance 
provisions of Building Act 1993

31

FRD 22H Application and operation of Protected 
Disclosure 2012

31

FRD 22H Statement on National Competition Policy 31

FRD 22H Application and operation of Carers 
Recognition Act 2012

31

FRD 22H Summary of the entity’s environmental 
performance

16,17

FRD 22H Additional information available on request 32

Other relevant reporting directives

FRD 25D Local Jobs First Act disclosures 31

SD 5.1.4 Financial Management Compliance 
attestation

32

SD 5.2.3 Declaration in report of operations 5

Other relevant reporting directives

Attestation on Data Integrity 32

Attestation on managing Conflicts of 
Interest

32

Attestation on Integrity, fraud and corruption 32

Other reporting requirements Page Ref

Reporting of outcomes from Statement of Priorities 
2018–19

28,29,30

Occupational Violence reporting 31

Reporting of compliance Health Purchasing Victoria policy 32

Reporting obligations under the Safe Patient Care Act 
2015

31

Reporting of compliance regarding Car Parking Fees (if 
applicable)

N/A
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The attached financial statements for Western District Health Service have been prepared in accordance with Direction 5.2 of the Standing 
Directions of the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian 
Accounting Standards including Interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet, statement of changes 
in equity, cash flow statement and accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 30 June 2019 and 
the financial position of Western District Health Service at 30 June 2019.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements to be 
misleading or inaccurate.

We authorise the attached financial report for issue on this day.

 Ian Whiting Rohan Fitzgerald Nicholas Starkie
 Board President Chief Executive Chief Finance and 
   Accounting Officer 

 Hamilton Hamilton Hamilton
 6 September 2019 6 September 2019 6 September 2019

Accountable Officer’s Declaration

Board Members’, Accountable Officers’ and Chief Finance & Accounting Officers’ 
Declaration
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Auditor General's Certificate
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Auditor General's Certificate
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Comprehensive Operating Statement 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Note Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$’000

Income from Transactions 

Operating Activities 2.1  78,025  74,601 

Non-operating Activities 2.1  927  868 

Total Income from Transactions  78,952  75,469 

Expenses from Transactions 

Employee Expenses 3.1  (57,556)  (54,513)

Supplies and consumables 3.1  (10,803)  (9,923)

Finance costs 3.1  (49)  (20)

Depreciation and Amortisation 4.3  (7,066)  (6,668)

Other Operating Expenses 3.1  (8,212)  (8,297)

Other Non-operating expenses 3.1  (143)  (224)

Total Expenses from Transactions  (83,829)  (79,645)

Net Result from Transactions - Net Operating Balance  (4,877)  (4,176)

Other Economic Flows included in Net Result

Net Gain/(Loss) on Sale of Non-Financial Assets 3.2  138  97 

Net Gain/(Loss) on financial instruments at fair value 3.2  (2)  (36)

Other Gain/(Loss) from Other Economic Flows 3.2  (605)  70 

Share of Other Economic Flows from Joint Operation 3.2  4  21 

Total Other Economic Flows included in Net Result  (465)  152 

Net Result for the year  (5,342)  (4,024)

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to Net Result

Changes in Property Revaluation Surplus 4.2(b)  19,341  10,807 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to Net Result

Changes to Value of Financial Assets Classified through Other Comprehensive income  (14)  82 

Total Other Comprehensive Income  19,327  10,889 

Comprehensive result for the year  13,985  6,865 

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Balance Sheet 

As at 30 June 2019   

Note Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6.2  32,469  12,657 

Receivables 5.1  3,055  2,307 

Investments and other financial assets 4.1  6,509  24,561 

Inventories  55  90 

Prepayments and Other assets  340  193 

Total current assets  42,428  39,808 

Non-current assets

Receivables 5.1  2,059  1,657 

Investments and other financial assets 4.1  2,056  2,003 

Investments accounted for using the equity method 8.8  122  118 

Property, plant & equipment 4.2(a)  149,168  132,258 

Total non-current assets  153,405  136,036 

TOTAL ASSETS  195,833  175,844 

Current liabilities

Payables 5.2  3,640  3,171 

Borrowings 6.1  288  354 

Provisions 3.4  10,813  9,601 

Other current liabilities 5.3  18,255  15,092 

Total current liabilities  32,996  28,218 

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 6.1  691  - 

Provisions 3.4  2,132  1,597 

Total non-current liabilities  2,823  1,597 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  35,819  29,815 

NET ASSETS  160,014  146,029 

EQUITY

Property, plant & equipment revaluation surplus 4.2(f)  97,514  78,173 

Financial asset available for sale revaluation surplus  -  141 

Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income revaluation reserve  127  - 

Restricted specific purpose surplus  10,877  11,817 

Contributed capital  49,535  49,535 

Accumulated surpluses  1,961  6,363 

TOTAL EQUITY  160,014  146,029 

       This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Financial Statements Notes To and Forming Part of the Financial Statements

Western District Health Service Annual Report 2018/2019
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Financial StatementsNotes To and Forming Part of the Financial Statements

Western District Health Service Annual Report 2018/2019

Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 30 June 2019
Property, Plant 

& Equipment 
Revaluation 

Surplus

$'000

Financial Asset 
through other 

comprehensive 
income Revaluation 

Surplus
$'000

Financial Asset 
Available for 

Sale Revaluation 
Surplus

$'000

Restricted Specific 
Purpose Surplus

$'000

Contributions by 
Owners

$'000

Accumulated 
Surpluses

$'000

Total

$'000

Balance at 1 July 2017 67,366  -  59 10,413 49,535 11,791 139,164 

Net result for the year  -  -  -  -  - (4,024) (4,024)

Other comprehensive income for the year 10,807  - 82  -  -  - 10,889 

Transfer to accumulated surplus  -  -  - 1,404  - (1,404)  - 

Balance at 30 June 2018 78,173  - 141 11,817 49,535 6,363 146,029 

Net result for the year  -  -  -  -  - (5,342) (5,342)

Opening balance adjustment on adoption 
of AASB 9

 - 141 (141)

Other comprehensive income for the year 19,341 (14)  -  -  - 19,327 

Transfer to accumulated surplus  -  -  - (940)  - 940  - 

Balance at 30 June 2019 97,514 127  - 10,877 49,535 1,961 160,014 

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Cash Flow Statement 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Note Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating grants from government  64,097  51,584 

Capital grants from government  982  857 

Patient and resident fees received  6,746  14,060 

Donations and bequests received  476  840 

GST received from/(paid to) ATO  15  71 

Interest received  818  752 

Dividend received  99  116 

Other capital receipts  902  2,159 

Other receipts  5,032  8,101 

Total receipts  79,167  78,540 

Employee expenses paid  (52,197)  (49,784)

Non salary labour costs  (4,114)  (5,058)

Payments for supplies & consumables  (11,828)  (10,652)

Finance costs  (49)  (20)

Other payments  (8,089)  (10,046)

Total payments  (76,277)  (75,560)

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8.1  2,890  2,980 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Sale/(Purchase) of investments  18,102  (10,684)

Payments for non-financial assets  (4,701)  (2,949)

Proceeds from sale of non-financial assets  217  204 

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  13,618  (13,429)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net Receipt/(Payment) of Bonds  2,617  2,980 

DHHS Loan Received  687  - 

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  3,304  2,980 

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HELD  19,812  (7,469)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  12,657  20,126 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 6.2  32,469  12,657 

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Basis of presentation
These financial statements are in Australian dollars and the historical cost convention is used unless a 
different measurement basis is specifically disclosed in the note associated with the item measured on a 
different basis.

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in preparing these financial statements, whereby assets, 
liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless 
of when cash is received or paid.

Note 1: Summary of significant accounting policies
These annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements for Western 
District Health Service for the year ended 30 June 2019. The report provides users with information about 
Western District Health Service’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance 
with the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable AASBs, which include interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). They are presented in a manner consistent with the 
requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements.

The financial statements also comply with relevant Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs) issued by the 
Department of Treasury and Finance, and relevant Standing Directions (SDs) authorised by the Assistant 
Treasurer.

Western District Health Service is a not-for-profit entity and therefore applies the additional AUS paragraphs 
applicable to "not-for-profit" Health Service under the AASBs.

(b) Reporting entity
The financial statements include all the controlled activities of the Western District Health Service.

Its principal address is:

20 Foster Street
Hamilton, Victoria 3300

A description of the nature of Western District Health Service’s operations and its principal 
activities is included in the report of operations, which does not form part of these financial 
statements.

(c) Basis of accounting preparation and 
measurement
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial 
information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the 
underlying transactions or other events is reported.

The accounting policies have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2019, and the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2018.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis (refer to Note 8.9 Economic Dependency).

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, the functional and presentation currency of 
Western District Health Service.

All amounts shown in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise stated. Minor discrepancies in tables between totals and sum of components are due to rounding.

Western District Health Service operates on a fund accounting basis and maintains three funds: Operating, 
Specific Purpose and Capital Funds.

The financial statements, except for cash flow information, have been prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting. Under the accrual basis, items are recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, income or expenses 
when they satisfy the definitions and recognition criteria for those items, that is they are recognised in the 
reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in 
future periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the 
application of AASBs that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to: 

 y The fair value of land, buildings and plant and equipment (refer to Note 4.2 Property, Plant and 
Equipment);

 y Defined benefit superannuation expense (refer to Note 3.5 Superannuation); and 

 y Employee benefit provisions are based on likely tenure of existing staff, patterns of leave claims, future 
salary movements and future discount rates (refer to Note 3.4 Employee Benefits in the Balance Sheet).

Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In this case the GST payable is recognised as part 
of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the Balance 
Sheet. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the ATO, are presented as operating cash flow.

Commitments and contingent assets and liabilities are presented on a gross basis.

(d) Jointly controlled operation
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

In respect of any interest in joint operations, Western District Health Service recognises in the financial 
statements:

•      its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 

•      any liabilities including its share of liabilities that it had incurred; 

•      its revenue from the sale of its share of the output from the joint operation;

•      its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the operation; and

•      its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

Western District Health Service is a member of the South West Alliance of Rural Health Joint Venture and 
retains joint control over the arrangement, which it has classified as a joint operation (refer to Note 8.7 Jointly 
Controlled Operations)

Intersegment Transactions

Transactions between segments within the Western District Health Service have been eliminated to reflect the 
extent of the Western District Health Service’s operations as a group.

(e) Equity
Contributed Capital

Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004 Contributions, contributions by owners (that is, contributed 
capital and its repayment) are treated as equity transactions and, therefore, do not form part of the income 
and expenses of Western District Health Service. 

Transfers of net assets arising from administrative restructurings are treated as distributions to or 
contributions by owners. Transfers of net liabilities arising from administrative restructurings are treated as 
distributions to owners. 

Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions or distributions or that have been designated as 
contributed capital are also treated as contributed capital.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income Revaluation Surplus

The fair value through other comprehensive income revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of the share 
portfolio asset. Where a revalued financial asset is sold, that portion of the surplus which relates to that 
financial asset is effectively realised and is recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement as other 
comprehensive income (Refer Note 7.1a).

Specific Restricted Purpose Surplus

The Specific Restricted Purpose Surplus is established where Western District Health Service has possession 
or title to the funds but has no discretion to amend or vary the restriction and/or condition underlying the 
funds received.
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Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

Government Grants - Operating  64,291  60,676 

Government Grants - Capital  982  856 

Other Capital purpose income (including capital donations)  1,287  1,736 

Patient and Resident Fees  6,861  6,427 

Private Practice Fees  12  - 

Commercial Activities 1  3,063  2,851 

Assets received free of charge or for nominal consideration  32  - 

Other Revenue from Operating Activities (including non-capital donations)  1,497  2,055 

Total Income from Operating Activities  78,025  74,601 

Capital Interest  319  611 

Other Interest  509  141 

Dividends  99  116 

Total Income from Non-Operating Activities  927  868 

Total Income from Transactions  78,952  75,469 
1. Commercial activities represent business activities which the health service enter into to support their operations.

Revenue Recognition

Income is recognised in accordance with AASB 118 Revenue and is recognised as to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to Western District Health Service and the income can be reliably 
measured at fair value. Unearned income at reporting date is reported as income received in advance.

Amounts disclosed as revenue are where applicable, net of returns, allowances and duties and taxes.

Government Grants and other transfers of income (other than contributions by owners)

In accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions, government grants and other transfers of income (other than contributions by owners) are recognised as income when the Health Service gains control of the underlying 
assets irrespective of whether conditions are imposed on the Health Service’s use of the contributions.  

The Department of Health and Human Services makes certain payments on behalf of the Health Service. These amounts have been brought to account in determining the operating result for the year by recording them as 
revenue.

Contributions are deferred as income in advance when the Health Service has a present obligation to repay them and the present obligation can be reliably measured.

Note 2: Funding Delivery of Our Services
The Health Service's overall objective is to deliver programs and services that support and enhance the wellbeing of all Victorians.

To enable the Health Service to fulfil its objective it receives accrual based grant funding for the provision of outputs. The Health Service also receives income from the supply of services.

Structure
2.1 Analysis of revenue by source

Note 2.1: Income from Transactions
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Non-cash Contributions from the Department of Health and 
Human Services

Payments made by the Department of Health and Human Services 
behalf of the health service are as follows:

 y The Victorian Managed Insurance Authority non-medical 
indemnity insurance payments are recognised as revenue 
following advice from the Department of Health and Human 
Services

 y Long Service Leave (LSL) revenue is recognised upon finalisation 
of movements in LSL liability in line with the long service leave 
funding arrangements set out in the relevant Department of Health 
and Human Services Hospital Circular

Patient and Resident Fees

Patient and residents fees are recognised as revenue on an accrual 
basis and include Commonwealth funds received in relation to aged 
care patient fees.

Private Practice Fees

Private practice fees are recognised as revenue at the time invoices 
are raised.

Revenue from commercial activities

Revenue from commercial activities such as rental property income, 
share of jointly controlled operations revenue, cafeteria and catering 
income are recognised as revenue at the time of sale, or when invoices 
are raised.

Fair value of the assets and services received free of charge or 
for nominal consideration

Resources received free of charge or for nominal consideration are 
recognised at their fair value when the transferee obtains control over 
them, irrespective of whether restrictions or conditions are imposed 
over the use of the contributions, unless received from another 
Health Service or agency as a consequence of a restructuring of 
administrative arrangements.  In the latter case, such transfer will be 
recognised at carrying amount.  Contributions in the form of services 
are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and 
the service would have been purchased if not received as a donation.

Donations and Other Bequests

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when the right to 
receive payment is established. If donations are for a specific purpose, 
they may be appropriated to a surplus, such as the specific restricted 
purpose surplus.

Dividend Revenue

Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive payment is 
established. Dividends represent the income arising from Western 
District Health Service’s investments in financial assets.

Interest Revenue

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes 
into account the effective yield of the financial asset, which allocates 
interest over the relevant period.

Sale of investments

The gain/loss on the sale of investments is recognised when the 
investment is realised. 

Other income

Other income includes recoveries for salaries and wages and external 
services provided.

Assets received free of charge or for nominal consideration 

The revenues and assets recognised as a result of such transactions 
shall be measured at the fair value of resources received.

Resources received free of charge or for nominal consideration are 
recognised at their fair value when the transferee obtains control over 
them, irrespective of whether restrictions or conditions are imposed 
over the use of the contributions, unless received from another 
Health Service or agency as a consequence of a restructuring of 
administrative arrangements.  In the latter case, such transfer will be 
recognised at carrying amount.  Contributions in the form of services 
are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and 
the service would have been purchased if not received as a donation.
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Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

Salary and Wages  41,353  38,363 

On-Costs  11,630  10,992 

Fee for Service Medical Officer Expenses  4,114  4,381 

Workcover Premium  459  777 

Total Employee Expenses  57,556  54,513 

Drug Supplies  1,793  1,603 

Medical and Surgical Supplies (Including Prosthesis)  5,379  5,040 

Diagnostic and Radiology Supplies  1,284  1,005 

Other Supplies and Consumables  2,347  2,275 

Total Supplies and Consumables  10,803  9,923 

Finance Costs  49  20 

Total Finance Costs  49  20 

Fuel, Light, Power and Water  1,578  1,450 

Repairs and Maintenance  768  803 

Maintenance Contracts  247  282 

Medical Indemnity Insurance  969  930 

Other Administrative Expenses  4,650  4,832 

Total Other Operating Expenses  8,212  8,297 

Depreciation and Amortisation (refer Note 4.3)  7,066  6,668 

Expenditure for capital purposes  143  224 

Total other Non-Operating Expenses  7,209  6,892 

Total Expenses from Transactions  83,829  79,645 

Note 3.1: Expenses from Transactions

Note 3: The Cost of Delivering Our Services
This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by the Health Service in delivering services and outputs. In Section 2, the funds that enable the provision of services were disclosed and in this note 
the cost associated with provision of services are recorded. 

Structure
3.1 Expenses from transactions
3.2 Other Economic Flows
3.3 Analysis of expense and revenue by internally managed and restricted specific purpose funds
3.4 Employee Benefits in the Balance Sheet
3.5 Superannuation

Expense recognition
Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the 
financial year to which they relate.

Employee expenses
Employee expenses include:

 y Salaries and wages (including fringe benefits tax, leave 
entitlements, termination payments);

 y On-costs;

 y Agency expenses;

 y Fee for service medical officer expenses;

 y Work cover premium.

Supplies and consumables
Supplies and consumables - Supplies and services costs which are 
recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are 
incurred. The carrying amounts of any inventories held for distribution 
are expensed when distributed.

Finance costs
Finance costs include:

 y interest on bank overdrafts and short-term and long-term 
borrowings (Interest expense is recognised in the period in which 
it is incurred); and

 y finance charges in respect of finance leases which are recognised 
in accordance with AASB 117 Leases.

Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running 
costs incurred in normal operations and include:

 y Fuel, light and power

 y Repairs and maintenance

 y Other administrative expenses

The Department of Health and Human Services also makes certain 
payments on behalf of Western District Health Service. These amounts 
have been brought to account as grants in determining the operating 
result for the year by recording them as revenue and also recording the 
related expense.

Non-operating expenses
Other non-operating expenses generally represent expenditure for 
outside the normal operations such as depreciation and amortisation, 
and assets and services provided free of charge or for nominal 
consideration.
Expenditure for capital purposes (represents expenditure related to the 
purchase of assets that are below the capitalisation threshold). 

Inventories
Inventories include goods held either for sale, consumption or for 
distribution at no or nominal cost in the ordinary course of business 
operations. It excludes depreciable assets.
Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost, adjusted for any 
loss of service potential. All other inventories, including land held for 
sale, are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Inventories acquired for no cost or nominal considerations are 
measured at current replacement cost at the date of acquisition.
The basis used in assessing loss of service potential for inventories 
held for distribution include current replacement cost and technical or 
functional obsolescence.  Technical obsolescence occurs when an 
item still functions for some or all the tasks it was originally acquired 
to do, but no longer matches existing technologies.  Functional 
obsolescence occurs when an item no longer functions the way it did 
when it was first acquired.
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Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets

Net gain on disposal of property plant and equipment  138  97 

Total net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets  138  97 

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value

Allowance for impairment losses of contractual receivables  (16)  (36)

Net gain/(loss) from fair value movement in loan  14  - 

Total net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value  (2)  (36)

Share of other economic flows from Joint Operations

Share of net profits/(losses) of associates, excluding dividends  4  21 

Total share of other economic flows from Joint Operations  4  21 

Other Gains/(Losses) from Other Economic Flows

Change in ownership interest of joint venture  (19)  - 

Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service liability  (586)  70 

Total other gains/(losses) from other economic flows  (605)  70 

Total other gains/(losses) from economic flows  (465)  152 

Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

Current Provisions

Employee Benefits (i)

Annual leave

- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months (ii)  3,413  2,866 

Long service leave

- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months (ii)  867  841 

- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months (iii)  4,776  4,343 

Accrued Days Off

- Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (ii)  114  103 

 9,170  8,153 

Provisions related to Employee Benefit On-Costs

- Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (ii)  962  945 

- Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (iii)  681  503 

 1,643  1,448 

Total Current Provisions  10,813  9,601 

Non-Current Provisions

Employee Benefits (i)  1,908  1,425 

Provisions related to Employee Benefit On-Costs (iii)  224  172 

Total Non-Current Provisions  2,132  1,597 

Total Provisions  12,945  11,198 

(a) Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs

Current Employee Benefits and related on-costs

Unconditional LSL Entitlement  6,324  5,785 

Annual Leave Entitlements  4,375  3,713 

Accrued Days Off  114  103 

Non-Current Employee Benefits and related on-costs

Conditional Long Service Leave Entitlements (iii)  2,132  1,597 

Total Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs  12,945  11,198 

Notes:  
(i) Provisions for employee benefits consist of amounts for accrued days off, annual leave and long service leave 
accrued by employees, not including on-costs.  
(ii) The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts  
(iii) The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values  

Total
2018
$'000

Total
2017
$'000

Movement in Long Service Leave:

Balance at start of year  7,382  7,131 

Provision made during the year

 - Revaluations  586  (70)

 - Expense recognising employee service  1,363  1,162 

Settlement made during the year  (875)  (841)

Balance at end of year  8,456  7,382 

Note 3.2: Other economic flows

Note 3.3: Analysis of expense and revenue by internally managed and 
restricted specific purpose funds.

Note 3.4: Employee Benefits in the Balance Sheet

(b) Movements in LSL & On-Costs Provisions
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Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that do not result from 
transactions. 

Net gain/ (loss) on non-financial assets
Net gain/ (loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains and losses as 
follows:

 y Net gain/ (loss) on disposal of non-financial assets (Refer to Note 4.2 Property plant and equipment.)

 y Any gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial assets is recognised at the date of disposal.

Net gain/ (loss) on financial instruments at fair value
Net gain/ (loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value includes:

 y realised and unrealised gains and losses from revaluations of financial instruments at fair value; and

 y impairment and reversal of impairment for financial instruments at amortised cost

Other gains/ (losses) from other economic flows
Other gains/ (losses) include:

 y the revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to changes in the bond rate 
movements, inflation rate movements and the impact of changes in probability factors; and

 y transfer of amounts from the reserves to accumulated surplus or net result due to disposal or 
derecognition or reclassification.

Expense Revenue

Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

Commercial Activities

Private Practice and Other Patient Activities  -  -  12  - 

Catering  307  283  265  289 

Laundry  154  134  102  28 

Cafeteria  109  125  300  274 

Property Expense/Revenue  113  137  821  766 

Commercial Activities National Centre Farmer Health  -  -  423  355 

Goods and Services externally supplied  1,152  1,233  1,140  1,139 

Total Commercial Activities  1,835  1,912  3,063  2,851 

TOTAL  1,835  1,912  3,063  2,851 

Note 3.4: Employee benefits in the balance sheet (cont.)

Employee benefit recognition
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wage and salaries, annual leave and long 
service leave for services rendered to the reporting date as an expense during the period the services are delivered.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Health Service has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic 
benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.
The amount recognised as a liability is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

Annual leave, sick leave and accrued days off
Liabilities for annual leave, and accrued days off are all recognised in the provision for employee benefits as ‘current 
liabilities’, because the health service does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements of these liabilities.
Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries, annual leave and 
sick leave are measured at:

 y Nominal value – if the health service expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

 y Present value – if the health service does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Long service leave (LSL)
Liability for LSL is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. 
Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability, even where the 
health service does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional 
right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months. An 
unconditional right arises after a qualifying period.

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:

 y Nominal value – if the health service expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

 y Present value – where the entity does not expect to settle a component of this current liability within 12 months

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability.  Any gain or loss followed revaluation of the present 
value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises 
due to changes in estimations e.g. bond rate movements, inflation rate movements and changes in probability 
factors which are then recognised as other economic flows.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or when an 
employee decides to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment.

On-costs related to employee expense
Provision for on-costs, such as workers compensation and superannuation are recognised separately from 
provisions for employee benefits.
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Employees of the Health Service are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the Health Services contributes to both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plan provides benefits based on 
years of service and final average salary.

Defined contribution superannuation plans

In relation to defined contribution (i.e. accumulation) superannuation plans, the associated expense is simply the employer contributions that are paid or payable in respect of employees who are members of these plans 
during the reporting period. Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed when incurred.

Defined benefit superannuation plans

The amount charged to the comprehensive operating statement in respect of defined benefit superannuation plans represents the contributions made by the Health Service to the superannuation plans in respect of the 
services of current Health Service staff during the reporting period.  Superannuation contributions are made to the plans based on the relevant rules of each plan, and are based upon actuarial advice.

Western District Health Services does not recognise any unfunded defined benefit liability in respect of the plans because the hospital has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its 
only obligation is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due. The Department of Treasury and Finance discloses the State’s defined benefits liabilities in its disclosure for administered items.

However superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits in the Comprehensive Operating Statement of Western District Health Services

The name, details and amounts that have been expensed in relation to the major employee superannuation funds and contributions made by Western District Health Services are disclosed above.

Paid Contribution for the Year Contribution Outstanding at Year End

Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

(i) Defined benefit plans:

First State Super  117 128  -  - 

Defined contribution plans:

First State Super  2,777 2,890  -  - 

HESTA  1,018 917  -  - 

Other  367 124  -  - 

TOTAL  4,279 4,059  -  - 
(i) The basis for determining the level of contributions is determined by the various actuaries of the defined benefit superannuation plans.

Note 4: Key Assets to Support Service Delivery
The Health Service controls infrastructure and other investments that are utilised in fulfilling its objectives and conducting its activities. They represent the 
key resources that have been entrusted to the hospital to be utilised for delivery of those outputs.
Structure

4.1 Investments & Other Financial Assets

4.2 Property, plant & equipment

4.3 Depreciation and amortisation

Operating Fund Specific Purpose 
Fund

Capital Fund Total

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

CURRENT

Amortised Cost

Aust. Dollar Term Deposits > 3 months (i)  5,559  9,972  500  14,149  450  440  6,509  24,561 

Total Current  5,559  9,972  500  14,149  450  440  6,509  24,561 

NON CURRENT

Amortised Cost

   Term Deposit

Aust. Dollar Term Deposits > 12 months  -  -  -  -  8  8  8  8 

Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income

   Equities and Managed Investment Schemes

      Australian Listed Equity Securities (ii)  -  -  2,048  1,995  -  -  2,048  1,995 

Total Non Current  -  -  2,048  1,995  8  8  2,056  2,003 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS  -  -  2,048  1,995  8  8  2,056  2,003 

Represented by:

Health Service Investments  5,559  9,972  2,048  1,995  458  448  8,065  12,415 

Monies Held in Trust

      Patient Monies  -  -  500  14,149  -  -  500  14,149 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS  5,559  9,972  2,548  16,144  458  448  8,565  26,564 

Notes:

(i) Term deposits under 'Aust. Dollar Term Deposits > 3 months' class include only term deposits with maturity greater than 90 days.

(ii) The Health Service designated all its equities and managed investment schemes at fair value through other comprehensive income. Therefore all 
equities and managed investments are classified as non-current.

Investment recognition

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where 
purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms 
require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established 
by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net 
of transaction costs. 

Investments are classified as fair value through other comprehensive 
income financial assets and amortised cost financial assets.

Western District Health Service classifies its other financial assets 
between current and non-current assets based on the Board of 
Management’s intention at balance date with respect to the timing of 
disposal of each asset.  Western District Health Services assesses 
at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired.

Western District Health Service's investments must comply 
with Standing Direction 3.7.2 - Treasury and Investment Risk 
Management including Centralised Banking System. The investment 
portfolio of Western District Health Services is managed by 
Victorian Funds Management Corporation through specialist fund 
managers and a Master Custodian.  The Master Custodian holds the 
investments and conducts settlements pursuant to instructions from 
the specialist fund managers.

All financial assets, except for those measured at fair value through 
the Comprehensive Operating Statement are subject to annual review 
for impairment.

Derecognition of financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or 
part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when: 

 - the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

 - the Health Service retains the right to receive cash flows from the 
asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without 
material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; 
or 

 - the Health Service has transferred its rights to receive cash flows 
from the asset and either: 

 (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
 the asset; or 

 (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the 
 risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of 
 the asset.

Where the Health Service has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control, the 
asset is recognised to the extent of the Health Service’s continuing 
involvement in the asset.
Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, Western District Health Service 
assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. All financial instrument assets, 
except those measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, are subject to annual review for impairment.

In order to determine an appropriate fair value as at 30 June 2019 
for its portfolio of financial assets, Western District Health Service 
used the market value of investments held provided by the portfolio 
managers.

The above valuation process was used to quantify the level of 
impairment (if any) on the portfolio of financial assets as at year end.

Note 3.5: Superannuation

Note 4.1: Investments and Other Financial Assets
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Note 4.2: Property, plant & equipment 

Initial Recognition

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its 
fair value at the date of acquisition.  Assets transferred as part of a merger/machinery of government change are 
transferred at their carrying amounts.

The initial cost for non-financial physical assets under finance lease (refer to Note 6.1) is measured at amounts 
equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each 
determined at the inception of the lease.

Theoretical opportunities that may be available in relation to the asset(s) are not taken into account until it is virtually 
certain that any restrictions will no longer apply. Therefore, unless otherwise disclosed, the current use of these 
non-financial physical assets will be their highest and best uses.

Land and buildings are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.

Revaluations of non-current physical assets

Non-current physical assets are measured at fair value and are revalued in accordance with FRD 103H Non-
Financial Physical Assets.  This revaluation process normally occurs every five years, based upon the asset's 
Government Purpose Classification, but may occur more frequently if fair value assessments indicate material 
changes in values. Independent valuers are used to conduct these scheduled revaluations and any interim 
revaluations are determined in accordance with the requirements of the FRDs. Revaluation increments or 
decrements arise from differences between an asset’s carrying value and fair value.

Revaluation increments are recognised in ‘Other Comprehensive Income’ and are credited directly to the asset 
revaluation surplus, except that, to the extent that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that 
same class of asset previously recognised as an expense in net result, the increment is recognised as income in 
the net result.

Revaluation decrements are recognised in ‘Other Comprehensive Income’ to the extent that a credit balance exists 
in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of property, plant and equipment.

Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases relating to individual assets within an asset class are offset against 
one another within that class but are not offset in respect of assets in different classes. 

Revaluation surplus is not transferred to accumulated funds on de-recognition of the relevant asset, except where 
an asset is transferred via contributed capital.

In accordance with FRD 103H, Western District Health Service's non-current physical assets were assessed to 
determine whether revaluation of the non-current physical assets was required.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Western District Health Service has determined classes of assets on the 
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained below.

In addition, Western District Health Service determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the 
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The Valuer-General Victoria (VGV) is Western District Health Service’s independent valuation agency.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

Valuation hierarchy

In determining fair values a number of inputs are used. To increase consistency and comparability in the financial 
statements, these inputs are categorised into three levels, also known as the fair value hierarchy. The levels are as 
follows:

 y Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 y Level 2 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is directly or indirectly observable; and 

 y Level 3 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is unobservable. 

Identifying unobservable inputs (level 3) fair value measurements

Level 3 fair value inputs are unobservable valuation inputs for an asset or liability. These inputs require significant 
judgement and assumptions in deriving fair value for both financial and non-financial assets.

Unobservable inputs shall be used to measure fair value to the extent that relevant observable inputs are not 
available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at 
the measurement date. However, the fair value measurement objective remains the same, i.e., an exit price at the 
measurement date from the perspective of a market participant that holds the asset or owes the liability. Therefore, 
unobservable inputs shall reflect the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 
liability, including assumptions about risk.

Consideration of highest and best use (HBU) for non-financial physical assets

Judgements about highest and best use must take into account the characteristics of the assets concerned, 
including restrictions on the use and disposal of assets arising from the asset’s physical nature and any applicable 
legislative/contractual arrangements.

In accordance with paragraph AASB 13.29, Western District Health Services has assumed the current use of a non-
financial physical asset is its HBU unless market or other factors suggest that a different use by market participants 
would maximise the value of the asset.
Non-specialised land, non-specialised buildings 

Non-specialised land and non-specialised buildings are valued using the market approach. Under this valuation 
method, the assets are compared to recent comparable sales or sales of comparable assets which are considered 
to have nominal or no added improvement value.

For non-specialised land and non-specialised buildings, an independent valuation was performed by the Valuer-
General Victoria to determine the fair value using the market approach. Valuation of the assets was determined by 
analysing comparable sales and allowing for share, size, topography, location and other relevant factors specific to 
the asset being valued. An appropriate rate per square metre has been applied to the subject asset. The effective 
date of the valuation is 30 June 2019.
Specialised land and specialised buildings

Specialised land includes Crown Land which is measured at fair value with regard to the property’s highest 
and best use after due consideration is made for any legal or physical restrictions imposed on the asset, public 
announcements or commitments made in relation to the intended use of the asset. Theoretical opportunities that 
may be available in relation to the assets are not taken into account until it is virtually certain that any restrictions 
will no longer apply. Therefore, unless otherwise disclosed, the current use of these non-financial physical assets 
will be their highest and best use.

During the reporting period, Western District Health Service held Crown Land. The nature of this asset means that 
there are certain limitations and restrictions imposed on its use and/or disposal that may impact their fair value.

The market approach is also used for specialised land although it is adjusted for the community service obligation 
(CSO) to reflect the specialised nature of the assets being valued. Specialised assets contain significant, 
unobservable adjustments; therefore these assets are classified as Level 3 under the market based direct 
comparison approach.

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions associated with an 
asset to the extent that is also equally applicable to market participants. This approach is in light of the highest 
and best use consideration required for fair value measurement, and takes into account the use of the asset that is 
physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. As adjustments of CSO are considered as significant 
unobservable inputs, specialised land would be classified as Level 3 assets. 

For Western District Health Service, the depreciated replacement cost method is used for the majority of specialised 
buildings, adjusting for the associated depreciation. As depreciation adjustments are considered as significant and 
unobservable inputs in nature, specialised buildings are classified as Level 3 for fair value measurements.

An independent valuation of Western District Health Service’s specialised land and specialised buildings was 
performed by the Valuer-General Victoria. The valuation was performed using the market approach adjusted for 
CSO. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2019.

Vehicles

The Health Service acquires new vehicles and at times disposes of them before completion of their economic life. 
The process of acquisition, use and disposal in the market is managed by the Health Service who set relevant 
depreciation rates during use to reflect the consumption of the vehicles. As a result, the fair value of vehicles does 
not differ materially from the carrying amount (depreciated cost).

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment (including medical equipment, computers and communication equipment and furniture and 
fittings) are held at carrying amount (depreciated cost). When plant and equipment is specialised in use, such that 
it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, the depreciated replacement cost is used to estimate the fair 
value. Unless there is market evidence that current replacement costs are significantly different from the original 
acquisition cost, it is considered unlikely that depreciated replacement cost will be materially different from the 
existing carrying amount. 

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2019. 

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.

Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

Land

Land at Fair Value  4,776  4,837 

Total Land  4,776  4,837 

Buildings 

Buildings Under Construction at cost  1,647  1,739 

Buildings at Fair Value  131,886  115,542 

Less Acc'd Depreciation  -  - 

Leasehold Improvements at fair value  1,998  1,730 

Less Acc'd Depreciation  -  - 

Total Buildings  135,531  119,011 

Plant and Equipment 

Plant and Equipment at Fair Value  6,569  6,712 

Less Acc'd Depreciation  (2,091)  (2,695)

Total Plant and Equipment  4,478  4,017 

Medical Equipment

Medical Equipment at Fair Value  8,976  8,565 

Less Acc'd Depreciation  (6,384)  (5,865)

Total Medical Equipment  2,592  2,700 

Computers and Communication

Computers and Communication at Fair Value  1,126  1,341 

Less Acc'd Depreciation  (963)  (1,059)

Total Cultural Assets  163  282 

Furniture and Fittings

Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value  1,342  1,368 

Less Acc'd Depreciation  (1,088)  (1,067)

Total Cultural Assets  254  301 

Motor Vehicles

Motor Vehicles at Fair Value  1,986  1,938 

Less Acc'd Depreciation  (1,140)  (1,149)

Total Cultural Assets  846  789 

Leased Assets

Computers and Communication  528  1,771 

Less Acc'd Amortisation  -  (1,450)

Total Leased Assets  528  321 

TOTAL  149,168  132,258 

Note 4.2: Property, Plant & Equipment

(a) Gross Carrying Amount and Accumulated Depreciation
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Land 

$’000

Buildings

$’000

Plant and 
equipment

$’000

Medical 
equipment

$’000

Computers & 
Communications

$’000

Furniture 
and Fittings

$’000

Motor 
Vehicles

$’000

Leased
Assets

$’000

Assets Under 
Construction

$’000

TOTAL

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2017  4,837  111,427  3,875  2,879  228  362  777  697  279  125,361 

Additions  -  50  389  411  145  42  427  -  1,543  3,007 

Revaluation  -  10,807  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  10,807 

Disposals  -  -  -  (6)  -  -  (101)  (142)  -  (249)

Net Transfers between Classes  -  83  -  -  -  -  -  -  (83)  - 

Depreciation (Note 4.3)  -  (5,095)  (247)  (584)  (91)  (103)  (314)  (234)  -  (6,668)

Balance at 1 July 2018  4,837  117,272  4,017  2,700  282  301  789  321  1,739  132,258 

Additions  -  44  717  454  34  43  439  459  2,580  4,770 

Assets Received Free of Charge  -  -  -  32  -  -  -  -  -  32 

Revaluation  (61)  19,402  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  19,341 

Net Transfers between Classes  -  2,672  -  -  -  -  -  -  (2,672)  - 

Disposals  -  -  -  -  (89)  -  (78)  -  -  (167)

Depreciation (Note 4.3)  -  (5,506)  (256)  (594)  (64)  (90)  (304)  (252)  -  (7,066)

Balance at 30 June 2019  4,776  133,884  4,478  2,592  163  254  846  528  1,647  149,168 

Land and buildings and leased assets carried at valuation

The Valuer-General Victoria undertook to re-value all of Western District Health Service's owned and leased land and buildings to determine their fair value. The valuation, which conforms to Australian Valuation Standards, 
was determined by reference to the amounts for which assets could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction. The valuation was based on independent assessments. 

The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2019.          

Note 4.2: Property, Plant & Equipment (Cont.)

(b) Reconciliations of the Carrying Amounts of Each Class of Asset

Carrying 
amount
as at 30 

June 2019
$'000

Fair value measurement at end 
of reporting period using:

Level 1 (i)

$’000
Level 2 (i)

$’000
Level 3 (i)

$’000

Land at fair value
Non-specialised land  263  -  263  - 
Specialised land  4,513  -  -  4,513 

Total land at fair value  4,776  -  263  4,513 

Buildings at fair value
Non-specialised buildings  567  -  567  - 
Specialised buildings  132,742  -  -  132,742 

Heritage assets  575  -  -  575 

Total buildings at fair value  133,884  -  567 133,317 

Buildings at cost
Buildings Under Construction  1,647  -  -  1,647 
Total buildings at cost  1,647  -  -  1,647 

Plant and Equipment at fair value
Plant and equipment at fair value  4,478  -  -  4,478 

Total plant and equipment at fair value  4,478  -  -  4,478 

Motor Vehicles at fair value
Motor vehicles at fair value  846  -  -  846 

Total motor vehicles at fair value  846  -  -  846 

Medical Equipment at fair value
Medical equipment at fair value  2,592  -  -  2,592 

Total medical equipment at fair value  2,592  -  -  2,592 

Computers and Communication at fair value
Computers and Communication at fair value  163  -  -  163 

Total Computers and Communication at fair value  163  -  -  163 

Furniture and Fittings at fair value

Furniture and Fittings at fair value  254  -  -  254 

Total Furniture and Fittings at fair value  254  -  -  254 

Leased Assets at fair value

Leased Assets at fair value  528  -  -  528 

Total Leased Assets at fair value  528  -  -  528 

TOTAL  149,168  -  830  148,338 

Carrying 
amount
as at 30 

June 2018
$'000

Fair value measurement at end 
of reporting period using:

Level 1 (i)

$’000
Level 2 (i)

$’000
Level 3 (i)

$’000

Land at fair value
Non-specialised land  618  -  618  - 
Specialised land  4,219  -  -  4,219 

Total land at fair value  4,837  -  618  4,219 

Buildings at fair value
Non-specialised buildings  585  -  585  - 
Specialised buildings  116,319  -  -  116,319 

Heritage assets  368  -  -  368 

Total buildings at fair value  117,272  -  585 116,687 

Buildings at cost
Buildings Under Construction  1,739  -  -  1,739 
Total buildings at cost  1,739  -  -  1,739 

Plant and Equipment at fair value
Plant and equipment at fair value  4,017  -  -  4,017 

Total plant and equipment at fair value  4,017  -  -  4,017 

Motor Vehicles at fair value
Motor vehicles at fair value  789  -  -  789 

Total motor vehicles at fair value  789  -  -  789 

Medical Equipment at fair value
Medical equipment at fair value  2,700  -  -  2,700 

Total medical equipment at fair value  2,700  -  -  2,700 

Computers and Communication at fair value
Computers and Communication at fair value  282  -  -  282 

Total Computers and Communication at fair value  282  -  -  282 

Furniture and Fittings at fair value

Furniture and Fittings at fair value  301  -  -  301 

Total Furniture and Fittings at fair value  301  -  -  301 

Leased Assets at fair value

Leased Assets at fair value  321  -  -  321 

Total Leased Assets at fair value  321  -  -  321 

TOTAL  132,258  -  1,203  131,055 

Note: (i) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. 
There have been transfers from level 2 to level 3 during the period to the value of $350,000 due to a change 
in valuation methodology by the external valuer.

(c)  Fair Value Measurement Hierarchy for Assets
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Asset class Expected fair value level Likely valuation approach Significant inputs (Level 3 
only)

Non-specialised land Level 2 Market approach n.a.

Specialised Land (Crown / 
Freehold)

Level 3 Market approach
Community Service 

Obligations Adjustments (i)

Non-specialised buildings Level 2 Market approach n.a.

Specialised buildings Level 3
Depreciated replacement cost 
approach

- Cost per square metre

- Useful life

Heritage assets Level 3
Depreciated replacement cost 
approach

- Cost per square metre

- Useful life

Vehicles Level 3
Depreciated replacement cost 
approach

- Cost per item

- Useful life

Plant and equipment Level 3
Depreciated replacement cost 
approach

- Cost per item

- Useful life

Land

$’000

Buildings

$’000

Plant and 
Equipment

$’000

Medical 
Equipment

$’000

Computers & 
Communications

$’000

Furniture and 
Fittings

$’000

Motor Vehicles

$’000

Leased 
Assets

$’000
30 June 2019

Opening Balance at 1 July 2018  4,219  116,687  4,017  2,700  282  301  789  321 

Additions/(Disposals)  -  2,642  717  486  (55)  43  361  459 

Transfer from level 2  350  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Items recongnised in Other Comprehensive Income

 - Revaluation  (56)  19,252  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Gains or losses recognised in net result

- Depreciation  -  (5,264)  (256)  (594)  (64)  (90)  (304)  (252)

Subtotal  4,513  133,317  4,478  2,592  163  254  846  528 

Closing Balance at 30 June 2019  4,513  133,317  4,478  2,592  163  254  846  528 

Land

$’000

Buildings

$’000

Plant and 
Equipment

$’000

Medical 
Equipment

$’000

Computers & 
Communications

$’000

Furniture and 
Fittings

$’000

Motor Vehicles

$’000

Leases Assets

$’000
30 June 2018

Opening Balance at 1 July 2017  4,219  111,121  3,875  2,879  228  362  777  697 

Additions/(Disposals)  -  1,593  389  411  145  42  427  - 

Items recongnised in Other Comprehensive Income

 - Revaluation  -  8,831  -  (6)  -  -  (101)  (142)

Gains or losses recognised in net result

- Depreciation  -  (4,858)  (247)  (584)  (91)  (103)  (314)  (234)

Subtotal  4,219  116,687  4,017  2,700  282  301  789  321 

Closing Balance at 30 June 2018  4,219  116,687  4,017  2,700  282  301  789  321 

Note 4.2: Property, Plant & Equipment (Cont.)

(d)  Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Value

(e) Fair Value Determination

(i) CSO adjustment of 20% was applied to reduce the market approach value for Western District Health Service's specialised land.
There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2019.
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Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

Depreciation

Buildings  5,506  5,095 

Plant & Equipment  256  247 

Medical Equipment  594  584 

Computers & Communication  64  91 

Furniture & Fittings  90  103 

Motor Vehicles  304  314 

Total Depreciation  6,814  6,434 

Amortisation

Lease Assets  252  234 

Total Amortisation  252  234 

Total Depreciation and Amortisation  7,066  6,668 

2019 2018

Buildings

 - Structure Shell Building Fabric 20 to 50 years 20 to 50 years

 - Site Engineering Services and Central Plant 20 to 40 years 20 to 40 years

Central Plane

 - Fit Out 10 to 25 years 10 to 25 years

 - Trunk Reticulated Building systems 20 to 25 years 20 to 25 years

Plant and Equipment 10 to 40 years 10 to 40 years

Medical Equipment 5 to 20 years 5 to 20 years

Computers and Communication 4 to 20 years 4 to 20 years

Furniture and Fittings 4 to 20 years 4 to 20 years

Motor Vehicles 5 to 20 years 5 to 20 years

Land Improvements 10 to 50 years 10 to 50 years
As part of the buildings valuation, building values were separated into components and each component assessed for its useful life which is 
represented above.

Note 4.3: Depreciation and Amortisation

Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Revaluation Surplus

Balance at the beginning of the 
reporting period

 78,173  67,366 

Revaluation Increment

 - Land (refer Note 4.2 (b))  (61)  - 

 - Buildings  19,402  10,807 

Balance as the end of reporting period*  97,514  78,173 

* Represented by:

 - Land  3,627  3,688 

 - Buildings  93,511  74,109 

 - Leased Building  376  376 

Total Plant and Equipment  97,514  78,173 

(f) Property Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus

Depreciation

All buildings, plant and equipment and other non-financial physical assets (excluding land) that have finite useful lives are 
depreciated. Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any 
estimated residual value over its estimated useful life. 
Amortisation

Amortisation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.

The following table indicates the expected useful lives of non-current assets on which the depreciation charges are based.
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Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

CURRENT

Contractual

Inter Hospital Debtors  -  29 

Trade Debtors  1,081  525 

Patient and Resident Fees  799  732 

Accrued Revenue  407  466 

Less Allowance for impairment losses of contractual 
receivables

Trade Debtors  (5)  (15)

Patient Fees  (1)  (7)

 2,281  1,730 

Statutory

GST Receivable  237  234 

Accrued Revenue - Department of Health and Human 
Services 

 537  343 

 774  577 

TOTAL CURRENT RECEIVABLES  3,055  2,307 

NON-CURRENT

Statutory

Long Service Leave -                                                     
Department of Health and Human Services

 2,059  1,657 

 2,059  1,657 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES  2,059  1,657 

TOTAL RECEIVABLES  5,114  3,964 

Note 5: Other Assets and Liabilities
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Health Service's operations.

Structure
5.1 Receivables
5.2 Payables
5.3 Other liabilities

Note 5.1: Receivables

Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

Balance at beginning of year  22  58 

Reversal of amounts written off during the year as 
uncollectable

 (46)  (140)

Increase/(decrease)  in allowance recognised in net result  30  104 

Balance at end of year  6  22 

Note 5.1(a): Movement in the Allowance for impairment losses of 
contractual receivables

Receivables Recognition

Receivables consist of:

 y Contractual receivables, which consists of debtors in relation to goods and services and accrued 
investment income. These receivables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as 
‘financial assets at amortised costs’. They are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Western District Health Service holds the contractual receivables with the 
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any impairment. 

 y Statutory receivables, which predominantly includes amounts owing from the Victorian Government for 
accrued revenue and employee long service leave along with Goods and Services Tax (GST) input tax 
credits recoverable from the ATO. Statutory receivables do not arise from contracts and are recognised 
and measured similarly to contractual receivables (except for impairment), but are not classified as 
financial instruments for disclosure purposes. Western District Health Service applies AASB 9 for initial 
measurement of the statutory receivables and as a result statutory receivables are initially recognised at 
fair value plus any directly attributable transaction cost.

Trade debtors are carried at nominal amounts due and are due for settlement within 30 days from the date of 
recognition. 

In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) financial assets, which are not financial instruments, 
professional judgement is applied in assessing materiality using estimates, averages and other computational 
methods in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.

Western District Health Service is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty 
or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. Trade receivables consist of a large number 
of customers in various geographical areas. Based on historical information about customer default rates, 
management consider the credit quality of trade receivables that are not past due or impaired to be good.

Impairment losses of contractual receivables 

Refer to Note 7.1(c) contractual receivables at amortised costs for Western District Health Service’s contractual 
impairment losses.

Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

CURRENT

Monies Held in Trust*

   - Patient Monies Held in Trust*  560  455 

   - Accommodation Bonds (Refundable Entrance Fees)*  16,206  13,694 

Other - Income Received in Advance  1,471  943 

Other Current Liabilities  18  - 

Total Current  18,255  15,092 

TOTAL OTHER LIABILITIES 18,255  15,092 

* Total Monies Held in Trust Represented by the following assets:

Cash Assets  16,266  - 

Investment and other Financial Assets  500  14,149 

TOTAL  16,766  14,149 

Note 5.3: Other Liabilities

Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

CURRENT

Contractual

Trade Creditors  1,806  1,743 

Accrued Salary and Wages  970  845 

Accrued Expenses  769  463 

Inter-hospital creditors  50  94 

 3,595  3,145 

Statutory

GST Payable  45  26 

 45  26 

TOTAL CURRENT  3,640  3,171 

TOTAL PAYABLES  3,640  3,171 

Note 5.2: Payables

Payables consist of:  

 y contractual payables, classified as financial instruments and measured at amortised cost. Accounts 
payable and salaries and wages payable represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the 
Western District Health Service prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid; and 

 y statutory payables, that are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not 
classified as financial instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised 
cost, because they do not arise from contracts.

The normal credit terms for accounts payable are usually nett 60 days.  

Maturity analysis of payables

Please refer to Note 7.1(b) for the maturity analysis of payables.  
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Minimum future lease 
payments (i)

Present value of minimum 
future lease payments

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

2018
$'000

2017
$'000

Other finance lease liabilities 
payable

Not longer than one year  122  354  122  354 

Longer than one year but not longer 
than five years

 186  -  186  - 

Minimum future lease payments  308  354  308 354

Present value of minimum lease 
payments

 308  354  308 354

Included in the financial statements 
as:

Current borrowings lease liabilities  122 354  122 354

Non-current borrowing lease liabilities  186  -  186  - 

 308 354  308 354

(c) Finance Lease Liabilities

Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

Cash on hand  23  23 

Cash at bank (excluding monies held in trust)  616  12,634 

Deposits at Call (excluding monies held in trust)  15,564  - 

Deposits at Call (Monies held in trust)  16,266  - 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents  32,469  12,657 

Represented by:

Cash for Health Service Operations (as per Cash Flow Statement)  32,469  12,657 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents  32,469  12,657 

Cash and cash equivalents recognised on the balance sheet comprise cash on hand and in banks, 
deposits at call and highly liquid investments (with an original maturity date of three months or less), 
which are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash commitments rather than for investment 
purposes, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk 
of changes in value.   

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts, 
which are included as liabilities on the balance sheet.   The cash flow statement includes monies held 
in trust.

Note 6.2: Cash and Cash Equivalents

Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

CURRENT

– Finance Lease Liability (i)  122  354 

- Advances from government (ii)  166  - 

Total Current  288  354 

NON CURRENT

– Finance Lease Liability  186  - 

- Advances from government (ii)  505  - 

Total Non-Current  691  - 

Total Borrowings  979  354 

Note 6.1: Borrowings

(i) Secured by the assets leased. Finance leases are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default. 

(ii) These are unsecured loans which bear no interest.   

The approved Bank Overdraft limit is $0.5m, none of which has been utilised during 2018-2019

(a) Maturity analysis of borrowings
Please refer to Note 7.1(b) for the maturity analysis of borrowings.

(b) Defaults and breaches
During the current and prior year, there were no defaults and breaches of any of the borrowings.

Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

Capital expenditure commitments

Payable less than 1 year:

Plant and Equipment  165  656 

Buildings  303  1,432 

Total capital expenditure commitments  468  2,088 

Total Commitments (inclusive of GST)  468  2,088 

Commitments  

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from 
contracts. These commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and are inclusive of the GST 
payable. These future expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments once the related liabilities 
are recognised on the Balance Sheet.

Note 6.3: Commitments for Expenditure

(a) Commitments

Note 6: How We Finance Our Operations  
This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by the Health Service during its 
operations, along with interest expenses (the cost of borrowings) and other information related to 
financing activities of the Health Service. 

This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments (such as borrowings and 
cash balances).  Note: 7.1 provides additional, specific financial instrument disclosures. 
   

Structure

6.1 Borrowings

6.2 Cash and cash equivalents

6.3 Commitments for expenditure

The weighted average interest rate implicit in the finance lease is 5.44% (2018: 5.27%)  
  

Borrowing recognition    

A lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in exchange for payment. Leases are 
classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of 
the agreement so as to reflect the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.  
Leases of property, plant and equipment are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of 
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.  All other 
leases are classified as operating leases, in the manner described in Note 6.3 Commitments for 
Expenditure. 

Finance leases    

Entity as lessee    

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities at amounts equal to the fair value of the lease 
property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payment, each determined at the inception 
of the lease.  If there is certainty that the health service will obtain the ownership of the lease asset by 
the end of the lease term, the asset shall be depreciated over the useful life of the asset. If there is no 
reasonable certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset shall 
be fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life. Minimum lease payments are 
apportioned between reduction of the outstanding lease liability, and the periodic finance expense which 
is calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease, and charged directly to the Comprehensive 
Operating Statement. Contingent rentals associated with finance leases are recognised as an expense 
in the period in which they are incurred.    

Borrowings    

All borrowings are initially recognised at fair value of the consideration received, less directly 
attributable transaction costs. The measurement basis subsequent to initial recognition depends on 
whether the Western District Health Service has categorised its liability as either ‘financial liabilities 
designated at fair value through profit or loss’, or financial liabilities at ‘amortised cost’.  
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest bearing borrowings are measured at amortised cost with 
any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in the 
net result over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.  Non-interest bearing 
borrowings are measured at ‘fair value through profit or loss’.
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2019
Financial 
Assets at 

Amortised 
Cost

$'000

Financial 
Assets at 

Fair Value 
Through Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

$'000

Financial 
Liabilities at 

Fair Value 
Through Net 

Result

$'000

Financial 
Liabilities at 

Amortised 
Cost

$'000

Total

$'000

Contractual Financial 
Assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents

 32,469  -    -    -    32,469 

Receivables

 - Trade Debtors  1,076  -    -    -    1,076 

 - Other Receivables  1,205  -    -    -    1,205 

Investment and Other 
Financial Assets

 - Term Deposit  6,517  -    -    -    6,517 

 - Shares in Other Entities  -    2,048  2,048 

Total Financial Assets i  41,267  2,048  -    -    43,315 

Financial Liabilities

Payables  -    -    -    3,595  3,595 

Borrowings  -    -    671  308  979 

Other Financial Liabilities

 - Accommodation bonds  -    -    -    16,206  16,206 

 - Other  -    -    -    2,049  2,049 

Total Financial 
Liabilities i

 -    -    671  22,158  22,829 

2018

Contractual

Financial 
Assets - 

Loans and 
Receivables

$'000

Financial 
Assets 

Available for 
Sale

$'000

Financial 
Liabilities at 

Fair Value 
Through Net 

Result

$'000

Financial 
Liabilities at 

Amortised 
Cost

$'000

Total

$'000

Contractual Financial 
Assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents

 12,657  -    -    -    12,657 

Receivables

 - Trade Debtors  539  -    -    -    539 

 - Other Receivables  1,191  -    -    -    1,191 

Investment and Other 
Financial Assets

 - Term Deposit  24,569  -    -    -    24,569 

 - Shares in Other Entities  -    1,995  -    -    1,995 

Total Financial Assets i  38,956  1,995  -    -    40,951 

Financial Liabilities

Payables  -    -    -    3,145  3,145 

Borrowings  -    -    -    354  354 

Other Financial Liabilities

 - Accommodation bonds  -    -    -    13,694  13,694 

 - Other  -    -    -    1,398  1,398 

Total Financial 
Liabilities i

 -    -    -    18,591  18,591 

Note 7.1: Financial Instruments

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of Western District 
Health Service's activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statute rather than a contract. Such financial assets and financial liabilities do not meet the definition of financial 
instruments in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation     

(a) Financial instruments: categorisation

Note 7: Risks, Contingencies and Valuation Uncertainties
The Health Service is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to make judgements and estimates associated with recognition and measurement of items in the financial statements. This 
section sets out financial instrument specific information, (including exposures to financial risks) as well as those items that are contingent in nature or require a higher level of judgement to be applied, which for the Health Service is 
related mainly to fair value determination.

Structure 
7.1 Financial instruments 

7.2 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

 i The carrying amount excludes statutory receivables (i.e. GST receivable and DHHS receivable) and statutory payables (i.e. Revenue in Advance and DHHS payable).

From 1 July 2018, Western District Health Service applies AASB 9 and 
classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for 
managing the assets and the asset’s contractual terms.

Categories of financial assets under AASB 9 

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised costs if both of the following 
criteria are met and the assets are not designated as fair value through 
net result:

the assets are held by Western District Health Service to collect the 
contractual cash flows, and

 y the assets' contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest.

 y These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method less any 
impairment.

The Department recognises the following assets in this category:

cash and deposits;

 y receivables (excluding statutory receivables); and

 y term deposits

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Debt investments are measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income if both of the following criteria are met and the 
assets are not designated as fair value through net result:

the assets are held by Western District Health Service to achieve its 
objective both by collecting the contractual cash flows and by selling the 
financial assets, and

 y the assets' contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest.

 y These assets are initially recognised at fair value with subsequent 
change in fair value in other comprehensive income.

Upon disposal of these equity instruments, any related balance in fair 
value reserve is reclassified to retained earnings.

Western District Health Service recognises certain unlisted equity 
instruments within this category.

Categories of Financial Assets Previously Under AASB 139

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables and cash are financial instrument assets with 
fixed and determinable payments that are not quoted on an active market. 
These assets and liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, 
loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method (and for assets, less any impairment). The Western 
District Health Service recognises the following assets in this category:

 y cash and deposits

 y receivables (excluding statutory receivables); and

 y term deposits

Available-for-sale financial instrument assets

Available-for-sale financial instrument assets are those designated as 
available-for-sale or not classified in any other category of financial 
instrument asset. Such assets are initially recognised at fair value. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value with 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value, recognised in ‘Other 
economic flows – other comprehensive income’ until the investment is 
disposed. Movements resulting from impairment and foreign currency 

changes are recognised in the net result as other economic flows. On 
disposal, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in ‘Other 
economic flows – other comprehensive income’ is transferred to other 
economic flows in the net result. 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the 
date they are originated. They are initially measured at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, these financial instruments are measured at amortised 
cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the 
redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period 
of the interest bearing liability, using the effective interest rate method. 
Western District Health Service recognises the following liabilities in 
this category:

 y payables (excluding statutory payables); and

 y borrowings (including finance lease liabilities).

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss are 
carried at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets: A financial asset (or, where 
applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows 
from the asset have expired.

Derecognition of financial liabilities: A financial liability is 
derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, 
cancelled or expires

Impairment of financial assets: At the end of each reporting period, 
Western District Health Service assesses whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 
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2019 Note

Carrying

Amount

$'000

Nominal

Amount 

$'000

Maturity Dates

Less Than 1 Month

$'000

1-3 Months

$'000

3 Months - 1 Year

$'000

1-5 Years

$'000

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost
  Payables 5.2  3,595  3,595  3,595  -  -  - 

  Borrowings 6.1  308  308  -  -  122  186 

  Other Financial Liabilities (i)

   - Accommodation Bonds 5.3  16,206  16,206  -  -  4,359  11,847 

   - Other 5.3  2,049  2,049  721  1,085  243  - 

At fair value through net result
  Borrowings 6.1  671  685  -  -  166  505 

Total Financial Liabilities  22,829  22,843  4,316  1,085  4,890  12,538 

2018

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

Payables 5.2  3,145  3,145  3,145  -  -  - 

Borrowings 6.1  354  354  -  -  354  - 

Other Financial Liabilities (i)

 - Accommodation Bonds 5.3  13,694  13,694  -  -  3,938  9,756 

 - Other 5.3  1,398  1,398  600  652  146  - 

Total Financial Liabilities  18,591  18,591  3,745  652  4,438  9,756 

(i) Maturity analysis of financial liabilities excludes the types of statutory financial liabilities (i.e. GST payable)

01-Jul-18 Current Less than 1 month 1-3 Months 3 Months - 1 year 1- 5 years Total

Expected loss rate 0% 0% 2% 4% 9%

Gross carrying amount of contractual receivables  688  302  29  66  201  1,286 

Loss Allowance  -    -    1  3  18  22 

30-Jun-19 Current Less than 1 month 1-3 Months 3 Months - 1 year 1- 5 years Total

Expected loss rate 0% 0% 1% 2% 4%

Gross carrying amount of contractual receivables  1,085  529  42  95  103  1,854 

Loss Allowance  -    -    -    2  3  5 

Reconciliation of the movement in the loss allowance for contractual receivables 2019 2018

Balance at beginning of year  22  58 

Opening retained earnings adjustment on adoption of AASB 9  -    -   

Opening Loss Allowance  22  58 

Increase in provision recognised in the net result  30  104 

Reversal of provision of receivables written off during the year as unrecoverable  (46)  (140)

Balance at end of the year  6  22 

(b) Maturity Analysis of Financial Liabilities as at 30 June

Note 7.1(c): Contractual Receivables at Amortised Cost

All financial instrument assets, except those measured at fair value 
through profit or loss, are subject to annual review for impairment.

The allowance is the difference between the financial asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted 
at the effective interest rate. In assessing impairment of statutory 

(non-contractual) financial assets, which are not financial instruments, 
professional judgement is applied in assessing materiality using 
estimates, averages and other computational methods in accordance 
with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.  

Note 7.1: Financial Instruments (cont.)

Impairment of financial assets under AASB 9 – applicable from 1 
July 2018 

From 1 July 2018, the Western District Health Service has been 
recording the allowance for expected credit loss for the relevant 
financial instruments, replacing AASB 139’s incurred loss approach 
with AASB 9’s Expected Credit Loss approach. Subject to AASB 9 
impairment assessment include the Western District Health Service’s 
contractual receivables, statutory receivables and its investment in debt 
instruments. 

Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under AASB 9. Other 
financial assets mandatorily measured or designated at fair value through 
net result are not subject to impairment assessment under AASB 9. While 
cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements 
of AASB 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Contractual receivables at amortised cost 
The Western District Health Service applies AASB 9 simplified approach 
for all contractual receivables to measure expected credit losses using 
a lifetime expected loss allowance based on the assumptions about risk 
of default and expected loss rates. The Western District Health Service 
has grouped contractual receivables on shared credit risk characteristics 
and days past due and select the expected credit loss rate based on 
the health service's past history, existing market conditions, as well as 
forward-looking estimates at the end of the financial year. 

On this basis, the Western District Health Service determines the opening 
loss allowance on initial application date of AASB 9 and the closing loss 
allowance at end of the financial year as disclosed above.

Statutory receivables and investments at amortised cost 
[AASB2016-8.4]

The Western District Health Service’s non-contractual receivables arising 
from statutory requirements are not financial instruments. However, they 
are nevertheless recognised and measured in accordance with AASB 9 
requirements as if those receivables are financial instruments. 

The Western District Health Service also has investments in:  

Coleraine & District Community Bank (Bendigo Bank) 

Dunkeld & District Community Bank (Bendigo Bank) 

Bank of Melbourne 

National Australia Bank 

Share portfolio managed by JB Were 

MLC Managed Investment 

Both the statutory receivables and investments are considered to have 
low credit risk, taking into account the counterparty’s credit rating, risk 
of default and capacity to meet contractual cash flow obligations in 
the near term. As the result, the loss allowance recognised for these 
financial assets during the period was limited to 12 months expected 
losses. No loss allowance recognised at 30 June 2018 under AASB 139. 
No additional loss allowance required upon transition into AASB 9 on 1 
July 2018.

Note 7.2: Contingent assets and contingent 
liabilities 
As at balance date, the Board of Directors is unaware of the existence of 
any financial obligation that may have a material effect on the Balance 
Sheet as a result of any future event which may or may not happen.

Credit loss allowance is classified as other economic flows in the net result. Contractual receivables are written off when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery and impairment losses are classified as a transaction expense. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
are credited against the same line item.

In prior years, a provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective evidence that the debts may not be collected and bad debts are 
written off when identified. A provision is made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods when there is objective evidence that an 
individual receivable is impaired. Bad debts considered as written off by mutual consent.
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Note 8: Other disclosures 
This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or 
otherwise, for the understanding of this financial report. 

Structure 
8.1 Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating 
activities 
8.2 Responsible persons disclosures 
8.3 Remuneration of Executives 
8.4 Related Parties 
8.5 Remuneration of auditors 
8.6 Events occurring after the Balance Sheet date 
8.7 Jointly Controlled Operations  
8.8 Investments Accounted for using the Equity Method 
8.9 Economic Dependency 
8.10 Changes in Accounting Policy 
8.11 AASBs Issued that are not yet Effective  

Total
2019 
$’000

Total
2018 
$'000

Net result for the period  (5,342)  (4,024)

Non-cash movements:

Depreciation  7,066  6,668 

Provision for doubtful debts  30  104 

Allowance from impairment losses of contractual receivables

(Increase)/decrease in share of joint venture  19  (21)

Asset Received Free of Charge  (32)  - 

Fair value movement in loan  (14)  - 

Movements included in investing and financing activities:

Net (gain)/loss from disposal of non-financial physical assets  (138)  (97)

Net (gain)/loss from disposal of financial assets  -  82 

Movements in assets and liabilities:

Change in operating assets and liabilities

     (Increase)/decrease in receivables and other assets  (1,125)  2,275 

     (Increase)/decrease in prepayments  (147)  134 

     Increase/(decrease) in payables and other liabilities  791  (2,878)

     Increase/(decrease) in provisions  1,747  673 

     Change in inventories  35  64 

NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  2,890  2,980 

Note 8.1: Reconciliation of Net Result for the Year to Net Cash Inflow/
(Outflow) from Operating Activities

Responsible Ministers: Period

The Honourable Jill Hennessy, Minister for Health, Minister for 
Ambulance Services

1/7/2018 - 29/11/2018

The Honourable Jenny Mikakos, Minister for Health, Minister for 
Ambulance Services

29/11/2018 - 30/06/2019

The Honourable Martin Foley, Minister for Mental Health 1/7/2018 - 30/6/2019

The Honourable Martin Foley, Minister for Housing, Disability and 
Ageing, Minister for Mental Health

1/7/2018 - 29/11/2018

The Honourable Luke Donnellan, Minister for Child Protection, 
Minister for Disability, Ageing and Carers

29/11/2018 - 30/6/2019

Governing Boards

Mr I Whiting (Chair of the Board) 1/7/2018 - 30/6/2019

Mr D Barber 1/7/2018 - 30/6/2019

Mr P Besgrove 1/7/2018 - 30/6/2019

Ms C Coggins 1/7/2018 - 30/6/2019

Ms M Kruger 1/7/2018 - 30/6/2019

Ms A Hiscock 1/7/2018 - 30/6/2019

Mr N Hurria 1/7/2018 - 30/6/2019

Ms A Kenneally 1/7/2018 - 30/6/2019

Mr G Walcott 1/7/2018 - 30/6/2019

Accountable Officers

 Mr R. Fitzgerald (Chief Executive) 1/7/2018 - 30/6/2019

Note 8.2: Responsible Persons Disclosures
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial 
Management Act 1994, the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the 
reporting period.

Remuneration of Responsible Persons 

The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands:

Total
2019

Total
2018

Income Band

$0 - $9,999  -  10 

$10,000 - $19,999  9  - 

$330,000 - $339,999  -  1 

$350,000 - $359,999  1  - 

Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

Total remuneration received or due and 
receivable by Responsible Persons from the 
Reporting Entity amounted to:

493  333 

Amounts relating to Responsible Ministers are reported in the financial statements of the Department 
of Parliamentary Services.

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

Remuneration of Executive Officers

(including key management personnel disclosed in Note 8.4)

Short-term benefits  1,119  1,104 

Post-employment benefits  108  92 

Other long-term benefits  138  113 

Total remuneration i  1,365  1,309 

Total number of executives 7 7

Total annualised employee equivalent ii 6.54 6.65

Note 8.3: Remuneration of Executives
The number of executive officers, other than Accountable Officers, and their total remuneration 
during the reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee equivalent 
provides a measure of full time equivalent executive officers over the reporting period.

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided in 
exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories. 

Notes: 
i  The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the definition of Key Management Personnel (KMP) of the 
entity under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and are also reported within related parties note disclosure (Note 8.4).

ii  Annualised employee equivalent is based working 38 hours per week over the reporting period. 

Total remuneration payable to executives during the year included additional executive officers and a 
number of executives who received bonus payments during the year. These bonus payments depend 
on the terms of individual employment contracts. 

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided in 
exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories: 

Short-term employee benefits 

Salaries and wages, annual leave or sick leave that are usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as 
well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or services.

Post-employment benefits 
Pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis when employment has 
ceased. 

Other long-term benefits

Long service leave, other long-service benefit or deferred compensation.

Termination benefits

Termination of employment payments, such as severance packages. 

Other Factors 

Several factors affected total remuneration payable to executives over the year.  A number 
of employment contracts were completed and remuneration packages updated during the 
year, consistent with the recommended remuneration from the Government Sector Executive 
Remuneration Panel.   
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2019
$'000

2018
$'000

South West Alliance of Rural Health

Current Assets

Cash at Bank  127  694 

Receivables  556  178 

Inventories  6  8 

Other Current Assets  42  8 

Total Current Assets  731  888 

Non Current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment  -  49 

Leased Assets  528  321 

Total Non Current Assets  528  370 

Total Assets  1,259  1,258 

Current Liabilities

Payables  384  494 

Leased Liabilities  122  354 

Employee Benefits  152  148 

Deferred Income  58  74 

Total Current Liabilities  716  1,070 

Non Current Liabilities

Employee Benefits  22  27 

Leased Liabilities  186  - 

Total Non Current Liabilities  208  27 

Total Liabilities  924  1,097 

Net Assets  335  161 

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

South West Alliance of Rural Health

Revenues

Revenue from Operating Activities  2,059  2,215 

Revenue from Non Operating Activities  5  14 

Capital Purpose Income  150  57 

Other Economic Flows  6  1 

Total Revenue  2,220  2,287 

Expenses

Employee Benefits  741  745 

Maintenance Contract & IT Support  433  480 

Operating Lease Costs  -  15 

Other Expenses from Ordinary Activities  570  679 

Finance Costs  49  20 

Depreciation  252  255 

Total Expenses  2,045  2,194 

Net Result  175  93 

The compensation detailed below is reported in $’000 and excludes the salaries and benefits the 
Portfolio Ministers receive. The Minister’s remuneration and allowances is set by the Parliamentary 
Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968, and is reported within the Department of Parliamentary 
Services’ Financial Report.    

Compensation KMPs 2019
$'000

2018
$'000

Short-term benefits 1,538 1,380

Post-employment benefits 145 116

Other long-term benefits 175 147

Total i 1,858 1,643

i KMPs are also reported in Note 8.2 Responsible Persons and Note 8.3 Remuneration of Executives

Significant Transactions with Government Related Entities

Western District Health Service received funding from the Department of Health and Human Services 
of $51,590,081 (2018: $48,095,866). 

During the year, Western District Health Service had the following other government-related entity 
transactions: 

Expenses incurred by Western District Health Service in delivering services and outputs are 
in accordance with Health Purchasing Victoria requirements. Goods and services including 
procurement, diagnostics, patient meals and multi-site operational support are provided by other 
Victorian Health Service Providers on commercial terms. 

Professional medical indemnity insurance and other insurance products are obtained from a Victorian 
Public Financial Corporation. 

The Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer require the Western District Health Service to hold 
cash (in excess of working capital) in accordance with the State’s centralised banking arrangements. 
All borrowings are required to be sourced from Treasury Corporation Victorian unless an exemption 
has been approved by the Minister for Health and Human Services and the Treasurer.
Transactions with KMPs and other related parties

Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian 
public sector in a manner consistent with other members of the public e.g. stamp duty and other 
government fees and charges. Further employment of processes within the Victorian public sector 
occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Public Administration Act 2004 and Codes of 
Conduct and Standards issued by he Victorian Public Sector Commission.  Procurement processes 
occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Procurement Board 
requirements.

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Department of Health and Human Services, 
all other related party transactions that involved KMPs and their close family members have been 
entered into on an arm's length basis. Transactions are disclosed when they are considered material 
to the users of the financial report in making and evaluation decisions about the allocation of scarce 
resources.

There were no related party transactions with Cabinet Ministers required to be disclosed in 2019.
There were no related party transactions required to be disclosed for Western District Health Service 
Board of Directors and Executive Directors in 2019.

2019

$’000

2018 

$’000

Victorian Auditor-General's Office

Audit of financial statement 36 35

Total Paid and Payable 36 35

Name of Entity Principal Activity 2019

%

2018 

%

South West Alliance of Rural Health Information Systems 8.89 9.42

Note 8.6:  Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date 
There were no events occurring after reporting date which require additional information to be 
disclosed. 

Note 8.7: Jointly Controlled Operations

Note 8.5: Remuneration of AuditorsNote 8.4: Related Parties 
The health service is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. Related parties of 
the health service include: 

 - all key management personnel (KMP) and their close family members; 

 - all cabinet ministers and their close family members;  

 - all hospitals and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state 
consolidated financial statements; and 

 - Jointly Controlled Operation - A member of the South West Alliance of Rural Health 

KMPs are those people with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of Western District Health Service, directly or indirectly.  

The Board of Directors and the Executive Directors of Western District Health Service are deemed to 
be KMPs. 

Key Management Personnel of Western District Health Service 

Western District Health Service Mr I Whiting (Chair of the Board) Board Member

Western District Health Service Mr D Barber Board Member 

Western District Health Service Mr P Besgrove Board Member 

Western District Health Service Ms C Coggins Board Member 

Western District Health Service Ms M Kruger Board Member 

Western District Health Service Ms A Hiscock Board Member 

Western District Health Service Mr N Hurria Board Member 

Western District Health Service Ms A Kenneally Board Member 

Western District Health Service Mr G Walcott Board Member 

Western District Health Service Mr R Fitzgerald Chief Executive 

Western District Health Service Mr N Starkie Director of Corporate Services

Western District Health Service Mr D Ford Chief Medical Officer 

Western District Health Service Ms L Hedley Director of Nursing 

Western District Health Service Ms B Roberts Director of Nursing Coleraine & Penshurst

Western District Health Service Mr J McInnes Director of Primary & Preventative Health

Western District Health Service Ms K Armstrong Director of Aged Care 

Western District Health Service Ms S Brumby Director National Centre for Farmer Health

Western District Health Service's interest in the above jointly controlled operations are detailed below. 
The amounts are included in the consolidated financial statements under their respective categories:

Contingent Liabilities and Capital Commitments  

There are no known contingent liabilities or capital commitments held by the jointly controlled 
operations at balance date.
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Name of Entity Principal Activity
Country of 

Incorporation

Ownership Interest Published Fair Value

1-3 Months 3 Months - 1 year 1 - 5 years Total

Jointly Controlled Entities

Primary Health AustraliaSouthern Grampians/Glenelg Shire Primary Care 
Partnership (a)(b)

45 45  122 118

Note 8.8: Investments accounted for using the equity method

(a) As at 30 June 2019, the fair value of Western District Health Service's interest in Southern Grampians/Glenelg Shire Primary Care Partnership was $122,609 based on the fair value measurement approach of AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement.  

(b) The financial year end date of Southern Grampians/Glenelg Shire Primary Care Partnership is 30 June. This was the reporting date established when that Partnership was established.  For the purpose of applying the equity method of accounting, the unaudited 
financial statements of Southern Grampians/Glenelg Shire PCP have been used.

Summarised financial information in respect of the agency's material associate is set out below. 
The summarised financial information below represents amounts shown in the associate's financial 
statements prepared in accordance with AASBs, adjusted by the agency for equity accounting 
purposes

Summarised financial information for the joint venture 2019
$'000

2018
$'000

Summarised Financial Information of Joint Venture:

Current Assets  473  465 

Total Assets  473  465 

Current Liabilities  197  150 

Non-Current Liabilities  4  52 

Total Liabilities  201  202 

Net Assets  272  263 

Share of Joint Venture's Net Assets  122  118 

Summarised operating statement

Total income from transactions  520  509 

Total expenditure from transactions  510  463 

Net result from continuing operation  10  46 

Net Result  10  46 

Total comprehensive income  10  46 

Share of Jointly Controlled Entities’ Net Result After Income Tax  4  21 

Movements in carrying amount of interests in the Joint Venture 2019
$'000

2018
$'000

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  118  97 

Share of associate's net result after tax  4  21 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  122  118 

At at 30 June 2018 AASB 9 Measurement Changes

AASB 139 
Measurement 

Categories

Amortised 
Cost

Fair Value 
though other 

comprehensive 
income

AASB 139 Measurement Categories

Loans and Receivables

   Cash and cash equivalents  12,657  12,657  -   

   Receivables  1,730  1,730  -   

   Term Deposits  24,561  24,561  -   

Available for Sale

   Share in other entities  1,995  -    1,995 

As at 1 July 2018  40,943  38,948  1,995 

Balance Sheet Amount at 
30/06/2018

Reclassification Restated 
amount at 
1/7/2018

Financial Assets

Loans and Receivables  38,948  (14,387)  24,561 

Available for Sale  1,995  (1,995)  -   

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

 -    1,995  1,995 

Financial assets at amortised cost  -    14,387  14,387 

As at 1 July 2018  40,943  -  40,943 

Total Liabilities  18,617  -    18,617 

Equity

Financial assets available for sale revaluation 
surplus

 141  (141)

Financial assets through other comprehensive 
income revaluation surplus

 -    141  141 

Other items in equity  145,888  -    145,888 

As at 1 July 2018  146,029  -  146,029 

Dividends Received from Associates and Joint Ventures   

During the 2019 financial year, Western District Health Service received dividends of $0 (2017/2018: 
$0) from its associates.  

Contingent Liabilities and Capital Commitments  
There are no contingent liabilities and capital commitments arising from associates.

The investment in the associate is accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under 
the equity method of accounting, the investment in the associate is recognised at cost on initial 
recognition, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased in subsequent years to recognise 
Western District Health Service's  share of the profits or losses of the associates after the date of 
acquisition. Western District Health Service’s share of the associate’s profit or loss is recognised in 
Western District Health Service’s net result as ‘other economic flows’. The share of post-acquisition 
changes in revaluation surpluses and any other reserves, are recognised in both the comprehensive 
operating statement and the statement of changes in equity. The cumulative post acquisition 
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment, including dividends received 
or receivable from the associate.   

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 
Joint ventures are joint arrangements whereby Western District Health Service, via its joint control of 
the arrangement, has rights to the net assets of the arrangements.    

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for in the financial statements using the equity method, as 
applied to investments in associates and are disclosed as required by AASB 12. 

Note 8.9:  Economic Dependency 
Western District Health Service is dependent on the Department of Health and Human Services for 
the majority of its revenue used to operate the entity. At the date of this report, the Board of Directors 
has no reason to believe the Department will not continue to support Western District Health Service.

Note 8.10: Changes in accounting policy 

Changes in accounting policy 

Western District Health Service has elected to apply the limited exemption in AASB 9 paragraph 
7.2.15 relating to transition for classification and measurement and impairment, and accordingly has 
not restated comparative periods in the year of initial application.  As a result: 

a)  any adjustments to carrying amounts of financial assets or liabilities are recognised at beginning 
of the current reporting period with difference recognised in opening retained earnings; and

b)  financial assets and provision for impairment have not been reclassified and/or restated in the 
comparative period. 

This note explains the impact of the adoption of AASB 9 Financial Instruments on the health service's 
financial statements. 

Changes to classification and measurement 

On initial application of AASB 9 on 1 July 2018, Western District Health Service 's management has 
assessed for all financial assets based on the Western District Health Service 's business models 
for managing the assets. There has been no impact on the financial statements of Western District 
Health Service other than reporting the financial assets prior to 1 July 2018 as available for sale, 
which will now be shown at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Summary of classification and measurement

Changes to the impairment of financial assets

Under AASB 9, all loans and receivables as well as other debt instruments not carried at fair value 
through net result are subject to AASB 9's new expected credit loss (ECL) impairment model, which 
replaces AASB 139's incurred loss approach.

For other loans and receivables, Western District Health Service applies the AASB 9 simplified 
approach to measure expected credit losses based on the change in the ECLs over the life of the 
asset. Application of the lifetime ECL allowance method resulted in an insignificant change in the 
provision, therefore no adjustment has bene recognised as at 1 July 2018. Refer to note 7.1 (c ) for 
details about the calculation of the allowance. 

Transition impact

Transition impact of first time adoption of AASB 9 on Balance Sheet:
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Topic Key requirements Effective date Impact on financial statements

AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers

The core principle of AASB 15 requires an entity to recognise revenue 
when the entity satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a 
promised good or service to a customer. Note that amending standard 
AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Effective Date of AASB 15 has deferred the effective date of AASB 15 to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, instead 
of 1 January 2017.

1-Jan-19 The changes in revenue recognition requirements in AASB 15 may result in changes to 
the timing and amount of revenue recorded in the financial statements. Revenue from 
grants that are provided under an enforceable agreement that have sufficiently specific 
obligations, will now be deferred and recognised as the performance obligations 
attached to the grant are satisfied. 
There is an expectation this will impact capital grant funding, which for Western District 
Health Service which will decrease the net result by $261,302.

AASB 2018-4 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Australian 
Implementation Guidance 
for Not-for-Profit Public-
Sector Licensors

AASB 2018-4 amends AASB 15 and AASB 16 to provide guidance for 
revenue recognition in connection with taxes and Non-IP licences for Not-
for-Profit entities. 

1-Jan-19 AASB 2018-4 provides additional guidance for not-for-profit public sector licenses, 
which include: 
• Matters to consider in distinguishing between a tax and a license, with all taxes being 
accounted for under AASB 1058;  
• IP licenses to be accounted for under AASB 15; and  
• Non-IP, such as casino licenses, are to be accounted for in accordance with the 
principles of AASB 15 after first having determined whether any part of the arrangement 
should be accounted for as a lease under AASB 16. 
There is no material impact expected.

AASB 2016-8 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Australian 
Implementation Guidance 
for Not-for-Profit Entities

"AASB 2016-8 inserts Australian requirements and authoritative 
implementation guidance for not-for-profit-entities into AASB 9 and AASB 
15.  
This Standard amends AASB 9 and AASB 15 to include requirements 
to assist not-for-profit entities in applying the respective standards to 
particular transactions and events."

1-Jan-19 This standard clarifies the application of AASB 15 and AASB 9 in a not-for-profit context. 
The areas within these standards that are amended for not-for-profit application include: 
AASB 9  
• Statutory receivables are recognised and measured similarly to financial assets.  
AASB 15 
• The ‘customer’ does not need to be the recipient of goods and/or services; 
• The “contract” could include an arrangement entered into under the direction of 
another party; 
• Contracts are enforceable if they are enforceable by legal or ‘equivalent means’; 
• Contracts do not have to have commercial substance, only economic substance; and 
• Performance obligations need to be ‘sufficiently specific’ to be able to apply AASB 15 
to these transactions. 
The impact on reporting capital funding has potential to result in material change as 
noted above for AASB 15.

AASB 16 Leases The key changes introduced by AASB 16 include the recognition of most 
operating leases (which are currently not recognised) on balance sheet.

1-Jan-19 The assessment has indicated that most operating leases, with the exception of short 
term and low value leases will come on to the balance sheet and will be recognised as 
right of use assets with a corresponding lease liability.  
In the operating statement, the operating lease expense will be replaced by depreciation 
expense of the asset and an interest charge. 
There will be no change for lessors as the classification of operating and finance leases 
remains unchanged. 
There is no material impact from implementation of this standard due to the lack of 
existing operating leases and no effect on the Comprehensive Income Statement of the 
Balance Sheet

AASB 2018-8 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Right of Use 
Assets of Not-for-Profit 
entities

• This standard amends various other accounting standards to 
provide an option for not-for-profit entities to not apply the fair 
value initial measurement requirements to a class or classes 
of right of use assets arising under leases with significantly 
below-market terms and conditions principally to enable the 
entity to further its objectives. This Standard also adds additional 
disclosure requirements to AASB 16 for not-for-profit entities that 
elect to apply this option.

1-Jan-19 Under AASB 1058, not-for-profit entities are required to measure right-of-use assets at 
fair value at initial recognition for leases that have significantly below-market terms and 
conditions.  
For right-of-use assets arising under leases with significantly below market terms and 
conditions principally to enable the entity to further its objectives (peppercorn leases), 
AASB 2018-8 provides a temporary option for Not-for-Profit entities to measure at initial 
recognition, a class or classes of right-of-use assets at cost rather than at fair value and 
requires disclosure of the adoption.  
The State has elected to apply the temporary option in AASB 2018-8 for not-for-profit 
entities to not apply the fair value provisions under AASB 1058 for these right-of-use 
assets.  
In making this election, the State considered that the methodology of valuing peppercorn 
leases was still being developed. 
No material impact during the period applicable under the election.

AASB 1058 Income of Not-
for-Profit Entities

"AASB 1058 will replace the majority of income recognition in relation 
to government grants and other types of contributions requirements 
relating to public sector not-for-profit entities, previously in AASB 1004 
Contributions.  
The restructure of administrative arrangement will remain under AASB 
1004 and will be restricted to government entities and contributions by 
owners in a public sector context, 
AASB 1058 establishes principles for transactions that are not within 
the scope of AASB 15, where the consideration to acquire an asset is 
significantly less than fair value to enable not-for-profit entities to further 
their objective"

1-Jan-19 Grant revenue is currently recognised up front upon receipt of the funds under AASB 
1004 Contributions. 
The timing of revenue recognition for grant agreements that fall under the scope 
of AASB 1058 may be deferred. For example, revenue from capital grants for the 
construction of assets will need to be deferred and recognised progressively as the 
asset is being constructed. 
The impact on current revenue recognition of the changes is the potential phasing and  
deferral of revenue recorded in the operating statement. 
The impact relating to capital grant funding for Western District Health Service is 
$261,302 for funding received with the capital project not incurring any costs at 30 
June 2019.

AASB 2018-7 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Definition of 
Material

• This Standard principally amends AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements and AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors. The amendments refine and clarify 
the definition of material in AASB 101 and its application by improving 
the wording and aligning the definition across AASB Standards and 
other publications. The amendments also include some supporting 
requirements in AASB 101 in the definition to give it more prominence 
and clarify the explanation accompanying the definition of material.

1-Jan-20 The standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the public sector. 
No material impact is expected.

AASB 2018-5 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Deferral of 
AASB 1059

This standard defers the mandatory effective date of AASB 1059 from 1 
January 2019 to 1 January 2020.

1 January 2020 
(The State is 
intending to early 
adopt AASB 
1059 for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2019)

This standard defers the mandatory effective date of AASB 1059 for periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019 to 1 January 2020. As the State has elected to early adopt 
AASB 1059, the financial impact will be reported in the financial year ending 30 June 
2019, rather than the following year.

Note 8.11:  AASBs Issued That Are Not Yet Effective

Certain new Australian accounting standards have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2018 reporting period. Department of Treasury and Finance assesses the impact of all these new standards and advises 
Western District Health Services of their applicability and early adoption where applicable. 

As at 30 June 2019, the following standards and interpretations had been issued by the AASB but were not yet effective. They become effective for the first financial statements for reporting periods commencing after the stated 
operative dates as detailed in the table below.  Western District Health Services has not and does not intend to adopt these standards early.  

In addition to the new standards and amendments above, the AASB has issued a list of other amending standards that are not effective for the 2018-19 reporting period (as listed below). In general, these amending standards include editorial and references 
changes that are expected to have insignificant impacts on public sector reporting. 
• AASB 2017-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 
• AASB 2018-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2015 – 2017 Cycle 
• AASB 2018-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Plan Amendments, Curtailment or Settlement 
• AASB 2018-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
• AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of a Business  
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Glossary of Terms

AHSSQA  
Australian Health Service Safety 
and Quality Accreditation 

ACFI
Aged Care Funding Instrument

ACHSE 
Australian College of Health Service 
Executives 

AFPHM 
Australasian Faculty of Public 
Health Medicine 

Best Practice 
The way leading edge 
organisations deliver world class 
performance 

BOD 
Board of Directors 

BRICC
Ballarat Regional Integrated Cancer 
Centre

C4YB
Community 4 Youth Board

CDHS 
Coleraine District Health Service 

CE 
Chief Executive 

CSSD 
Central Sterile Supply Department 

DHHS
Department of Health and Human 
Services

DON 
Director of Nursing 

DRG 
Diagnostic Related Grouper; a 
means by which hospitals define 
and measure case mix 

DVA 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

EBA 
Enterprise Bargaining Agreement 

ECG 
Electrocardiograph 

ED 
Emergency Department 

EN 
Enrolled Nurse 

ENT 
Ear, Nose and Throat 

FHCC 
Frances Hewett Community Centre 

FMIS 
Financial Management Information 
System 

FOI 
Freedom of Information 

FRD 
Financial Reporting Directions 

FReeZA 
Alcohol and drug free activities for 
youth 

GCAHM 
Graduate Certificate of Agricultural 
Health and Medicine 

GEM 
Geriatric Evaluation Management 

GP 
General Practitioner 

GS 
Glenelg Shire 

HACC 
Home and Community Care 

HBH 
Hamilton Base Hospital 

HCP
Home Care Package

HMG 
Hamilton Medical Group 

HMMC 
Hamilton Midwifery Model of Care 

HMO 
Hospital Medical Officer 

HR 
Human Resources 

ICT 
Information, Communication and 
Technology 

ICU 
Intensive Care Unit 

ILU 
Independent Living Unit 

IMG 
International Medical Graduates 

IT 
Information Technology 

KPI 
Key Performance Indicator 

LGBTI
Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, 
Transgender and / or Intersex

NCFH 
National Centre for Farmer Health 

NHMRC
National Health and Medical 
Research Council

NSQHS Standards
National Safety and Quality Health 
Service Standards

OH&S 
Occupational Health and Safety 

OT 
Occupational Therapy 

PDHS 
Penshurst & District Health Service 

PPH 
Primary & Preventative Health 

QI 
Quality Improvement 

RN 
Registered Nurse 

Separation 
Process by which a patient is 
discharged from care 

SFF 
Sustainable Farm Families 

SGGPCP 
Southern Grampians and Glenelg 
Primary Care Partnership

SGSC 
Southern Grampians Shire Council

SWARH 
South West Alliance of Rural Health 

VET 
Vocational Education and Training
 
VHA 
Victorian Healthcare Association 
Ltd 

VICNISS 
Victorian Hospital Acquired 
Infection Surveillance System 

VMIA 
Victorian Managed Insurance 
Authority 

VMO 
Visiting Medical Officer 

VPSM 
Victorian Patient Satisfaction 
Monitor 

VST
Victorian Stroke Telemedicine

WDHS 
Western District Health Service 

WIES 
Weighted Inlier Equivalent 
Separations; allocated resource 
weight for a patient’s episode of 
care. A formula is applied to the 
resource weight to determine the 
WIES for recovery of funding.
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Inside back cover photos (L-R from top of page):
1. Resident Olwyn McLeod celebrates her 101st Birthday at the Grange, with volunteer Dean Molver.

2. Dr Andrew Bowman, donor Michael Kerr, Committee Chair, Vicki Whyte and Chief Executive, Rohan Fitzgerald test the new cardiac treadmill 
purchased with funds raised at the 2019 Cocktails in the Courtyard.

3. Members of the Birches Auxiliary with WDHS staff and Dunkeld Community Bank Manager, Anna Watson enjoy a first look at the new bus for 
residents.

4. Occupational Therapist, Emma Murison leads children from the Uniting Church 'Mother Goose Playgroup' in their activities on a visit to the 
Grange sharing songs, nursery rhymes and stories with residents.

5. Practice Development Nurse, Bev Robinson with George Street Primary student Epiphanea Sing, on a school tour of Hamilton Hospital.

6. Runners enjoying the beautiful Lake Hamilton course at the 2018 Hamilton Vitality Fun Run.

7. Community for Youth Board C4YB members get together to discuss events and projects at their first meeting for 2019.

8. Theatre staff celebrating International Nurses Day in May.

9. Staff promoting the global #EndPJParalysis initiative to get patients up, dressed and moving.





Hamilton Base 
Hospital
20 Foster Street
Hamilton 3300
T + 61 3 5551 8222

Coleraine District 
Health Service
71 McLeod Street
Coleraine 3315
T + 61 3 5553 2000

Penshurst & District 
Health Service
Cobb Street
Penshurst 3289
T + 61 3 5552 3000

Merino Community
Health Centre
19 – 21 High Street
Merino 3310
T + 61 3 5579 1303

Frances Hewett
Community Centre
2 Roberts Street
Hamilton 3300
T + 61 3 5551 8450

The Birches
Residential Care
Tyers Street
Hamilton 3300
T + 61 3 5551 8329

www.wdhs.net

Grange Residential
Care Service
17 – 19 Gray Street
Hamilton 3300
T + 61 3 5551 8257

National Centre
for Farmer Health
20 Foster Street
Hamilton 3300
T + 61 3 5551 8533
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